
  

LLLEEEGGGAAALLL   SSSEEERRRVVVIIICCCEEESSS   CCCOOORRRPPPOOORRRAAATTTIIIOOONNN   
 

BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  MMeeeettiinngg 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
July 26 - 27, 2012 

 
 
 

Location: 
 

SSSHHHEEERRRAAATTTOOONNN   AAANNNNNN   AAARRRBBBOOORRR   HHHOOOTTTEEELLL   
3200 Boardwalk Street 
Ann Arbor, MI 48108 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

America’s Partner for Equal Justice

 



Schedule



 
 

EMERGENCY CONTACTS: 
In the case of an emergency, please contact Rebecca Fertig at (202) 577-6313 or fertigr@lsc.gov or 
Bernie Brady at (202) 295-1568 or bradyb@lsc.gov  
 
 
 

 

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING SCHEDULE 

JULY 26-27, 2012 
 

Sheraton Ann Arbor 
3200 Boardwalk  

Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 
Tel: 734-996-0600 

THURSDAY, JULY 26, 2012 
Start End Meeting/Event Location 

 
1:30pm 

 
3:00pm 

 
State Chief Justices Panel 

Dean Evan H. Caminker, University of 
Michigan Law School Dean (co-moderator) 

Dean Martha Minow, Harvard Law School 
Dean (co-moderator) 

Chief Justice Mark Cady, Iowa 
Chief Justice Cornelia Clark, Tennessee 
Chief Justice Thomas Killbride, Illinois 

Chief Justice Richard Teitelman, Missouri 
Hon. Denise Page Hood, U.S. District Court 
Judge, U.S. District Court for the Eastern 

District of Michigan  
 

 
University of Michigan Law School 

1225 South Hall 
701 South State Street 
 Ann Arbor, MI 48109 

 
3:15pm 

 
4:30pm 

 
Domestic Violence Panel  

Gabriel Campos, New Mexico Legal Aid; 
Director, Family Law Safety Division 
Vicky Kimbrell, Georgia Legal Services 

Program; Director, Family Violence Project 
Wendy Pollack, Shriver Center, Director, 

Women's Law & Policy Project  
Jessica Roulette, Legal Action of Wisconsin; 

Staff Attorney 
Rebecca Shiemke, Legal Services of South 

Central Michigan/Michigan Poverty Law 
Program; Managing Attorney, Family Law 

Project and State Support Specialist on 
Family Law 

Sotivear Sim, Legal Aid Foundation of Los 
Angeles; Asian Pacific Islander Unit 

 

 
University of Michigan Law School 

1225 South Hall 
701 South State Street 
 Ann Arbor, MI 48109 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1

0123456789



 
 

EMERGENCY CONTACTS: 
In the case of an emergency, please contact Rebecca Fertig at (202) 577-6313 or fertigr@lsc.gov or 
Bernie Brady at (202) 295-1568 or bradyb@lsc.gov  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
4:30pm 

 
 
 
 
5:45pm 

 
 
 
 

Michigan Panel: State-Wide Collaboration
Lorray Brown, Co-Managing Attorney, 

Michigan Poverty Law Program 
Bruce Courtade, President-Elect, State Bar of 

Michigan 
Robert Gillett, Executive Director, Legal 

Services of South Central Michigan 
Bridget Mary McCormack, Associate Dean for 
Clinical Affairs & Clinical Professor of Law , 

University of Michigan Law School 
Margo Nichols, President, Michigan State Bar 

Foundation 
Linda Rexer, Executive Director, Michigan 

State Bar Foundation (Moderator) 
Deierdre Weir, President and CEO, Legal Aid 
and Defender Association, Detroit Michigan 

 

 
 
 
 

University of Michigan Law School 
1225 South Hall 

701 South State Street 
 Ann Arbor, MI 48109 

 
6:00pm 

 
7:30pm 

 
Pro Bono Awards Reception  

Guest Speakers 
Julie I. Fershtman, Michigan State Bar President 

Awardees 
Charles Borgsdorf, Legal Services of South 

Central Michigan 
Elizabeth Joy Fossel, Legal Aid of Western 

Michigan  
Nino E. Green, Legal Services of Northern 

Michigan 
Karen Luther, Legal Aid and Defender 

Association    
Hon Angela Kay Sherigan, Michigan Indian 

Legal Services, Inc. 
Michael R. Stanley, Legal Services of Eastern 

Michigan 
 

 
University of Michigan Law School 

South Hall, Student Lounge 
701 South State Street 
 Ann Arbor, MI 48109 

 

   

2



 
 

EMERGENCY CONTACTS: 
In the case of an emergency, please contact Rebecca Fertig at (202) 577-6313 or fertigr@lsc.gov or 
Bernie Brady at (202) 295-1568 or bradyb@lsc.gov  
 
 
 

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING SCHEDULE 

JULY 26-27, 2012 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

3200 Boardwalk  
Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Tel: 734-996-0600 
FRIDAY, JULY 27, 2012 

Start End Meeting/Event Location 
 
8:30am 
 

 
9:30am 

 
Governance & Performance Review 

Committee 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 
 
9:30am 
 

 
10:30am 

 
Institutional Advancement Committee 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom III 
 
9:30am 
 

 
10:45am 

 
Audit Committee 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 
 
10:45am 
 

 
12:15pm 

 
Finance 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 
 
1:30pm 
 

 
2:45pm 

Promotion & Provision Committee 
 Panel Presentation on Grantee 

 Resource Development 
Jennifer Bentley, Outreach & Development 
Manager, Legal Services of South Central 

Michigan 
Daniel Glazier, Executive Director, Legal 

Services of Eastern Missouri 
Steve Gottlieb, Executive Director, Atlanta 

Legal Aid Society 
Meredith McBurney, ABA Project to Expand 

Resources for Legal Services (PERLS) 
(Moderator) 

 
 

Deierdre Weir, Executive Director, Legal Aid  
and Defender Association 

 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 

 
2:45pm 
 

 
4:00pm 

 
Operations & Regulations Committee 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 
 
4:15pm 
 

 
6:15pm 

 
OPEN Board Meeting 

 
Sheraton Ann Arbor 

Ballroom I & II 
 

3



 
 

EMERGENCY CONTACTS: 
In the case of an emergency, please contact Rebecca Fertig at (202) 577-6313 or fertigr@lsc.gov or 
Bernie Brady at (202) 295-1568 or bradyb@lsc.gov  
 
 
 

 

4



Table of Contents



This table does not reflect all agenda items.  Instead, it lists all documents contained in 
this book.  For a complete listing of agenda items, see each individual agenda. 

 I DRAFT-  
Table of Contents 

 
 
 
 
 
 

I. Schedule .............................................................................................................. 1 
 

    
II.  University of Michigan Events: Panelist Biographical Profiles   

             
 Chief Justice Panel ..................................................................................................... 9 

 Domestic Violence Panel ........................................................................................ 11 

 Michigan Panel: State Wide Collaboration ........................................................... 14 

 

 

III.  Governance & Performance Review Committee   
             

 Agenda ....................................................................................................................... 18 

 Draft Minutes of the Governance & Performance Review Committee’s Open 

Session Meeting of April 15, 2012 ........................................................................ 19 

 Certification Letter Sent to the House and Senate 

Appropriations Committees ................................................................................... 23 

 GAO Recommendations ........................................................................................ 25 

 

IV.  Institutional Advancement Committee   
  

 Agenda ........................................................................................................................ 34 

  Draft Minutes of the  Institutional Advancement Committee’s Open Session 
meeting of April 15, 2012 ........................................................................................ 35 
 
 
  

5



 
 
 
 
 

 

Table of Contents (cont.) 
 

 
 
 

V.   Audit Committee 
 

 Agenda ............................................................................................................................ 38 

 Draft Minutes of the Audit Committee's Open Session Telephonic meeting  
on June 25, 2012 ............................................................................................................ 39 

 Report on 403(b) Annual Plan .................................................................................... 41 

 Revised Audit Committer Charter .............................................................................. 43 
  

 
 

VI.   Finance Committee  
 

 Agenda ............................................................................................................................ 60 

 Financial Reports for the First Eight Months of fiscal year 2012 .......................... 61 

 Revised Consolidated Operating Budget for fiscal year 2012 ................................. 75 
      Resolution 2012-XXX ................................................................................................. 77 

 Guidelines for Adoption, Review and Modification of the Consolidated  
      Operating Budget .........................................................................................................  81  

 Recommendation for FY 2012 Budget Request (Appendices) .............................. 86 
  

 
 

 
       

 

6



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Table of Contents (cont.) 

 
 
 
 

VII.   Promotion and Provision for the Delivery of Legal Services Committee  
 

 Agenda ............................................................................................................................. 98 

 Draft Minutes of the Promotion and Provision Committee's Open Session 
      meeting of April 16, 2012 ............................................................................................. 99 

 Presentation Panel ....................................................................................................... 103 
        

 

VIII.   Operations & Regulations Committee  
 

 Agenda ........................................................................................................................... 106 

 Draft Minutes of the Operations & Regulations Committee’s Open Telephonic  
      meeting of June 18, 2012 ............................................................................................ 107 

 Operations and Regulations Charter  ....................................................................... 112 
      Resolution 2012-XXX Private Contributions Protocol  ............................................... 119 

 Corporation's Continuation of Operations Plan (COOP)  ................................... 120 

 Enforcement Mechanisms .......................................................................................... 137 

 Grant Assurance Memorandum ................................................................................ 186 

 Third Party Contracting .............................................................................................. 206 
 
       
  

                  
 
 

  
   

7



 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board of Directors 
 

 Agenda  

 Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open Session telephonic meeting of 
   .................................................................................................................................  

 Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open Session telephonic meeting of 
  

 Draft Minutes of the Board's Open Session telephonic meeting of 
  .................................................................................................................................  

 Fiscal Oversight Task Force Report and related materials .........................................  

 Resolution 2012-XXX  
Thanking the members of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force for their services .......  

 Resolution 2012-XXX  
Thanking Alice Dickerson for her service ....................................................................  

 

 
Table of Contents (cont.) 

 

IX.   Board of Directors  
 

 Agenda ...........................................................................................................................248 

 Draft Minutes of the Board's Meeting of May 21, 2012 ........................................250 

 Draft Strategic Plan 2012 – 2016 ...............................................................................254 

 Resolution 2012-XXX Board Authority to Appoint Non-Directors .................446 
     
 
  

8



 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 

U. of M. Events - Panelist Bios



Chief Justice Panel 

Chief Justice Mark S. Cady, Iowa 

Justice Cady was appointed to the Supreme Court in 1998 and was named Chief Justice in 2011.  
He was born in Rapid City, South Dakota.  Chief Justice Cady earned both his undergraduate and 
law degrees from Drake University.  After graduating from law school in 1978, he served as a 
judicial law clerk for the Second Judicial District for one year.  He was then appointed as an 
assistant Webster County attorney and practiced with a law firm in Fort Dodge.  Cady was 
appointed a district associate judge in 1983 and a district court judge in 1986.  In 1994, he was 
appointed to the Iowa Court of Appeals.  He was elected chief judge of the Court of Appeals in 
1997.  

Chief Justice Cady is a member of the Order of Coif (honorary), Iowa State Bar Association, 
Iowa Judges Association, and Iowa Academy of Trial Lawyers (honorary).  He is the Iowa chair 
of iCivics Inc.  He also served as chair of the Iowa Supreme Court Task Force on the Court's and 
Communities' Response to Domestic Abuse and the Drake Law School Board of Counselors.  
Chief Justice Cady is the coauthor of Iowa Practice:  Lawyer and Judicial Ethics (Thomson-
West 2007).  He is also the coauthor of Preserving the Delicate Balance Between Judicial 
Accountability and Independence:  Merit Selection in the Post-White World, 16 Cornell J.L. & 
Pub. Pol'y 101 (2008), and the author of Curbing Litigation Abuse and Misuse:  A Judicial 
Approach, 36 Drake L. Rev. 481 (1987).  

Chief Justice Cady is an adjunct faculty member at Buena Vista University and serves on the 
President's Advisory Council.  He is married and has two children.  

His current term expires December 31, 2016.     

Chief Justice Cornelia A. Clark, Tennessee 

Cornelia A. Clark received her B.A. degree from Vanderbilt University in 1971, her M.A.T. 
from Harvard University in 1972, and her J.D. from the Vanderbilt School of Law in 1979. 

After graduating from law school, Clark went into private practice until 1989. That year, she 
joined the 21st Circuit Court. In 1999, Clark was appointed Administrative Director of the 
Tennessee Courts. She was appointed to the Tennessee Supreme Court in 2005. 

She has served as Chief Justice since September 1, 2010.  She was elected in August of 2006, 
and her term ends in 2014.  

Hon. Denise Page Hood, U.S. District Court Judge, U.S. District Court for the Eastern 
District of Michigan  

 
Judge Hood was appointed to the Federal Bench in 1994.  Prior to that, she served as the Wayne 
County Circuit Court Judge from 1993-94; as the Detroit Recorder's Court Judge from 1989-92 
and as the 36th District Court Judge from 1983-89.  Additionally, Judge Hood worked for the 

9



City of Detroit Law Department from 1977-82.  She received her B.A from Yale University and 
her J.D. from Columbia University School of Law. 
 
Currently, Judge Hood is also the Court's Pro Bono Committee Chair, the Co-Chair of 
Michigan's State Planning Body and has been on numerous bar and other committees related to 
access to justice.  

 
Chief Justice Thomas L. Kilbride, Illinois 

Thomas L. Kilbride was born in LaSalle. He received a B.A. degree magna cum laude from St. 
Mary's College in Winona, Minnesota in 1978 and received his law degree from Antioch School 
of Law in Washington, D.C., in 1981.  

Justice Kilbride practiced law for 20 years in Rock Island, engaging in the general practice of 
law, including appeals, environmental law, labor law, employment matters, and other general 
civil and criminal matters. He was admitted to practice in the United States District Court of 
Central Illinois and the United States Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals. He was elected to the 
Supreme Court of Illinois for the Third District in 2000 and was elected as Chief Justice of the 
Illinois Supreme Court in October, 2010. 

Justice Kilbride is a past board member, past president and past vice-president of the Illinois 
Township Attorneys Association, a past volunteer lawyer and charter member of the Illinois Pro 
Bono Center, and a member of the Illinois State Bar and Rock Island County Bar Associations. 
He has served as volunteer legal advisor for the Community Caring Conference, the charter 
chairman of the Quad Cities Interfaith Sponsoring committee, volunteer legal advisor to Quad 
City Harvest, Inc., and a past member of the Rock Island Human Relations Commission. 

Chief Justice Richard B. Teitelman, Missouri 

Justice Richard B. Teitelman received his B.A. degree from the University of Pennsylvania in 
1969 and his J.D. from Washington University in Saint Louis in 1973. 
 
After receiving his law degree, Teitelman spent about six months in solo general practice. Then, 
from 1975 to 1998, he worked with Legal Services of Eastern Missouri, in a range of positions. 
He served on the Missouri Court of Appeals from 1998 to 2002. 

Teitelman is the current Chief Justice on the Missouri Supreme Court. He was appointed to the 
Court in February 2002 by Governor Bob Holden, and retained by voters in 2004; his current 
term ends in 2016.  

10



Domestic Violence Panel 

Gabriel Campos, New Mexico Legal Aid; Director, Family Law Safety Division 

Gabriel Campos has led New Mexico Legal Aid’s (NMLA) domestic violence and sexual assault efforts 

since 2003.  He established the NMLA program that provides a domestic violence attorney in each of the 

program’s 10 offices through a Department of Justice, Office of Violence Against Women grant which 

NMLA has been able to sustain with funding from the state Children Youth and Families Department 

with formalized referrals from all domestic violence providers in the state.  Mr. Campos has advised the 

Attorney General’s Domestic Violence Unit on policy and best practices relating to victimization, 

coordinated community response, rural barriers, and civil legal resources and he was part of a 

multidisciplinary team that developed statewide CLE training materials on best practices for assisting 

clients with domestic violence.  He also worked with the University of New Mexico School of Law to 

develop a joint Medical School/Law School training program to identify domestic violence issues and 

coauthored a published paper on the process.  He serves or has served on many boards including the 

New Mexico Parole Board, the Attorney Generals’ Family Violence Protection Act Revision Committee, 

the state Victim’s Rights Alliance, Domestic Violence Leadership Commission, Crime Victims Reparation 

Commission and its Intimate Partner Death Review team.  Mr. Campos received his J.D. from the 

University of Wisconsin School of Law, and M.B.A. from University of New Mexico, and a B.S. in 

Mechanical Engineering from New Mexico State University. 

 

Vicky Kimbrell, Georgia Legal Services Program; Director, Family Violence Project 

 

Vicky Kimbrell is the Director of the Family Violence Project at Georgia Legal Services Project (GLSP) 

where she litigates family, juvenile, and health law cases in state  and federal trial and appellate courts.  

She also writes and administers grants that support GLSP's work.  Ms. Kimbrall conducts training across 

Georgia and nationally on family law, domestic violence, and health law issues.  She has also contributed 

to policy development on family and health law issues for women.  Ms. Kimbrall worked on the ABA 

Standards on Representing Victims of Domestic Violence.  She has been a member of the state Family 

Violence Commission for over ten years and previously served on the Georgia Supreme Court's 

Committee on Justice for Children.  She co‐founded and was the first co‐chair of the Young Lawyer’s 

Division Juvenile Law Committee of the State Bar.  She served on the Board of the Georgia School Age 

Child Care Association and was on the Georgia Medical Advisory Committee.  She has written 

extensively on women's issues, most recently on the intersection of Immigration and Domestic Violence 

Law for Family Law Attorneys.  She received her J.D. from the University of Georgia School of Law. 

 

Wendy Pollack, Director, Women’s Law & Policy Project 

 

Wendy Pollack is the founder and director of the Women’s Law and Policy Project (WLPP) at the Sargent 

Shriver National Center on Poverty Law (Shriver Center).  Under Wendy’s direction, the WLPP draws on 

the experiences of women and girls and brings those experiences to the forefront in the Shriver Center’s 

analysis of poverty and the development of solutions to end poverty permanently. Wendy has worked 

11



extensively on public benefits and work supports, workforce and economic development, education, 

employment, family law, violence against women and girls, and other issues affecting low‐income 

people on the local, state and federal level.   

For over 20 years, Wendy has worked on matters relating to violence against women and girls, especially 

as it damages their economic security and advancement.  In addition to litigation, this includes 

administrative and legislative advocacy, such as the Family Violence Option in the 1996 federal welfare 

act; the federal Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) of 2000, 2005, and the current reauthorization; 

the Victims’ Economic Security and Safety Act (VESSA), an Illinois law which provides the most 

comprehensive set of employment protections for survivors of domestic and sexual violence in the 

country; the Safe Homes Act, an Illinois law which provides survivors of domestic and sexual violence 

living in subsidized and private housing the option to secure their rental housing through lock changes or 

the termination of their leases if it is unsafe to stay; and implementation of the housing provisions of the 

VAWA 2005 by the Chicago Housing Authority. Wendy is currently leading a statewide coalition to 

promote the Ensuring Success in School Initiative to promote the retention, safety and success of 

elementary and high school students who are parents, expectant parents, or survivors of domestic or 

sexual violence. 

Prior to her move to the Shriver Center in May 1996, Wendy worked on the welfare law team at the 

Legal Assistance Foundation of Chicago and as a neighborhood staff attorney where she represented 

clients on a range of issues, including family law and domestic violence, employment, and disability 

issues. Before becoming a lawyer, Wendy was a union carpenter and with a handful of other pioneers, 

founded Chicago Women Carpenters in 1979 and Chicago Women in Trades in 1982.Wendy is the editor 

of WomanView, a monthly newsletter on legal issues affecting low income women, now in its sixteenth 

year of publication. Her most recent Clearinghouse Review article is, The “Right to Live”: Civil Legal 

Service s and Human Rights, 45 Clearinghouse Review 217 (Special Issue Sept.‐Oct. 2011). Recent honors 

include the Founder’s Award from the Chicago Bar Association’s Alliance for Women in 2012, the Kutak‐

Dodds Prize from the National Legal Aid & Defender Association in 2011, and an Impact Award honoree 

from the Chicago Foundation for Women in 2010. Wendy is a 1989 graduate of Harvard Law School.  

Jessica Roulette, Legal Action of Wisconsin; Staff Attorney 

Jessica Roulette is a staff attorney in the family law unit of Legal Action of Wisconsin’s Milwaukee 

office.  She was born and raised in Milwaukee.  She attended Amherst College, where she obtained an 

undergraduate degree in Russian Studies, cum laude.  After graduation, she worked for a year as a 

litigation paralegal at Cadwalader, Wickersham and Taft in New York. 

Attorney Roulette attended law school at the University of Wisconsin, where she graduated in 

1996.  During law school, she interned in the Public Intervenor’s office, worked as a law clerk at 

Wisconsin’s Department of Natural Resources and also served as the Notes and Comments Editor for 

the Wisconsin International Law Journal. 

After graduation, Attorney Roulette worked as a law clerk for the Honorable Lee Jackwig, at that time 

one of two bankruptcy judges for the Southern District of Iowa.  Attorney Roulette then joined the staff 

12



of Legal Action of Wisconsin as a VISTA volunteer in August of 1997.  During her time at Legal Action of 

Wisconsin, Attorney Roulette has worked in the family law unit, served as Project Director of the 

SeniorLAW division for two years, and worked on a special project providing representation to new 

fathers in paternity court.  Attorney Roulette has spent several years at Legal Action of Wisconsin 

working with survivors of domestic violence and sexual assault, primarily in family court and restraining 

order matters. 

Rebecca Shiemke, Legal Services of South Central Michigan/Michigan Poverty Law Program; Managing 

Attorney, Family Law Project and State Support Specialist on Family Law 

Rebecca Shiemke is the family law specialist at the Michigan Poverty Law Program (MPLP), a cooperative 

project of Legal Services of South Central Michigan and the University of Michigan Law School.  MPLP is 

a state‐wide program that provides support and training to legal services attorneys and other poverty 

law advocates in Michigan.  Rebecca is also the managing attorney of the Family Law Project, which 

provides civil legal assistance to survivors of domestic violence.  Rebecca is the past co‐chair of the State 

Bar of Michigan Domestic Violence Committee and current member.  She is a council member of the 

State Bar of Michigan’s Family Law Section where she is on the executive committee and co‐chairs the 

domestic violence committee. She has been a trainer for the Michigan Domestic Violence Prevention 

and Treatment Board, the Michigan Coalition Against Domestic and Sexual Violence, the Institute for 

Continuing Legal Education, the Michigan Judicial Institute and the State Bar of Michigan.  She is the co‐

author of the domestic violence chapter of Michigan Family Law, published by the Institute of 

Continuing Legal Education.  Rebecca received her J.D. from Wayne State University. 

Sotivear Sim, Legal Aid Foundation of Los Angeles; Asian Pacific Islander Unit 

Sotivear Sim is a staff attorney with the Legal Aid Foundation of Los Angeles (LAFLA), Asian/Pacific 

Islander Community Outreach Unit.  He primarily represents domestic violence survivors in the 

Southeast Asian and South Asian communities in Los Angeles, with their family law, immigration and 

other related legal matters.  Sotivear also engages in outreach efforts to ensure linguistically and 

culturally appropriate services to the diverse communities LAFLA serves.  He is a graduate of the UC 

Hastings School of Law and began his legal career with Legal Services of Northern California.  He 

returned to his hometown to work at LAFLA because it provided him an opportunity to work with the 

Cambodian community in Long Beach, CA.  Sotivear speaks both Spanish and Khmer. 

13



Michigan Panel on Collaboration 
 

Lorray Brown, Co‐Managing Attorney, Michigan Poverty Law Program 

Lorray S. C. Brown has been an attorney since 1984 and has been the managing attorney and the 
statewide consumer law specialist at the Michigan Poverty Law Program (MPLP) since 2001. In her role 
as the statewide consumer law specialist, she provides litigation, advocacy, and case consultation 
support in consumer law, support that includes foreclosure prevention and antipredatory lending. In the 
summer of 2008, Ms. Brown worked at the National Consumer Law Center (NCLC) in Boston as a 
consumer law fellow. At NCLC, she reviewed and analyzed mortgage documents and coauthored the 
chapter "Federal, State, and Industry‐Led Responses to the Foreclosure Crisis" for "Foreclosure 
Prevention Counseling" (NCLC 2d ed). Ms. Brown is also the director of the Michigan Foreclosure 
Prevention Project, a program of MPLP.  

Bruce Courtade, President‐Elect, State Bar of Michigan 

Bruce Courtade is a shareholder with Rhoades McKee. Skilled in civil and commercial litigation, Bruce's 
practice emphasizes construction law, business disputes and state and federal laws governing fair 
competition. In 2010, he and his Rhoades McKee partner Paul McCarthy co‐chaired a four‐week jury trial 
which resulted in a verdict in favor of his clients for roughly $7.9 million, which was the highest reported 
verdict in the State in 2010 and is believed to be the highest verdict in the history of the Kent County 
Circuit Court. He has been named a “Super Lawyer” in Commercial Litigation every year since 2006. 

President‐Elect of the 41,500 member State Bar of Michigan, Bruce will assume the State Bar presidency 
in September 2012. 

Bruce received his bachelor's degree from the University of Michigan in 1984 and was president of its 
1988 Law School graduating class. Bruce moved to Grand Rapids upon graduation from law school, and 
joined Rhoades McKee as a shareholder in 2000. 

Bruce has lectured extensively on issues related to construction law and litigation throughout West 
Michigan, for groups such as the Builders Exchange of West Michigan, the American Institute of 
Architects, the American Society of Professional Estimators, and the Grand Rapids Bar Association.  He 
has also been a frequent guest lecturer to law school classes on ethics and professionalism, and was the 
keynote speaker at Cooley Law School’s “Professionalism in Action” program in April 2011.  He also 
recently appeared as a panelist on a presentation televised by CSPAN as part of a symposium on "Ethics 
in Our World," broadcast from the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Museum. 

Bruce serves on the University of Michigan’s Advisory Board on Intercollegiate Athletics, a committee 
which oversees operations of the Athletic Department in Ann Arbor. In 2010, he received the Alumni 
Association’s Distinguished Alumni Service Award, which is the highest honor that can be awarded by 
the Association in recognition of outstanding service to the University and its alumni. 

A member of the State Bar of Michigan's Board of Commissioners, Bruce also served as Chair of the 
State Bar's Representative Assembly until his term expired in September of 2001. He is an Attorney 
Discipline Board panelist, a Fellow of the Michigan State Bar Foundation, and a member of the Board of 
Directors of the Michigan Supreme Court Historical Society. In addition, he is a past recipient of the John 

14



W. Cummiskey Award, given to one attorney each year in recognition of outstanding pro bono 
contributions to the citizens of Michigan. 

Bruce belongs to the State Bar's Litigation, Negligence Law and Labor and Employment Law Sections. He 
is also a member of the Federal Bar Association of the Western District of Michigan and a member of the 
American Bar Association and many of its Sections, including the Litigation Section, the Tort and 
Insurance Practice Section and the Forum on the Construction Industry. 

Robert Gillett, Executive Director, Legal Services of South Central Michigan 
 

Since 1983, Robert Gillett has been Executive Director of Legal Services of South Central Michigan, a 
nonprofit agency based in Ann Arbor providing civil legal aid to the poor.  During his tenure, the program 
added statewide services and went from an annual budget of $500,000 to more than $5 million.  In 
addition, Mr. Gillett is a national and state legal services leader and has been a founder or counsel to 
groups such as the Washtenaw Housing Alliance, the Washtenaw Health Plan and Avalon Housing. He 
served as Chair of the National Legal Aid and Defender Association’s Civil Policy Group; Chair of the State 
Bar Pro Bono Initiative; member of the State Bar’s Committee on Justice Initiatives, Judicial Crossroads 
Access to Justice Committee and Access to Justice Campaign Internal Cabinet; and Co‐Chair of the 
Michigan State Planning Body which helps coordinate civil and criminal legal assistance for low‐income 
persons.  Mr. Gillett has served on numerous other state and national groups working to improve legal 
aid for the poor, and he also taught poverty law as a visiting associate professor at the University of 
Michigan Law School.  He has received several awards, including the Michigan State Bar Foundation’s 
Access to Justice Award, the City of Ann Arbor Leadership In Community Development Recognition and 
the Wilma T. Donuhue Award for Advocacy for Seniors.  Mr. Gillett received his B.A. from Kenyon 
College and his J.D. from the University of Michigan. 

 
Bridget Mary McCormack, Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs & Clinical Professor of Law, UMLS 

 
In addition to serving as associate dean for clinical affairs, Bridget M. McCormack is a clinical professor 
of law and the co‐director of the Michigan Innocence Clinic, a non‐DNA clinic representing wrongfully 
convicted Michigan prisoners. She also has taught criminal law, legal ethics, and in the Michigan Clinical 
Law Program, a domestic violence clinic, and a pediatric advocacy clinic. Prior to joining the Law School 
faculty, she was a Cover Fellow at the Yale Law School and taught in Yale's clinical programs. Before that 
she worked as a staff attorney with the Office of the Appellate Defender and was a senior trial attorney 
with the Criminal Defense Division of the Legal Aid Society, both in New York City. Professor McCormack 
has been published in the University of Pennsylvania Law Review, the Georgetown Journal of Legal 
Ethics, the Tennessee Law Review, and the Windsor Access to Justice Journal. Her current clinical 
practice, as well as her research and scholarship, focuses on issues surrounding legal ethics and 
education, wrongful conviction, and issues of clinical pedagogy. She serves on the AALS Committee on 
Academic Freedom and Tenure. She was awarded the Justice for All Award (with Professor David 
Moran) by the Criminal Defense Attorneys of Michigan in 2010. In 2011, Professors McCormack and 
Moran were presented the Patriot Award by the Washtenaw County Bar Association for work upholding 
American constitutional values. Professor McCormack earned her law degree from New York University 
School of Law, where she was a Root‐Tilden scholar, and her BA with honors in political science and 
philosophy from Trinity College, Hartford, Connecticut. 
 

 
 

15



Margo Nichols, President, Michigan State Bar Foundation 

Margaret (Margo) Nichols has devoted the past 30 years to the pursuit of excellence in the practice of 
family law. She believes good legal representation is based on a solid relationship of trust and 
cooperation between an attorney and her clients. Her goal is to resolve family disputes conscientiously 
and, if possible, amicably, using whatever level of cooperation exists between the partners.  In 
representing her clients, Margo draws on a vast set of legal skills, from structured and informal 
mediation techniques to an in‐depth knowledge of family law and its current practice. A well‐recognized 
practitioner in family law, Margo is a fellow with the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers. Margo 
is a long standing divorce mediator. She is also a family law arbitrator. The Association for Conflict 
Resolution has granted her Practitioner Membership, its highest accreditation. 

Margo is a charter member of the Collaborative Law Institute of Michigan, trained in techniques to 
foster “no court” divorce and amicable resolution of other family legal matters. 
Margo is a past chair of the Family Law Council of the State Bar of Michigan. The Washtenaw County Bar 
Association (WCBA), and the WCBA Friend of the Court Liaison Committee. 
Margo was awarded the Michael Franck Award in 2002 by the State Bar of Michigan’s Representative 
Assembly and the Patriot Award in 1996 by the Washtenaw County Bar Association. An author of 
QDROs, EDROs and Retirement Benefits for the Institute of Continuing Legal Education, she has also 
been a frequent moderator and presenter for its seminars on family law issues. 

Active in community organizations, Margo is the President of the Michigan State Bar Foundation and 
served as past president of the Alzheimer’s Association, South Central Michigan Chapter. In 2003 Margo 
was appointed by ABA President Dennis Archer to a term on the ABA Commission on IOLTA, renewed for 
a second term by President Robert Grey, Jr. 

Linda Rexer, Executive Director, Michigan State Bar Foundation 
 
Linda Rexer has been the Executive Director of the Michigan State Bar Foundation since 1987 and has 
directed it in its mission to provide leadership and funding to improve access to justice, particularly 
through civil legal aid for the poor. During her tenure, the Foundation grew to an entity that awards 
approximately $10 million in grants annually.  Established in 1947, the Foundation has made more than 
1,500 grants and distributed over $155 million. See www.msbf.org. 
 
Ms. Rexer was a founding member of the State Bar’s Access to Justice Task Force in 1997 and still serves 
on its successor entity, the Committee on Justice Initiatives for which she has helped lead various 
subgoups and is currently a member of its Pro Bono Initiative.  She also serves on Michigan’s State 
Planning Body which convenes providers, judges and bar representatives to plan and coordinate civil 
and criminal legal aid for the poor.  She is a member of the Internal Cabinet which oversees the Access 
to Justice Campaign that raises private donations to support civil legal aid.  She served on the State Bar’s 
Judicial Crossroads Task Force Access to Justice Subcommittee and the State Bar’s Special Committee on 
Defining the Practice of Law.  In 2010, then Chief Justice Marilyn Kelly appointed her as Co‐Chair of the 
statewide Solutions on Self‐Help (SOS) Task Force which is charged with implementing actions to 
promote greater centralization, coordination and quality of support for the self‐represented. The State 
Bar Representative Assembly named Ms. Rexer as the 2005 winner of the Michael Franck Award for her 
outstanding contributions to the legal profession.    
 

16



Nationally, Ms. Rexer served on a 15 member American Bar Association Task Force to revise the ABA 
Standards for Civil Legal Services to the Poor. She also served on the group which produced the Legal 
Services Corporation’s performance criteria used to assess legal aid programs.  She is a past Trustee of 
the National Conference of Bar Foundation and a past President of the National Association of IOLTA 
Programs (NAIP) whose member programs provide about $100 million annually for civil legal aid for the 
poor.  She also served on the 9 member American Bar Association Commission on IOLTA and Co‐Chaired 
its national Technical Assistance Committee to assist IOLTA programs throughout the country, its Blue 
Ribbon Tax Panel and its Joint Rules Task Force to examine revenue enhancement opportunities (all 
three are joint committees with NAIP).  She serves on the Board of the national Management 
Information Exchange and has served on various committees for the National Legal Aid and Defender 
Association.  She serves on the “Opportunities Gaps” planning committee for the Council of Michigan 
Foundations.  She has also made numerous presentations at state and national trainings and 
conferences. 
 
Before becoming Executive Director of the Michigan State Bar Foundation in 1987, Ms. Rexer was a 
managing attorney for a legal aid program in Michigan.  She received her undergraduate degree from 
the University of Michigan in 1971 and her law degree from the University of Notre Dame in 1977.  She 
is admitted to practice law in Michigan and before the U.S. Supreme Court and is a member of the State 
Bar of Michigan and the American Bar Association. 
 

Deierdre Weir, President and CEO, Legal Aid and Defender Association 
 
Deierdre L. Weir is president and CEO of Legal Aid and Defender Association, Inc., (LAD).  She is 
responsible for the overall administration and management of LAD’s six business units.  LAD has an 
annual budget of approximately $18.5 million and more than 140 full‐time employees.  Ms. Weir 
received her Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Michigan, and Masters of Science 
degrees from the University of California and Central Michigan University.  She has also received 
leadership training through the Nonprofit Leadership Training Program at the University of Michigan, 
and is a graduate of the Detroit Regional Chamber’s Leadership Detroit program.  Ms. Weir serves on 
the Board of Directors of the National Legal Aid and Defender Association, where she serves as Chair of 
the Leadership and Diversity Committee.  She also served as chair of the Civil Policy Group.  She is the 
past vice chair of Michigan’s Legal Services Planning Body, and former co‐chair of the Michigan State 
Planning Body.  She sits on the board of the Black United Fund, the Minority Organ Tissue Transplant 
Education Program, and the Plymouth United Church of Christ.  She has authored an article titled, 
“Creating a Management Institute: Better Managers Will Mean Better Service.” 

 
 

17



Governance & Performance
       Committee



 
GOVERNANCE AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 
July 27, 2012 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of April 15, 2012 
 

3. Staff report on certification letter sent to House and Senate Appropriations 
Committees  
 

4. Staff report on progress in implementing GAO recommendations 
 

5. Consider and act on other business 
 

6. Public comment 
 

7. Consider and act on motion to adjourn meeting 
 

18



Minutes from April 15, 2012
Meeting



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review Committee 
Page 1 of 3 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 
Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review Committee 

Open Session 
Sunday, April 15, 2012 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
 Chair Martha L. Minow convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Governance & Performance Review Committee (“the Committee”) at 

4:27 p.m. on Sunday, April 15, 2012. The meeting was held at the F. William McCalpin 

Conference Center, Legal Services Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington, 

DC 20007. 

The following Committee members were present: 
 
Martha L. Minow, Chair 
Sharon L. Browne 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Julie A. Reiskin 
John G. Levi, ex officio 
 
Other Board Members Present: 
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Laurie Mikva 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
 
Also attending were: 
 
James J. Sandman  President 
Richard Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Katherine Ward  Executive Assistant, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
David Richardson  Comptroller and Treasurer  
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 

19



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review Committee 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of Inspector 
General (OIG) 

David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, OIG 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Elizabeth Arledge Communications Manager, GRPA 
Treefa Aziz Government Affairs Representative, GRPA 
John Constance  Former Director, GRPA 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Robert Stein American Bar Association’s (ABA) Standing Committee on Legal 

Aid and Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
Terry Brooks SCLAID 
Ann Carmichael ABA 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 
  
Chair Minow called the meeting to order. 
 

MOTION 
 
 Ms. Reiskin moved to approve the agenda.  Mr. Keckler seconded the motion. 
 

VOTE 
 
 The motion passed by voice vote.   

MOTION 
 
 Mr. Keckler moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s January 20, 2012 

meeting.  Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion. 

VOTE 
 
 The motion passed by voice vote.   
 

MOTION 
 
 Mr. Keckler moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s February 15, 2012 

telephonic meeting.  Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion. 

VOTE 
 
 The motion passed by voice vote.   

20



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review Committee 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 
 Ms. Aziz gave a report on LSC’s progress to implement the GAO recommendations.  

 Next, the Committee considered the evaluation of two Corporation officers, Mr. Fortuno 

and Mr. Richardson, for 2011.   

 Chair Minow invited public comment and received none.  There was no new business to 

consider.   

MOTION 
   

 Mr. Levi moved to adjourn the meeting.  Ms. Browne seconded the motion. 
 

VOTE 
 
 The motion passed by voice vote.  
 
 The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 5:09 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21



Certification Cover Letter

22



23



24



GAO Recommendation



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

1

G
A

O
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

fr
o

m
 J

u
n

e 
20

10
 R

ep
o

rt
 

“I
m

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 N
ee

d
ed

 i
n

 C
o

n
tr

o
ls

 o
ve

r 
G

ra
n

t 
A

w
ar

d
s 

&
 G

ra
n

te
e 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 E

ff
ec

ti
ve

n
es

s”
  

  
N

o
. 

G
ra

n
t 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 

P
ro

ce
ss

in
g

 a
n

d
 A

w
ar

d
 

L
S

C
 

R
es

p
o

n
se

 
L

S
C

 A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
  

D
at

e 
D

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 
S

u
b

m
it

te
d

 t
o

 
G

A
O

  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

1 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 

co
m

pl
et

e 
re

co
rd

 o
f a

ll 
da

ta
 

us
ed

, d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

 h
el

d,
 a

nd
 

de
ci

si
on

s 
m

ad
e 

on
 g

ra
nt

 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 
C

ha
ng

es
 to

 th
e 

LS
C

 G
ra

nt
s 

so
ftw

ar
e 

pr
og

ra
m

 a
lre

ad
y 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 a

nd
 in

cl
ud

e:
 

T
he

 h
om

e 
pa

ge
 o

f t
he

 L
S

C
 G

ra
nt

s 
re

vi
ew

 
m

od
ul

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

ev
is

ed
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
lis

tin
g 

of
 g

ra
nt

 d
oc

um
en

ts
 th

at
 m

us
t b

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 (

if 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

).
 T

he
 fi

na
l p

ag
e 

of
 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 m

od
ul

e 
re

qu
ire

s 
th

e 
re

vi
ew

er
 to

 
ce

rt
ify

, b
y 

en
te

rin
g 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
er

’s
 n

am
e,

 
th

at
 a

ll 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 g
ra

nt
 d

oc
um

en
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 in
 c

om
pl

et
in

g 
th

e 
gr

an
t 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

ev
al

ua
tio

n.
  

LS
C

 g
ra

nt
s 

is
 fu

rt
he

r 
re

vi
se

d 
to

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
pa

ge
 fo

r 
O

P
P

 m
an

ag
em

en
t t

o 
us

e 
in

 
ce

rt
ify

in
g 

th
e 

m
ee

tin
g(

s)
 h

el
d 

w
ith

 s
ta

ff 
re

vi
ew

er
s 

to
 d

is
cu

ss
 d

at
a 

us
ed

 in
 th

e 
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
s,

 th
e 

re
vi

ew
er

’s
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

, a
nd

 m
an

ag
em

en
ts

 fi
na

l 
fu

nd
in

g 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
gr

an
t 

A
pp

lic
an

t. 
 

T
he

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

m
od

ul
e 

of
 L

S
C

 g
ra

nt
s 

is
 

al
so

 m
od

ifi
ed

 to
 d

es
ig

na
te

 c
er

ta
in

 r
ev

ie
w

er
 

da
ta

 fi
el

ds
 a

s 
re

qu
ire

d.
 D

es
ig

na
tin

g 
fie

ld
s 

as
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

pr
oh

ib
its

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
er

 fo
r 

su
bm

itt
in

g 
an

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
th

at
 is

 
in

co
m

pl
et

e.
 A

s 
an

 e
xa

m
pl

e,
 th

e 
fie

ld
 th

at
 

re
vi

ew
er

s 
us

e 
to

 c
er

tif
y 

th
at

 a
ll 

re
qu

ire
d 

gr
an

t d
oc

um
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 is

 a
 

re
qu

ire
d 

fie
ld

. A
ls

o,
 d

at
a 

fie
ld

s 
lin

ke
d 

to
 

pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
 r

es
po

ns
es

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
in

 o
th

er
 d

at
a 

fie
ld

s 
ar

e 
de

si
gn

at
ed

 a
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

fie
ld

s.
 

   Ju
ne

 2
01

0 

       A
ug

us
t 2

01
0 

 

        Ju
ne

 2
01

0 

   R
ea

l t
im

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
of

 L
S

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

     R
ea

l t
im

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
of

 L
S

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

      R
ea

l t
im

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
of

 L
S

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

   

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

  

25



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

2

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

2 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 c
ar

ry
 o

ut
 a

nd
 

do
cu

m
en

t m
an

ag
em

en
t’s

 
re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 a
pp

ro
va

l o
f t

he
 

gr
an

t e
va

lu
at

io
n 

an
d 

aw
ar

d 
de

ci
si

on
s.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 
T

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

ch
an

ge
s 

w
er

e 
in

co
rp

or
at

ed
 

fo
r 

th
e 

20
11

 g
ra

nt
 d

ec
is

io
n 

cy
cl

e:
 

LS
C

 g
ra

nt
s 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ev

is
ed

 to
 in

cl
ud

e 
a 

pa
ge

 fo
r 

th
e 

LS
C

 V
ic

e 
P

re
si

de
nt

 fo
r 

P
ro

gr
am

s 
an

d 
C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
a 

pa
ge

 fo
r 

th
e 

LS
C

 P
re

si
de

nt
 to

 u
se

 in
 c

er
tif

yi
ng

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g(

s)
 h

el
d 

w
ith

 O
P

P
 a

nd
 O

C
E

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t t
o 

di
sc

us
s 

th
e 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
pr

oc
es

s,
 a

nd
 O

P
P

 a
nd

 O
C

E
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
.  

 T
he

 V
ic

e 
P

re
si

de
nt

's
 p

ag
e 

in
cl

ud
es

 a
 

fu
nd

in
g 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

gr
an

t 
A

pp
lic

an
t a

nd
 th

e 
P

re
si

de
nt

's
 p

ag
e 

in
cl

ud
es

 a
 li

ne
 fo

r 
ce

rt
ify

in
g 

th
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

de
ci

si
on

 fo
r 

ea
ch

 A
pp

lic
an

t. 
 F

un
di

ng
 

de
ci

si
on

s 
w

er
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 in

 D
ec

em
be

r 
20

10
.  

D
ec

em
be

r 
20

10
  

R
ea

l t
im

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
of

 L
S

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

 

3 
C

on
du

ct
 a

nd
 d

oc
um

en
t a

 r
is

k-
ba

se
d 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f t
he

 
ad

eq
ua

cy
 o

f i
nt

er
na

l c
on

tr
ol

 o
f 

th
e 

gr
an

t e
va

lu
at

io
n 

an
d 

aw
ar

d 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

pr
oc

es
s 

fr
om

 th
e 

po
in

t t
ha

t t
he

 
R

eq
ue

st
 fo

r 
P

ro
po

sa
l i

s 
cr

ea
te

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
aw

ar
d,

 a
nd

 
gr

an
te

e 
se

le
ct

io
n.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 is
 e

ng
ag

in
g 

an
 o

ut
si

de
 e

xp
er

t t
o 

de
ve

lo
p 

an
d 

pe
rf

or
m

 a
 fu

ll 
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

an
d 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f t
he

 c
om

pe
tit

iv
e 

gr
an

ts
 

pr
oc

es
s.

  

 T
hi

s 
w

ill
 in

cl
ud

e 
co

nd
uc

tin
g 

a 
ris

k-
ba

se
d 

as
se

ss
m

en
t o

f t
he

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 o
f t

he
 

gr
an

t e
va

lu
at

io
n,

 a
w

ar
d,

 a
nd

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
pr

oc
es

s;
 r

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
 o

f a
dd

iti
on

al
 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 o
pt

io
ns

; r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 
of

 o
pt

io
ns

 fo
r 

m
ax

im
iz

in
g 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
po

rt
in

g 
ca

pa
bi

lit
ie

s;
 a

nd
 a

 r
ep

or
t o

n 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s 

an
d 

op
tio

ns
 im

pl
em

en
te

d.
 

   

O
ng

oi
ng

.  

  

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
ris

k 
ba

se
d 

in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f t

he
 

pr
oc

es
s 

an
d 

an
y 

re
la

te
d 

ris
k 

re
m

ed
ia

tio
n 

ef
fo

rt
s.

 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
  L

S
C

 h
as

 
re

ce
iv

ed
 tw

o 
bi

ds
 fo

r 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
re

 
R

F
P

 n
ot

ic
e 

an
d 

is
 in

 
th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 
re

vi
ew

in
g 

th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

.  
 

26



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

3

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

4 
C

on
du

ct
 a

nd
 d

oc
um

en
t a

 c
os

t 
be

ne
fit

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
co

nt
ro

ls
 in

 L
S

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

su
ch

 th
at

 th
e 

sy
st

em
’s

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ca

pa
bi

lit
ie

s 
co

ul
d 

be
 u

til
iz

ed
 to

 a
 g

re
at

er
 e

xt
en

t 
in

 th
e 

gr
an

te
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
an

d 
de

ci
si

on
-

m
ak

in
g 

pr
oc

es
s.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 im
pl

em
en

te
d 

th
e 

us
e 

of
 th

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
fie

ld
s,

 c
er

tif
ic

at
io

ns
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

by
 r

ev
ie

w
er

s 
do

cu
m

en
tin

g 
th

e 
re

vi
ew

 p
ro

ce
ss

, a
nd

 
ce

rt
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 b

y 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
O

ffi
ce

 d
oc

um
en

tin
g 

th
e 

pr
oc

es
s 

fo
r 

re
ac

hi
ng

 fi
na

l f
un

di
ng

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 a

nd
 fu

nd
in

g 
de

ci
si

on
s.

  

LS
C

 G
ra

nt
s 

w
ill

 u
nd

er
go

 a
 c

on
tin

uo
us

 
in

te
rn

al
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
by

 s
ta

ff 
an

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t t
o 

as
se

ss
 th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

of
 th

e 
co

nt
ro

l f
ea

tu
re

s 
im

pl
em

en
te

d,
 a

nd
 

co
ns

id
er

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 fe

at
ur

e 
op

tio
ns

. 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

10
 

       

C
os

t b
en

ef
its

 
a

ss
es

sm
e

n
t. 

 

 R
ea

l t
im

e 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

fie
ld

s,
 c

er
ts

 
et

c.
 in

 L
S

C
 G

ra
nt

s 

 E
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 th
e 

co
nt

in
uo

us
 in

te
rn

al
 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
by

 s
ta

ff.
 

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

.  
 

 

 
G

ra
n

te
e 

O
ve

rs
ig

h
t 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

 
 

 
 

 

5 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 
gr

an
te

e 
si

te
 v

is
it 

se
le

ct
io

n 
ris

k 
cr

ite
ria

 a
re

 c
on

si
st

en
tly

 u
se

d 
an

d 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 fo
r 

su
m

m
ar

iz
in

g 
re

su
lts

 b
y 

gr
an

te
e.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

O
P

P
 a

nd
 O

C
E

 M
an

ua
ls

 h
av

e 
be

en
 r

ev
is

ed
 

to
 in

cl
ud

e 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 fo
r 

ris
k 

cr
ite

ri
a 

us
ed

 
fo

r 
se

le
ct

in
g 

gr
an

te
e 

si
te

 v
is

it.
  A

ls
o,

 b
ot

h 
of

fic
es

 h
av

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

su
m

m
ar

iz
ed

 
re

su
lts

 o
f t

he
 s

el
ec

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
s 

by
 g

ra
nt

ee
. 

O
ut

si
de

 la
bo

r 
co

un
se

l h
as

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 L

S
C

’s
 

re
sp

on
se

. 

A
ug

us
t 1

6,
 2

01
0 

E
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 o
ut

si
de

 
la

bo
r 

co
un

se
l 

re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
 G

A
O

 is
 

st
ill

 r
ev

ie
w

in
g 

LS
C

’s
 

re
qu

es
t f

or
 a

 c
lo

se
-

ou
t o

f t
he

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
ba

se
d 

on
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
su

bm
itt

ed
 

in
 A

pr
il.

 

6 
E

st
ab

lis
h 

an
d 

im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 m

on
ito

r 
O

C
E

 
gr

an
te

e 
si

te
 v

is
it 

re
po

rt
 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

ag
ai

ns
t t

he
 1

20
 

da
y 

tim
e 

fr
am

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 in

 th
e 

O
C

E
 P

ro
ce

du
re

s 
M

an
ua

l. 
 

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

O
C

E
 h

as
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
n 

an
nu

al
 tr

ac
ki

ng
 

do
cu

m
en

t t
ha

t i
nc

lu
de

s 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 g
ra

nt
ee

 s
ite

 v
is

its
, a

nd
 

re
po

rt
in

g 
da

te
 a

nd
 is

su
an

ce
 (

O
C

E
/O

P
P

 
co

m
bi

ne
d 

vi
si

t l
is

t)
.  

O
ut

si
de

 la
bo

r 
co

un
se

l 
ha

s 
re

vi
ew

ed
 L

S
C

’s
 r

es
po

ns
e.

 

A
pr

il 
20

12
 

E
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 o
ut

si
de

 
la

bo
r 

co
un

se
l 

re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
 G

A
O

 is
 

st
ill

 r
ev

ie
w

in
g 

LS
C

’s
 

re
qu

es
t f

or
 a

 c
lo

se
-

ou
t o

f t
he

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
ba

se
d 

on
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
su

bm
itt

ed
 

in
 A

pr
il.

 

27



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

4

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

7 
E

xe
cu

te
 a

 s
tu

dy
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

an
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 s

ta
nd

ar
d 

tim
ef

ra
m

e 
fo

r 
O

LA
 o

pi
ni

on
s 

to
 

be
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
nd

 is
su

ed
. 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 m

on
ito

r 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
of

 O
LA

 o
pi

ni
on

s 
re

la
te

d 
to

 O
C

E
 s

ite
 v

is
its

 
ag

ai
ns

t t
he

 ta
rg

et
 ti

m
e 

fr
am

e 
fo

r 
is

su
in

g 
op

in
io

ns
.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

O
ffi

ce
 o

f L
eg

al
 A

ffa
irs

 (
O

LA
) 

is
su

ed
 a

 n
ew

 
O

pi
ni

on
s 

P
ro

to
co

l t
ha

t s
et

s 
fo

rt
h 

th
e 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
ce

ss
es

 to
 b

e 
fo

llo
w

ed
 

in
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t a
nd

 is
su

an
ce

 o
f b

ot
h 

A
dv

is
or

y 
an

d 
In

te
rn

al
 O

pi
ni

on
s.

 A
s 

pa
rt

 o
f 

th
is

 e
ffo

rt
, O

LA
 im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 
tim

ef
ra

m
es

 fo
r 

re
sp

on
se

 to
 r

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r 

op
in

io
ns

. 

A
ug

us
t 2

0,
 2

01
0 

 
C

op
y 

of
 s

tu
dy

 a
nd

 
ne

w
 O

LA
 O

pi
ni

on
s 

P
ro

to
co

l. 
A

ls
o,

 
ev

id
en

ce
 o

f 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

th
e 

ne
w

 p
ro

to
co

l. 

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

 

8 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 

ce
nt

ra
liz

ed
 tr

ac
ki

ng
 s

ys
te

m
 fo

r 
LS

C
’s

 r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 to
 

gr
an

te
es

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

gr
an

te
e 

si
te

 v
is

its
 a

nd
 th

e 
st

at
us

 o
f g

ra
nt

ee
s’

 c
or

re
ct

iv
e 

ac
tio

ns
.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

B
ot

h 
O

P
P

 a
nd

 O
C

E
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 m
on

ito
r 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 a
nd

 c
or

re
ct

iv
e 

ac
tio

ns
 

th
ro

ug
h 

se
pa

ra
te

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 in

 e
ac

h 
of

fic
e.

  
In

 a
dd

iti
on

, L
S

C
 is

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
in

to
 th

e 
LS

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

sy
st

em
 a

no
th

er
 m

et
ho

d 
fo

r 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

th
e 

st
at

us
 o

f r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 
an

d 
co

rr
ec

tiv
e 

ac
tio

ns
 fr

om
 O

P
P

 a
nd

 O
C

E
 

ov
er

si
gh

t v
is

its
. T

he
 s

ys
te

m
 w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 

gr
an

te
es

 to
 u

pd
at

e 
th

is
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ith
 

th
ei

r 
an

nu
al

 c
om

pe
tit

io
n 

or
 r

en
ew

al
 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

su
bm

is
si

on
s 

to
 L

S
C

. T
hi

s 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
us

ed
 b

y 
st

af
f i

n 
m

ee
tin

g 
th

ei
r 

ov
er

si
gh

t r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s.

   
   

  

A
ug

us
t 2

01
1 

  

E
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 a
nd

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

th
e 

ce
nt

ra
liz

ed
 

tr
ac

ki
ng

 s
ys

te
m

 fo
r 

LS
C

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
.  

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

  

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
 

 
 

 
 

 

9 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 to

 li
nk

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 m

ea
su

re
s 

(1
) 

to
 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

of
fic

es
 a

nd
 th

ei
r 

co
re

 
fu

nc
tio

ns
 a

nd
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

, a
nd

 
(2

) 
to

 L
S

C
’s

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 g

oa
ls

 
an

d 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

T
he

 L
S

C
 B

oa
rd

 o
f D

ire
ct

or
s 

is
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
a 

ne
w

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 p

la
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

C
or

po
ra

tio
n 

w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 in

cl
ud

e 
lin

ki
ng

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
m

ea
su

re
s 

to
 L

S
C

’s
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 g
oa

ls
 a

nd
 

ob
je

ct
iv

es
.  

 LS
C

 is
 in

 p
ro

ce
ss

 o
f r

ev
is

in
g 

its
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
sy

st
em

 a
nd

 
cu

rr
en

tly
 w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
 th

e 
U

ni
on

 o
n 

a 
Jo

b 
A

na
ly

si
s 

Q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
 (

JA
Q

).
  T

he
 J

A
Q

 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

al
l e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
– 

al
on

g 
w

ith
 r

ev
is

in
g 

an
d 

up
da

tin
g 

in
di

vi
du

al
 

po
si

tio
n 

de
sc

rip
tio

ns
 –

 a
s 

th
e 

fir
st

 s
te

p 
to

   

O
ng

oi
ng

 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

nd
 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
  C

ur
re

nt
ly

 
in

 d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

 w
ith

 
U

ni
on

 to
 fi

na
liz

e 
dr

af
t 

Jo
b 

A
na

ly
si

s 
Q

ue
st

io
nn

ai
re

.  

28



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

5

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y 

de
fin

in
g 

co
re

 o
ffi

ce
 fu

nc
tio

ns
 

th
at

 c
an

 b
e 

lin
ke

d 
to

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
m

ea
su

re
s 

&
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 g
oa

ls
 &

 o
bj

ec
tiv

es
. 

LS
C

 c
on

tin
ue

s 
to

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
U

ni
on

 to
 

fin
al

iz
e 

po
si

tio
n 

de
sc

rip
tio

ns
 &

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
 

ne
w

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t s

ys
te

m
.  

 

10
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 fo
r 

pe
rio

di
ca

lly
 

as
se

ss
in

g 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 

m
ea

su
re

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
ey

 a
re

 
up

-t
o-

da
te

.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 w
ill

 d
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 p

er
io

di
ca

lly
 a

ss
es

s 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 m

ea
su

re
s 

af
te

r 
a 

ne
w

 
st

ra
te

gi
c 

pl
an

 is
 c

om
pl

et
ed

.  
  

 

O
ng

oi
ng

  
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
  A

w
ai

tin
g 

fin
al

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 n
ew

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 p

la
n.

   

 
S

ta
ff

in
g

 N
ee

d
s 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

 
 

 
 

 

11
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 p

ro
vi

de
 fo

r 
as

se
ss

in
g 

al
l L

S
C

 c
om

po
ne

nt
 

st
af

fin
g 

ne
ed

s 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 
LS

C
’s

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 a

nd
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 
hu

m
an

 c
ap

ita
l p

la
ns

.  

 

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 w
ill

 d
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 h

um
an

 
ca

pi
ta

l p
la

n 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 w
ith

 th
e 

ne
w

 
st

ra
te

gi
c 

go
al

s 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 a
do

pt
s.

  T
he

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
gl

ea
ne

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
Jo

bs
 A

na
ly

si
s 

Q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
s 

(J
A

Q
) 

w
ill

 fa
ci

lit
at

e 
th

is
 

ef
fo

rt
 a

s 
it 

is
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
al

l o
f t

he
 

co
m

pe
te

nc
ie

s 
ex

er
ci

se
d 

in
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n 

of
 

th
e 

du
tie

s 
&

 r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s 

of
 e

ac
h 

po
si

tio
n.

  T
hi

s 
to

ol
 w

ill
 h

el
p 

id
en

tif
y 

de
fic

ie
nc

ie
s 

an
d 

ar
ea

s 
in

 w
hi

ch
 s

ki
lls

 &
 

ab
ili

tie
s 

la
g 

be
hi

nd
 th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 L

S
C

. 

O
ng

oi
ng

  
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

nd
 

th
ei

r 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n.

 

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
  C

ur
re

nt
ly

 
in

 d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

 w
ith

 
U

ni
on

 to
 fi

na
liz

e 
dr

af
t 

Jo
b 

A
na

ly
si

s 
Q

ue
st

io
nn

ai
re

.  
 

29



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

6

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

 1
2 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 a
ll 

LS
C

 s
ta

ff 
re

ce
iv

es
 a

nn
ua

l 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
.  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 is
 in

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
a 

ne
w

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 a

pp
ra

is
al

 s
ys

te
m

 a
nd

 a
im

s 
to

 
co

nd
uc

t s
ta

ff 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 

co
ve

rin
g 

20
12

.  
 

 A
s 

di
sc

us
se

d 
in

 s
ta

tu
s 

up
da

te
s 

to
 G

A
O

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 9

 &
 1

1,
 L

S
C

 h
as

 d
ra

fte
d 

a 
Jo

b 
A

na
ly

si
s 

Q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
 (

JA
Q

),
 

w
hi

ch
, a

lo
ng

 w
ith

 a
 r

ev
is

io
n 

of
 p

os
iti

on
 

de
sc

rip
tio

ns
, w

ill
 id

en
tif

y 
co

re
 o

ffi
ce

 
fu

nc
tio

ns
 th

at
 c

an
 b

e 
lin

ke
d 

to
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

m
ea

su
re

s 
&

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 g

oa
ls

 &
 o

bj
ec

tiv
es

.  

 S
in

ce
 th

e 
G

A
O

 r
eq

ui
re

s 
tw

o 
co

ns
ec

ut
iv

e 
ye

ar
s 

of
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

pp
ra

is
al

s 
to

 c
lo

se
 

ou
t t

he
 r

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

n,
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

da
te

 is
 2

01
4.

   

O
ng

oi
ng

 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

nd
 

th
ei

r 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

e.
g.

, 
m

os
t r

ec
en

t a
ct

ua
l 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 fo

r 
al

l 
O

P
P

 a
nd

 O
C

E
 

em
pl

oy
ee

s.
  

 A
ls

o 
lis

t o
f O

P
P

 a
nd

 
O

C
E

 s
ta

ff 
on

 b
oa

rd
 

at
 ti

m
e 

of
 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
as

se
ss

m
en

t c
yc

le
. 

      

Ju
ne

 2
01

2:
C

ur
re

nt
ly

 
in

 d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

 w
ith

 
U

ni
on

 to
 fi

na
liz

e 
dr

af
t 

Jo
b 

A
na

ly
si

s 
Q

ue
st

io
nn

ai
re

.  
 

 
B

u
d

g
et

 C
o

n
tr

o
ls

  
 

 
 

 
 

13
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 

pr
oc

es
s 

to
 m

on
ito

r 
co

nt
ra

ct
 

ap
pr

ov
al

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 a
ll 

pr
op

os
ed

 c
on

tr
ac

ts
 a

re
 

pr
op

er
ly

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
be

fo
re

 
aw

ar
d.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

co
m

pl
et

ed
. L

S
C

 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ne

w
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
M

an
ua

l 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 b

et
te

r 
m

on
ito

r 
co

nt
ra

ct
 

ap
pr

ov
al

s 
an

d 
en

su
re

 th
at

 fu
nd

s 
ar

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

an
d 

al
l c

on
tr

ac
ts

 r
ec

ei
ve

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
pp

ro
va

ls
 p

rio
r 

to
 is

su
an

ce
. 

T
hi

s 
po

lic
y 

an
d 

pr
ac

tic
e 

w
as

 in
 p

la
ce

 p
rio

r 
to

 G
A

O
’s

 c
om

pl
et

in
g 

th
ei

r 
fie

ld
w

or
k 

fo
r 

th
is

 
re

po
rt

, a
nd

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f L
S

C
’s

 p
ra

ct
ic

es
 

si
nc

e 
O

ct
ob

er
 1

, 2
00

9 
w

ill
 s

ho
w

 th
at

 th
e 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 fo
llo

w
ed

 a
nd

 a
ll 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
ar

e 
no

w
 b

ei
ng

 p
ro

pe
rly

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
. 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

9 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 p

ro
ce

ss
 

de
si

gn
 a

nd
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

C
lo

se
d 

by
 G

A
O

  
(1

0/
13

/2
01

1)
 

   

30



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

7

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

14
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 fo
r 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
at

 o
r 

ab
ov

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
po

lic
y 

th
re

sh
ol

ds
, t

o 
en

su
re

 th
e 

LS
C

 
P

re
si

de
nt

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
w

rit
te

n 
ap

pr
ov

al
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 
po

lic
y 

be
fo

re
 c

on
tr

ac
t a

w
ar

d.
  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

co
m

pl
et

ed
. L

S
C

 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ne

w
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
M

an
ua

l 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 b

et
te

r 
m

on
ito

r 
co

nt
ra

ct
 

ap
pr

ov
al

s 
an

d 
en

su
re

 th
at

 fu
nd

s 
ar

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

an
d 

al
l c

on
tr

ac
ts

 r
ec

ei
ve

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
pp

ro
va

ls
 p

rio
r 

to
 is

su
an

ce
.  

 T
hi

s 
po

lic
y 

an
d 

pr
ac

tic
e 

w
as

 in
 p

la
ce

 p
rio

r 
to

 G
A

O
’s

 c
om

pl
et

in
g 

th
ei

r 
fie

ld
w

or
k 

fo
r 

th
is

 
re

po
rt

, a
nd

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f L
S

C
’s

 p
ra

ct
ic

es
 

si
nc

e 
O

ct
ob

er
 1

, 2
00

9 
w

ill
 s

ho
w

 th
at

 th
e 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 fo
llo

w
ed

 a
nd

 a
ll 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
ar

e 
no

w
 b

ei
ng

 p
ro

pe
rly

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
. 

 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

9 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

nd
 

th
ei

r 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n.

 

C
lo

se
d 

by
 G

A
O

  
(1

0/
13

/2
01

1)
 

   

15
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
bu

dg
et

 
fu

nd
s 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r 
al

l 
co

nt
ra

ct
 p

ro
po

sa
ls

 b
ef

or
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
ar

e 
aw

ar
de

d.
  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

co
m

pl
et

ed
. L

S
C

 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ne

w
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
M

an
ua

l 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 to
 b

et
te

r 
m

on
ito

r 
co

nt
ra

ct
 

ap
pr

ov
al

s 
an

d 
en

su
re

 th
at

 fu
nd

s 
ar

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

an
d 

al
l c

on
tr

ac
ts

 r
ec

ei
ve

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 a
pp

ro
va

ls
 p

rio
r 

to
 is

su
an

ce
.  

 T
hi

s 
po

lic
y 

an
d 

pr
ac

tic
e 

w
as

 in
 p

la
ce

 p
rio

r 
to

 G
A

O
’s

 c
om

pl
et

in
g 

th
ei

r 
fie

ld
w

or
k 

fo
r 

th
is

 
re

po
rt

, a
nd

 a
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f L
S

C
’s

 p
ra

ct
ic

es
 

si
nc

e 
O

ct
ob

er
 1

, 2
00

9 
w

ill
 s

ho
w

 th
at

 th
e 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 fo
llo

w
ed

 a
nd

 a
ll 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
ar

e 
no

w
 b

ei
ng

 p
ro

pe
rly

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
. 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

9 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
 

C
lo

se
d 

by
 G

A
O

  
(1

0/
13

/2
01

1)
 

   

 
In

te
rn

al
 C

o
n

tr
o

l 
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
 

 
 

 
 

 

31



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

8

N
o

. 
G

ra
n

t 
A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g
 a

n
d

 A
w

ar
d

 
L

S
C

 
R

es
p

o
n

se
 

L
S

C
 A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

  
D

at
e 

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

S
u

b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 

G
A

O
  

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

vi
d

en
ce

 N
ee

d
ed

 
b

y 
G

A
O

 (
C

o
l. 

A
d

d
ed

 b
y 

G
A

O
) 

C
u

rr
en

t 
S

ta
tu

s 

 

16
 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 fo
r 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
an

d 
pe

rio
di

ca
lly

 u
pd

at
in

g 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 

fo
r 

LS
C

 m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 

st
af

f o
n 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 in

te
rn

al
 

co
nt

ro
ls

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 to

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
ca

rr
y 

ou
t L

S
C

’s
 

gr
an

t a
w

ar
d 

an
d 

gr
an

te
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 o
ve

rs
ig

ht
 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s.

  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 is
 in

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
fo

r 
LS

C
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d 
st

af
f r

eg
ar

di
ng

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
to

 
ca

rr
y 

ou
t g

ra
nt

 a
w

ar
d 

co
m

pe
tit

io
n 

an
d 

gr
an

te
e 

ov
er

si
gh

t r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s.

  

  

O
ng

oi
ng

 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

de
m

on
st

ra
tin

g 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 fo

r 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

an
d 

pe
rio

di
ca

lly
 

up
da

tin
g 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 fo
r 

LS
C

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d 

st
af

f o
n 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 in

te
rn

al
 

co
nt

ro
ls

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
 

to
 e

ffe
ct

iv
el

y 
ca

rr
y 

ou
t L

S
C

’s
 g

ra
nt

 
aw

ar
d 

an
d 

gr
an

te
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
ov

er
si

gh
t. 

LS
C

 in
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 
fin

al
iz

in
g 

th
e 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 m
an

ua
l 

an
d 

ex
pe

ct
s 

to
 s

ub
m

it 
it 

to
 th

e 
G

A
O

 b
y 

Ju
ly

 
31

, 2
01

2
.  

 

17
 

E
st

ab
lis

h 
a 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 to

 
m

on
ito

r 
pr

og
re

ss
 in

 ta
ki

ng
 

co
rr

ec
tiv

e 
ac

tio
ns

 to
 a

dd
re

ss
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 r
el

at
ed

 to
 

im
pr

ov
in

g 
LS

C
 g

ra
nt

s 
aw

ar
d,

 
ev

al
ua

tio
n,

 a
nd

 m
on

ito
rin

g.
  

A
cc

ep
te

d 

 

LS
C

 h
as

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

a 
fo

rm
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

 to
 

m
on

ito
r 

an
d 

tr
ac

k 
ac

tio
ns

 ta
ke

n 
by

 L
S

C
 in

 
re

sp
on

se
 to

 r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 fr
om

 th
e 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t A

cc
ou

nt
ab

ili
ty

 O
ffi

ce
. T

hi
s 

w
rit

te
n 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
id

en
tif

ie
s 

th
e 

O
ffi

ce
 o

f 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t R
el

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 P

ub
lic

 A
ffa

irs
 

as
 th

e 
of

fic
e 

re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

fo
r 

m
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 
th

e 
tr

ac
ki

ng
 s

ys
te

m
 a

nd
 in

cl
ud

es
 q

ua
rt

er
ly

 
re

po
rt

in
g 

on
 th

e 
st

at
us

 o
f a

ny
 r

em
ed

ia
tio

n 
ef

fo
rt

s 
to

 th
e 

B
oa

rd
 o

f D
ire

ct
or

s.
  

 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

0 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 
th

e 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

of
 

co
rr

ec
tiv

e 
ac

tio
ns

 
ta

ke
n 

to
 a

dd
re

ss
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 
re

la
te

d 
to

 im
pr

ov
in

g 
LS

C
 g

ra
nt

 a
w

ar
d.

 

C
lo

se
d 

 D
ec

. 2
01

1:
 G

A
O

 in
 

pr
oc

es
s 

of
 fo

rm
al

 
cl

os
e 

ou
t. 

  

.  
 

 

  T
ot

al
 N

um
be

r 
of

 R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

s:
  1

7 
 T

ot
al

 N
um

be
r 

C
lo

se
d 

by
 G

A
O

:  
9 

 
 T

ot
al

 N
um

be
r 

of
 O

pe
n 

It
em

s:
  8

 
 

32



U
pd

at
ed

 0
6/

29
/2

01
2 

 
 P

ag
e 

9

N
um

be
r 

of
 P

en
di

ng
 R

eq
ue

st
s 

fo
r 

cl
os

e-
ou

t:
  2

 

33



Institutional Advancement 
Committee



INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCEMENT COMMITTEE 

July 27, 2012 

Agenda 

OPEN SESSION 

1. Approval of agenda 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of April 15, 2012 

3. Discussion of Committee work for August-September 

4. Public comment 

5. Consider and act on other business 

CLOSED SESSION 

6. Briefing by Bob Osborne Development Consultant  

7. Consider and act on a draft Development Plan for the Corporation 

8. Consider and act on motion to adjourn the meeting 

 

34



Minutes from April 15, 2012
Meeting



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 1 of 3 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 
Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 

Open Session 
Sunday, April 15, 2012 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
 Chairman John G. Levi convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Institutional Advancement Committee (“the Committee”) at 2:23 p.m. on 

Sunday, April 15, 2012. The meeting was held at the F. William McCalpin Conference Center, 

Legal Services Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington, DC 20007. 

 
The following Committee members were present: 
 
John G. Levi, Chairman 
Martha L. Minow 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Father Pius Pietrzyk  
Herbert S. Garten  
Thomas F. Smegal  
Frank B. Strickland  
 
Other Board Members Present: 
Sharon L. Browne 
Julie A. Reiskin 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
 
Also attending were: 
 
James J. Sandman  President 
Richard Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Katherine Ward  Executive Assistant, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
Atitaya Rok   Staff Attorney, OLA 
David Richardson  Comptroller and Treasurer  

35



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Elizabeth Arledge Communications Manager, GRPA 
Treefa Aziz Government Affairs Representative, GRPA 
John Constance  Former Director, GRPA 
Robert Osborne  Development Consultant, The Osborne Group 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Robert Stein American Bar Association’s (ABA) Standing Committee on Legal 

Aid and Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
Terry Brooks SCLAID 
Julie Strandlie SCLAID 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 
  
The Committee’s agenda was approved by motion and vote.   

 
MOTION 

 
 Dean Minow moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s January 21, 2012 

meeting.  Mr. Keckler seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.   

 Chairman Levi led the discussion of the Committee’s 2012 goals.  Mr. Osborne, LSC’s 

contracted development consultant, shared observations on the development work he has 

performed, since it will be the foundation for the Committee’s goals.    

Chairman Levi then led a brief discussion of the Committee members’ self-evaluations.   

 Chairman Levi invited public comment and received none.   

 In new business, Mr. Keckler noted that the Board’s Operations and Regulations 

Committee would be considering LSC’s contributions policy at its meeting.   

 

 

36



 

 
Minutes: April 15, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

MOTION 

  Dean Minow moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Keckler seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 2:39 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 

37



Audit Committee



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
  

July 27, 2012 
  

Agenda  
 
 

 Open Session 
 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 
2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s June 25, 2012 meeting 

 
3. Report on 403(b) annual plan review and update on annual audit 

 
 Traci Higgins, Director of Human Resources 

 
4. Consider and act on revised Audit Committee charter  

 
5. Briefing by Office of Inspector General 

 
 Jeffrey Schanz, Inspector General 

 
6. Public comment 

 
7. Consider and act on other business   

 
8. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

 

38



Minutes from June 25, 2012
Meeting



Minutes: June 25, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 1 of 2 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Audit Committee 

Open Session 

Monday, June 25, 2012  

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
 Chairman Victor B. Maddox convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Audit Committee (“the Committee”) at 2:33 p.m. on Monday, June 25, 

2012.  The meeting was held at the F. William McCalpin Conference Center, Legal Services 

Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington, DC 20007.  

 

The following Committee members were present: 

Victor B. Maddox, Chairman 
Harry J.F. Korrell III 
David Hoffman (Non-Director Member) 
Paul L. Snyder (Non-Director Member) 
 
Also attending were: 
 
James J. Sandman   President 
Richard L. Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara  Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Katherine Ward  Executive Assistant, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
David L. Richardson Comptroller and Treasurer, Office of Financial and Administrative 

Services (OFAS) 
Jeffrey Schanz   Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the 

Inspector General (OIG) 
Joel Gallay Special counsel to the Inspector General, OIG 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, OIG 

39



Minutes: June 25, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG  
John Seeba Director of Audit Operations/Administrative Officer, OIG 
Emily Gydesen Intern, Executive Office  
Flor Gardea  Intern, OLA 

 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 Chairman Maddox called the open session meeting of the Committee to order.     

MOTION 

Mr. Korrell moved to approve the agenda.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

The motion passed by voice vote.   

MOTION 

Mr. Korrell moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s April 15, 2012 meeting.  

Mr. Hoffman seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 The Committee and the Office of Inspector General had a lengthy discussion over the 

proposed changes to the Audit Committee charter, and additional edits were presented.   

There was no other business to consider. 

MOTION 

Mr. Snyder moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Korrell seconded the motion.    

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 5:10 p.m. 

40



Report on 403(b) Plan



  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

3333 K Street, NW 3rd  Floor
Washington, DC  20007-3522 
Phone 202.295.1500  Fax 202.337.6797 
www.lsc.gov 

 
 

 
OFFICE OF HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:               LSC Audit Committee 
 
FROM:         Traci L. Higgins 
   
DATE:           July 9, 2012 
 
SUBJECT:    LSC 403(b) Thrift Plan – 2nd Quarter 2012 Update; 403(b) Plan Audit Update 
__________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Summary of Second Quarter 2012 Thrift Plan Performance:  All major indices were down 
in the second quarter, with the Dow Jones Industrial Average off 2.5%, Standard & Poor’s 500 
Index down 3.3%, and the Nasdaq Composite losing 5% of its value.  As of June 30, 2012, total 
Thrift Plan assets (including contributions) are approximately $17,408,098 – a decrease of 
$696,000 since March 30, 2012.  This quarter saw an usually high level of distribution activity, 
with five employees accounting for $925,241 in withdrawals as rollovers, in-service 
withdrawals and one minimum distribution.  The Thrift Plan has 306 active participants 
(including current and former LSC employees), an increase of ten active participants over the 
last quarter.  Voluntary contributions increased during the quarter by $49,413.34.  Net losses 
for the quarter totaled $334,695.   
 
The two funds on our January 2012 watch list - Goldman Sachs’ Mid Cap Value A and 
PIMCO’s Total Return fund – continue to perform well, posting year-to-date returns of 8.24% 
and 6.12%, respectively.  Likewise, the rankings of these two funds – 33rd and 5th, year to date - 
are consistent with their three- and five-year rankings.  The two funds on our April watch list – 
Lord Abbett Value Opportunities and American Funds Capital World Growth and Income – are 
a mixed bag.  American Funds Capital, while off its 11.17% performance of the first quarter, 
has year-to-date returns of 7.20%.  Lord Abbett has posted a second quarter return of -7.17%, 
down from 9% last quarter.  Lord Abbett’s ranking for five years is in the top 5 percentile, a 
more solid long-term picture than its three-month percentile ranking of 83rd.  Based on Lord 
Abbett’s recent weak performance, the Plan’s financial advisor recommends ongoing 
performance monitoring.  In addition, our advisor is monitoring BMO Small Cap Growth and 
Prudential Jennison Natural Resources.  BMO dropped from returns of 12.86% last quarter to -
8.20% for the second quarter, while Prudential registered a steep decline from a return of 
5.43% to -15.04%.  Likewise, the percentile ranking of each has dipped significantly.  The 
three-month ranking for BMO is 90th, well off its three-year ranking of 21st and its five-year 

41



 
 
 

ranking of 15th, while Prudential Jennison is at the 86th percentile for three-months, down from 
its three-year ranking of 50th.  Because of the strong long term records of both funds, our 
advisor reports no cause for immediate concern, but he will continue to monitor them.     
 
Target date funds continue to account for the largest percentage of fund assets, with 
approximately one-third (34.2%) of LSC employees investing in these assets.  Nearly another 
one-third (28.5%) of employees are invested in bond funds or fixed-income (money markets or 
cash) accounts.  Sixty-five percent of Thrift Plan participants (199/306) have elected to invest 
in the 2015 target fund ($1,036,032).  The AUL Fixed Interest Account only has 51 
participants, but with net assets of $2,139,680, represents the greatest dollar investment of all 
funds.  With only seven investors, the BMO Small Cap Fund has the fewest participants, with 
total assets of $43,852. 
 
Recent Market Trends and Related Economic Indicators:  Through the close of May 2012, 
the total return during the second quarter was negative for 21 of 25 of our funds (excluding the 
two fixed/cash products).  The total return year-to-date was positive for 24 of 25 funds, ranging 
from a low of 1.19% (Lord Abbett) to a high of 14.94% (Nuveen Real Estate).  Of the 24 funds 
in positive territory for the year, one was below a 3.5% return year-to-date, two were in the 
3.6% - 5% range, eight were in the 5.1% - 7% range, nine were in the 7.1% - 9% range, three 
were in the 9.1% - 11% range, and one fund (Nuveen Real Estate) was over 14% (14.94%).  
This is a departure from last quarter when fifteen (15) funds had returns in the 5% - 11% range 
and seven (7) in the 12% - 15% range. 
 
The second quarter of 2012 has seen 10-year Treasury interest rates decrease from 2.2% to 
1.65% and the 30-year Treasury interest rate decrease from 3.3%1 to 2.75%.  
 
 
403(b) Plan Audit Update:  The 403(b) plan audit is currently under way for plan year 2011.  
The initial audit schedules have been forwarded to plan auditor Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP 
and include all requested relevant plan documents, amendments and resolutions, plan testing 
results, participant contribution and distribution reports and payroll reconciliation 
documentation.  The next phase of the audit is derived from the Payroll Census (YTD Payroll 
Register) of employees paid during the year.  From this report, the auditor will select samples 
for eligibility testing to ensure compliance with the plan document.  Other samples will be 
requested to conduct the following tests:  Participant Contributions Test, Participant Investment 
Allocation Test, Participant Distributions Test, Participant Loans Test and Participant Rollover 
Test.  Other samples could be requested based on the outcome of these tests.   
 
AUL automatically files an extension for LSC’s 5500 Annual Tax Return/Report to allow 
adequate time for the completion of the audit.  With the extension, the deadline is October 15, 
2012.  The audit report is filed with the 5500.  AUL is currently working to complete the 5500 
and upon completion will send a draft copy to the auditor for review.   
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or require additional information.   

                                                           
1  The Treasury rate refers to the current interest rate that investors earn on debt securities issued by the U.S. 
Treasury.  The federal government borrows money by issuing U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds. 

42



Audit Committee Charter



CHARTER OF THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE OF  

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION 

I. Establishment

On March 24, 2008, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Legal Services 
Corporation (“LSC” or “Corporation”) established, as a standing committee of 
the Board, a committee to be known as the Audit Committee (the 
“Committee”), and adopted this as the Committee’s Charter. 

II. Purposes

The purpose of the Committee shall be to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibility to ensure that the Corporation’s assets are properly safeguarded; 
to oversee the quality and integrity of the Corporation’s accounting, auditing, 
and reporting practices; and to perform such other duties as assigned by the 
Board.

III. Membership

The Chairman of the Board  (‘Chairman”) shall appoint at least three Directors 
other than the Chairman to serve on the Committee.  The Chairman shall 
appoint the Chair of the Audit Committee from among these Directors.  Three 
Committee members will be required in order to constitute a quorum.  No 
member of the Committee may be an officer or employee of the Corporation.  
To the extent practicable, Members of the Committee should have at least a 
basic understanding of finance and accounting, be able to read and understand 
fundamental financial statements, and understand the Corporation’s financial 
operations and reporting requirements.   

IV. Terms

Members of the Committee shall serve for a term of one year, or until their 
earlier resignation, replacement or removal from the Committee or Board. 

V. Meetings

The Committee: 

(1)  shall meet at least four times per calendar year, but may meet more 
frequently at the call of any member of the Committee;   

(2) may adopt procedural rules that are not inconsistent with this Charter, the 
Corporation’s Bylaws, or the laws to which the Corporation is subject.   

43



2

VI. Resources 

All offices, divisions and components of the Corporation (“Management”), 
including the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) shall cooperate with all 
requests made by the Committee for information and support.  The Committee 
shall be given the resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities.

VII. Authority

The Committee: 

(1) unless otherwise directed by the Board, shall oversee the selection and 
retention of the external auditor (‘External Auditor(s)”) by the Inspector 
General (“IG”) of the Corporation; 

(2) shall have unrestricted access to the Corporation’s books, records, 
facilities, personnel, and External Auditor(s); 

(3) is authorized to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in this 
Charter, as well as any other activities reasonably related to the 
Committee’s purposes or as may be directed by the Board from time to 
time;   

(4) may delegate authority to one or more designated members of the 
Committee; 

(5) may rely on the expertise and knowledge of Management, the OIG, 
External Auditor(s), and such consultants and experts that the Board 
approves for carrying out its oversight responsibilities;

(6) may authorize to be conducted, or itself conduct, reviews into any matters 
within the scope of its responsibilities; and 

(7) may require any person, including the External Auditor or any officer or 
employee of the Corporation, to attend Committee meetings or to meet 
with any member(s) of or advisor(s) to the Committee. 

VIII. Duties and Responsibilities 

The Committee: 

(1) shall review with Management, the OIG, and the Corporation’s External 
Auditor(s) the contemplated scope and plan for LSC’s required annual 
audit;

(2) shall review and discuss with the External Auditor(s), the OIG, and 
Management the annual audit report and results of the External Auditor’s 
year-end audit, including any problems or difficulties encountered by the 

44



3

External Auditor(s); the OIG and the Management’s response to any audit 
findings, and any areas of significant disagreement between Management, 
the OIG, and the External Auditor(s); and any recommendations of the 
External Auditor(s); 

(3) shall in concert with the OIG annually review and confirm the 
independence of the External Auditor(s); 

(4) shall review with the OIG its internal audit responsibilities, sanctions, and 
performance; its internal audit plan and the risk assessment that drives its 
internal audit plan; and the effectiveness of its internal audit plan and 
activities; 

(5) shall consult with the IG as to an appropriate approach regarding 
communications and meetings between the Committee and the OIG; 

(6) shall confirm the existence of appropriate monitoring of LSC’s internal 
controls preventing or disclosing activities prohibited by statute, 
regulations or applicable circulars of the Office of Management and 
Budget;

(7) shall, in conjunction with the Board’s Finance Committee, review, 
monitor, and evaluate the effectiveness and execution of the Corporation’s 
policies and procedures with respect to identifying and managing financial 
and other risk exposures, and to assess the steps Management has taken to 
identify and control such risks to the Corporation; 

(8) shall review Management representation letters or certifications and the 
LSC Finance Committee chairperson’s letters or certifications regarding 
the contents, accuracy, or completeness of financial reports, as appropriate; 

(9) shall establish procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of 
complaints or expressions of concern regarding accounting, internal 
controls and auditing issues, and which procedures should provide for the 
anonymity and confidentiality of such communications from employees;  

(10) shall review and discuss with the OIG all significant matters relative to 
their financial audits and conduct of financial audits performed by the OIG, 
including any problems the OIG encountered while performing their 
audits; 

(11) shall ensure that significant findings and recommendations made by the 
OIG and External Auditor(s) are addressed and, where appropriate, 
implemented by Management and/or the Board on a timely basis; 

(12) shall report to the Board at least twice per calendar year and on such other 
occasions as requested to do so by the Board; 

45



4

(13) shall review all regulatory and internal control matters that may have a 
material effect on the Corporation’s financial statements; 

(14) shall periodically assess the Committee’s performance under the Charter, 
reassess the adequacy of the Charter, and report to the Board the results of 
the evaluation and any recommendations for proposed changes to the 
Charter;

(15) shall review any significant deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting identified by Management, the IG, or the External Auditor(s) and 
ensure that corrective action is taken by Management; and 

(16) shall perform such other duties, consistent with this Charter, as are 
delegated to the Committee by the Board. 

IX. Limitations 

(1)      Nothing contained in this Charter is intended to expand the applicable  
standards of liability under statutory or regulatory requirements for the 
Board or its Directors.

(2) Members of the Committee are entitled to rely on the expertise, 
knowledge, and judgment of Management, the Inspector General, and 
the External Auditor(s) and any consultant or expert retained by them.  
The Committee’s responsibilities are not to be interpreted as a 
substitute for the professional obligations of others. 

(3) It is not the duty of the Committee to conduct audits or to determine 
that the Corporation’s financial statements are in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, generally accepted 
government auditing standards (the “Yellow Book”) and other 
applicable rules, regulations, guidelines and instructions.  These are the 
responsibilities of the OIG, the External Auditor(s) and Management. 

(4) Nothing contained in this Charter shall be construed as circumscribing 
the authority of the Inspector General under the Inspector General Act 
or is intended to restrict the authority of the Inspector General to 
conduct, supervise, and coordinate audits and investigations relating to 
the programs and operations of the Corporation.

46



Blue Lined Version

47



CHARTER OF THE 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

OF 
LEGAL SERVICES 

CORPORATION 
As Amended, xx, 2012 

 
 
 

I. Establishment 
 

On March 24, 2008, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Legal Services 
Corporation (“LSC” or “Corporation”) established, as a standing committee of 
the Board, a committee to be known as the Audit Committee (the 
“Committee”)., and adopted this as the Committee’s Charter. 

 
II. Purposes 

 
The purpose of the Committee shall be: (1) to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibility to ensure that the Corporation’s assets are properly safeguarded; 
and to oversee the quality and integrity of the Corporation’s accounting, 
auditing, and reporting practices; and (2) to perform such other duties as 
assigned by the Board. 

 
III. Membership 

 
The Chairman of the Board  (‘“Chairman”) shall appoint at least three 
Directors other than the Chairman to serve on the Committee.  The Chairman 
shall appoint the Chair of the Audit Committee from among these Directors.  
T h e  B o a r d  m a y  a p p o i n t  n o n - D i r e c t o r s  a s  m e m b e r s  o f  t h e  
C o m m i t t e e .   Three Committee members will be required in order to 
constitute a quorum.  No member of the Committee may be an officer or 
employee of the Corporation.  To the extent practicable, m e m b e r s Members 
of the Committee should have at least a basic understanding of finance and 
accounting, be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, 
and understand the Corporation’s financial operations and reporting 
requirements. 

 
IV. Terms 

 
Members of the Committee shall serve for a term of one year, or until their 
earlier resignation, replacement or removal from the Committee or Board. 

 
V. Meetings 

 
The Committee: 

 
(1) shall meet at least four times per calendar year, but may meet more 

frequently at the call of any member of the Committee; and 
 48 



 

Page 2 
 

(2) may adopt procedural rules that are not inconsistent with this Charter, 
the Corporation’s Bylaws, or the laws to which the Corporation is 
subject. 

 
VI. Resources 

 
All offices, divisions and components of the Corporation (“Management”), 
including the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) shall cooperate with all 
requests made by the Committee for information and support.  The Committee 
shall be given the resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 

 
VII. Authority 

 
The Committee: 

 
(1) unless otherwise directed by the Board, shall oversee the selection and 

retention of the external auditor (‘External Auditor(s)”) by the Inspector 
General (“IG”) of the Corporation including the confirmation of the 
independence of external auditor; 

 
(2) shall have unrestricted access to the Corporation’s books, records, 

facilities, personnel, and External Auditor(s), except with regard to 
confidential information in the possession of the OIG that it is  
prohibited by law from sharing with the Board;  

 
(3) is authorized to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in 

this Charter, as well as any other activities reasonably related to the 
Committee’s purposes or as may be directed by the Board from time to 
time; 

 
(4) may delegate authority to one or more designated members of the 

Committee; 
 
(5) may rely on the expertise and knowledge of Management, the OIG, 

External Auditor(s), and such consultants and experts that the Board 
approves for carrying out its oversight responsibilities; 

 
(6) may authorize to be conducted, or itself conduct, reviews into any 

matters within the scope of its responsibilities; and  
 
(7) may require any person, including the External Auditor or any officer 

or employee of the Corporation, to attend Committee meetings or to 
meet with any member(s) of or advisor(s) to the Committee. 

 
VIII. Duties and Responsibilities 

 
A. Audits and Audit Related Matters  
 

49 



 

Page 3 
 

The Committee shall: 
 

(1) shall review and discuss with Management, the OIG, and the 
Corporation’s External Auditor(s) the contemplated scope and plan for 
LSC’s required annual audit; 

(2) shall review and discuss with the External Auditor(s), the OIG, and 
Management the annual audit report and results of the External 
Auditor’s year-end audit, including any problems or difficulties 
encountered by the External Auditor(s); any response by Management 
or the OIG to any audit findingsthe OIG and the Management’s response 
to any audit findings, and any areas of significant disagreement between 
Management, the OIG, and the External Auditor(s); and any 
recommendations of the External Auditor(s); 

(3) shall in concert with the OIG, annually review and confirm the 
independence of the External Auditor(s); 

 

 
 

(34)  shall review and discuss with the OIG its internal audit 
responsibilities, sanctions, and performance; its internal audit 
plan for the Corporation and the risk assessment that drives its internal 
audit plan; and the effectiveness of its internal audit plan and activities; 
and provide the OIG with any recommended audits that would assist 
the Committee or the Board of Directors; 

 
(45) (10) shall review and discuss with the OIG all significant matters 

relative to their financial audits and conduct of financial audits 
performed by the OIG, including any problems the OIG encountered 
while performing their audits; 

 
(56)  (11) shall ensure that review and discuss with Management and/or the 

Board the Corporation’s response to and, where appropriate, timely 
implementation of, significant findings and recommendations made by 
the OIG and External Auditor(s) are addressed and, where appropriate, 
implemented by Management and/or the Board on a timely basis; and  

 
(67)   review and discuss with Management any internal audit or reveiw 

activities, including its audit or review plan, its audit or reviewsummary 
reports, and the performance of those portions of Management that 
perform audits or reviews. 

 
B. Financial Reporting: 
 
The Committee shall: 

50 

Formatted:	Indent:	Left:		0",	First	line:		0",	Space
Before:		12	pt,	Line	spacing:		single

Formatted:	Indent:	Left:		0",	First	line:		0"



 

Page 4 
 

 
(1)   (8) shall review Management representation letters or 

certifications and the LSC Finance Committee chairperson’s letters or 
certifications regarding the contents, accuracy, or completeness of 
financial reports, as appropriate 
 

(2)   (13) shall review all regulatory and internal control mattersissues 
identified and brought to the Committee’s attention by Management, the 
OIG, the GAO or the External Auditor that may have a material effect 
on the Corporation’s financial statements; and 

 
(3)   (15) shall review any significant deficiencies in internal control over 

financial reporting identified by Management, the OIG, or the External 
Auditor(s) and ensure that corrective action is taken by Management. 

 
C. Risk Management 

 
The Committee shall: 

 
(1)  review LSC’ system of internal controls that are designed to 

minimize the risk of fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of funds, 
including by receiving information; 

a. from Management about whether internal controls performed by 
Management are operating properly; 

b. from OIG about whether its investigations function, audit function, and 
compliance function are operating properly; and 

c. from Management and OIG about whether there is proper coordination 
and communication between them regarding their respective operations 
designed to minimize the risk of fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of 
funds; 
(1) review LSC’s system of internal controls that are designed to 
minimize the risk of fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of funds, which 
review shall be conducted by receiving information about whether (a) 
internal controls performed by Management and the OIG (including 
investigations, audits, and compliance activities) are functioning 
properly, and (b) coordination and communication between the OIG and 
Management regarding internal control functions are occurring 
properly;  
 

(6) shall confirm the existence of appropriate monitoring of LSC’s internal 
controls preventing or disclosing activities prohibited by statute, 
regulations or applicable circulars of the Office of Management and 
Budget; 

 
(7) shall, in conjunction with the Board’s Finance Committee, review, 

monitor, and evaluate the effectiveness and execution of the 
Corporation’s policies and procedures with respect to identifying and 
managing financial and other risk exposures, and to assess the steps 

51 

Formatted:	Indent:	Left:		0.76",	Hanging:		0.49"

Formatted:	Font	color:	Auto

Formatted:	List	Paragraph,	Outline	numbered	+
Level:	2	+	Numbering	Style:	a,	b,	c,	…	+	Start	at:	1
+	Alignment:	Left	+	Aligned	at:		0.94"	+	Tab	after:	
‐0.06"	+	Indent	at:		1.19"

Formatted:	Indent:	Left:		1.25",		No	bullets	or
numbering



 

Page 5 
 

Management has taken to identify and control such risks to the 
Corporation; 
 

(2)   ensure that its review of the OIG’s investigations function occurs in 
a manner that does not compromise the OIG’s independence or the 
confidentiality of its investigations;  

 
(3)   (5) shallconsult with the IG Inspector General as to an appropriate 

approach regarding communications and meetings between the 
Committee and the OIG; 

(4)   review any concerns expressed regarding any impediments to the 
independence of the OIG in order to help ensure that the OIG remains 
independent as provided by law, including the provisions of the 
Inspector General Act; 

(5)   (9) shall establish confirm that there is a proper confidential 
mechanism in place for individuals to make complaints, anonymously if 
desired, regarding suspected fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of funds, 
or problems involving internal controls, auditing, or accounting, and 
that there are proper procedures in place for the receipt, retention, and 
treatment handling of such complaints or expressions of concern 
regarding accounting, internal controls and auditing issues, and which 
procedures should provide for the anonymity and confidentiality of such 
communications from employees; and 

(6)   review LSC’s efforts, by Management and/or the OIG, including 
training and education efforts, to help ensure that LSC employees and 
grantees act ethically and safeguard LSC funds. 

 
D. Other Duties and Responsibilities 

 
The Committee shall: 
 

(1)   (12) shall report to the Board at least twicefour times per calendar 
year and on such other occasions as requested to do so by the Board; 
 

(2)   (14) shall periodically assess the Committee’s performance under 
the Charter, reassess the adequacy of the Charter, and report to the 
Board the results of the evaluation and any recommendations for 
proposed changes to the Charter; and 

 
(3)   (16) shall perform such other duties, consistent with this Charter, as 

are delegatedassigned to the Committee by the Board. 
 

IX. Limitations 
 

52 



 

Page 6 
 

(1) Nothing contained in this Charter is intended to expand the applicable 
standards of liability under statutory or regulatory requirements for the 
Board or its Directors. 

 
(2) Members of the Committee are entitled to rely on the expertise, 

knowledge, and judgment of Management, the Inspector General, and 
the External Auditor(s) and any consultant or expert retained by them.  
The  Committee’s responsibilities are not to be interpreted as a 
substitute for the professional obligations of others. 

 
(3) It is not the duty of the Committee to conduct audits or to determine that 

the Corporation’s financial statements are in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, generally accepted government auditing 
standards (the “Yellow Book”) and other applicable rules, regulations, 
guidelines and instructions.  These are the responsibilities of the OIG, 
the  External Auditor(s) and Management. 

 
(4) Nothing contained in this Charter shall be construed as 

limitingcircumscribing the authority of the Inspector General under the 
Inspector General Act or is intended to restrict the authority of the 
Inspector General to conduct, supervise, and coordinate audits and 
investigations relating to the programs and operations of the 
Corporation. 

 
(5) Nothing contained in this Charter shall be construed as authorizing the 

Committee to exercise the powers of the Board of Directors. 
 

53 



Clean Copy

54



CHARTER OF THE 
AUDIT COMMITTEE OF 

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION 
As Amended, xx, 2012 

 
 
 

I. Establishment 
 

On March 24, 2008, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Legal Services 
Corporation (“LSC” or “Corporation”) established, as a standing committee of 
the Board, a committee to be known as the Audit Committee (the “Committee”). 

 
II. Purposes 

 
The purpose of the Committee shall be: (1) to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibility to ensure that the Corporation’s assets are properly safeguarded 
and to oversee the quality and integrity of the Corporation’s accounting, auditing, 
and reporting practices; and (2) to perform such other duties as assigned by the 
Board. 

 
III. Membership 

 
The Chairman of the Board  (“Chairman”) shall appoint at least three Directors 
other than the Chairman to serve on the Committee.  The Chairman shall 
appoint the Chair of the Audit Committee from among these Directors.  T h e  
B o a r d  m a y  a p p o i n t  n o n - D i r e c t o r s  a s  m e m b e r s  o f  t h e  
C o m m i t t e e .   Three Committee members will be required in order to 
constitute a quorum.  No member of the Committee may be an officer or 
employee of the Corporation.  To the extent practicable, members of the 
Committee should have at least a basic understanding of finance and 
accounting, be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, and 
understand the Corporation’s financial operations and reporting requirements. 

 
IV. Terms 

 
Members of the Committee shall serve for a term of one year, or until their 
earlier resignation, replacement or removal from the Committee or Board. 

 
V. Meetings 

 
The Committee: 

 
(1) shall meet at least four times per calendar year, but may meet more 

frequently at the call of any member of the Committee; and 
 
(2) may adopt procedural rules that are not inconsistent with this Charter, 

the Corporation’s Bylaws, or the laws to which the Corporation is subject. 

55 



  Page 2 

 
VI. Resources 

 
All offices, divisions and components of the Corporation (“Management”), 
including the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) shall cooperate with all 
requests made by the Committee for information and support.  The Committee 
shall be given the resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 

 
VII. Authority 

 
The Committee: 

 
(1) unless otherwise directed by the Board, shall oversee the selection and 

retention of the external auditor (‘External Auditor(s)”) by the Inspector 
General (“IG”) of the Corporation including the confirmation of the 
independence of external auditor; 

 
(2) shall have unrestricted access to the Corporation’s books, records, 

facilities, personnel, and External Auditor(s) except, with regard to 
confidential information in the possession of the OIG that it is prohibited 
by law from sharing with the Board;  

 
(3) is authorized to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in 

this Charter, as well as any other activities reasonably related to the 
Committee’s purposes or as may be directed by the Board from time to 
time; 

 
(4) may delegate authority to one or more designated members of the 

Committee; 
 
(5) may rely on the expertise and knowledge of Management, the OIG, 

External Auditor(s), and such consultants and experts that the Board 
approves for carrying out its oversight responsibilities; 

 
(6) may authorize to be conducted, or itself conduct, reviews into any 

matters within the scope of its responsibilities; and 
 
(7) may require any person, including the External Auditor or any officer 

or employee of the Corporation, to attend Committee meetings or to 
meet with any member(s) of or advisor(s) to the Committee. 

 
VIII. Duties and Responsibilities 

 
A. Audits and Audit Related Matters  
 
The Committee shall: 

 

56 



  Page 3 

(1) review and discuss with Management, the OIG, and the Corporation’s 
External Auditor(s) the contemplated scope and plan for LSC’s required 
annual audit; 

(2) review and discuss with the External Auditor(s), the OIG, and 
Management the annual audit report and results of the External Auditor’s 
year-end audit, including any problems or difficulties encountered by 
the External Auditor(s); any response by Management or the OIG to any 
audit findings, and any areas of significant disagreement between 
Management, the OIG, and the External Auditor(s); and any 
recommendations of the External Auditor(s); 

  
 

(3)  review and discuss with the OIG its audit responsibilities and 
performance; its audit plan for the Corporation and the risk assessment 
that drives its audit plan; and the effectiveness of its audit plan and 
activities; and provide the OIG with any recommended audits that would 
assist the Committee or the Board of Directors; 

 
(4)  review and discuss with the OIG all significant matters relative to 

audits performed by the OIG, including any problems the OIG 
encountered while  performing their audits;  

 
(5)  review and discuss with Management and the Board the Corporation’s 

response to and, where appropriate, timely implementation of, significant 
findings and recommendations made by the OIG and External 
Auditor(s); and 

 
(6)  review and discuss with Management any internal audit or review 

activities, including its audit or review plan, its audit or review reports, 
and the performance of those portions of Management that perform audits 
or reviews. 

 
B. Financial Reporting: 
 
The Committee shall: 
 
(1) review Management representation letters or certifications and the LSC 

Finance Committee chairperson’s letters or certifications regarding the 
contents, accuracy, or completeness of financial reports, as appropriate; 

 
(2) review all issues identified and brought to the Committee’s attention by 

Management, the OIG, the GAO or the External Auditor that may have a 
material effect on the Corporation’s financial statements; and 

 
(3) review any significant deficiencies in internal control over financial 

reporting identified by Management, the OIG, or the External Auditor(s) 
and ensure that corrective action is taken by Management. 

 

57 



  Page 4 

C. Risk Management 
 

The Committee shall: 
 

(1) review LSC’s system of internal controls that are designed to minimize the 
risk of fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of funds, including by receiving 
information; 

a. from Management about whether internal controls performed by 
Management are operating properly; 

b. from OIG about whether its investigations function, audit function, and 
compliance function are operating properly; and 

c. from Management and OIG about whether there is proper coordination 
and communication between them regarding their respective 
operations designed to minimize the risk of fraud, theft, corruption, or 
misuse of funds; 

 
 

(2) ensure that its review of the OIG’s investigations function occurs in a 
manner that does not compromise the OIG’s independence or the 
confidentiality of its investigations;  

 
(3) consult with the Inspector General as to an appropriate approach 

regarding communications and meetings between the Committee and the 
OIG; 

(4) review any concerns expressed regarding any impediments to the 
independence of the OIG; 

(5) confirm that there is a proper confidential mechanism in place for 
individuals to make complaints, anonymously if desired, regarding 
suspected fraud, theft, corruption, or misuse of funds, or problems 
involving internal controls, auditing, or accounting, and that there are 
proper procedures in place for the receipt, retention, and handling of such 
complaints; and 

(6) review LSC’s, including training and education efforts, to help ensure that 
LSC employees and grantees act ethically and safeguard LSC funds. 

 
D. Other Duties and Responsibilities 

 
The Committee shall: 
 

(1) report to the Board at least four times per calendar year and on such other 
occasions as requested to do so by the Board; 

 
(2) periodically assess the Committee’s performance under the Charter, 

reassess the adequacy of the Charter, and report to the Board the results of 
the evaluation and any recommendations for proposed changes to the 
Charter; and 

58 



  Page 5 

 
(3) perform such other duties, consistent with this Charter, as are assigned to 

the Committee by the Board. 
 

IX. Limitations 
 

(1) Nothing contained in this Charter is intended to expand the applicable 
standards of liability under statutory or regulatory requirements for the 
Board or its Directors. 

 
(2) Members of the Committee are entitled to rely on the expertise, 

knowledge, and judgment of Management, the Inspector General, and the 
External Auditor(s) and any consultant or expert retained by them.  The 
Committee’s responsibilities are not to be interpreted as a substitute for 
the professional obligations of others. 

 
(3) It is not the duty of the Committee to conduct audits or to determine that 

the Corporation’s financial statements are in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, generally accepted government auditing 
standards (the “Yellow Book”) and other applicable rules, regulations, 
guidelines and instructions.  These are the responsibilities of the OIG, the 
External Auditor(s) and Management. 

 
(4) Nothing contained in this Charter shall be construed as limiting the 

authority of the Inspector General under the Inspector General Act or is 
intended to restrict the authority of the Inspector General to conduct, 
supervise, and coordinate audits and investigations relating to the 
programs and operations of the Corporation. 

 
(5) Nothing contained in this Charter shall be construed as authorizing the 

Committee to exercise the powers of the Board of Directors. 
 

 
 

59 



Finance Committee



 1

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

July 27, 2012 
 

Agenda 
 

 
 
1. Approval of agenda 
 
2. Presentation on LSC’s Financial Reports for the first eight months of FY 2012   
 

 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller 
 
3. Consider and act on a Revised Consolidated Operating Budget for  

FY 2012, including internal budgetary adjustments and COB reallocation, and 
recommendation of Resolution 2012-XXX to the Board of Directors 

 
 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller 

 
4. Review of the Guidelines for Adoption, Review and Modification of the Consolidated 

Operating Budget  
 
 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller 

 
5. Discussion regarding the status of the FY 2013 appropriation process 

 
 Carol Bergman, Director, Government Relations and Public Affairs 

 
6. Consider and act on recommendation to the Board of  Directors for FY 2014 Budget 

Request   
 
 Presentation by Carol Bergman, Director, Government Relations and Public 

Affairs  
 Comments by David Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller 

 
7. Public comment 
 
8. Consider and act on other business 
 
9. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

60



Financial Reports for
 Eight Months



FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller   dlr

DATE: June 25, 2012

SUBJECT: May 2012 Financial Report 

The financial report for the period ending May 31, 2012, is attached for your 
review.  There are three worksheets that comprise this report:

Attachment A provides summary information for each element of the 
Consolidated Operating Budget (COB) in two sections.   

Attachment B presents Management and Grants Oversight’s budget and 
expenditures. 

Attachment C provides budget and expenditures for the Office of 
Inspector General (OIG).

The first section of Attachment A presents information for the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance, Roman numeral I, and the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance 
Program, Roman numeral II.  The expenditures for the reporting period are 
compared to the annual budget and the report shows the variance for each budget line. 
The expenditures are also compared to the same period of the prior year. 

I. There are four elements included in the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance:

1. The Basic Field Programs budget is $324,066,604; the grant 
expenses are $323,213,547.  The remaining funds of 
$853,057 are earmarked to support grants in the Mississippi, 
Wyoming, and American Samoa service areas. 

   

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

61



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
May 2012 Financial Report 
Page 2 

2. The U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds budget totals 
$2,730,170; a grant award was completed in May for 
$2,700,000. The remaining funds of $30,170 will support this 
year’s administrative expenses.   

3. The Grants from Other Funds budget totals $725,077; 
emergency grants totaling $253,346 have been awarded.  The 
balance of $471,731 is available to support additional one-
time grants. 

4. The Technology Initiatives budget totals $7,226,487.  Net 
grant expenses are $3,553,984 and are comprised of thirty-
seven grants totaling $3,644,146 and the cancelation of four 
grants totaling $90,162.  The remaining funds of $3,672,503 
will be used for this year’s technology grants and other 
technology initiative expenses. 

II. The Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program’s 
budget is $2,181,550; there are no loan expenses for the period.

The second section of Attachment A presents expenditures for Management and 
Grants Oversight (MGO), Roman numeral III, and the OIG, Roman numeral IV.
The expenditures are compared to a pro rata allocation of the annual budget based on 
the number of months into the fiscal year.  The presentation is made this way because 
MGO and OIG expenditures occur on a monthly basis.   

III. MGO’s annual budget totals $21,319,956.  The budget is 
comprised of the MGO operating budget of $19,169,600 and 
the Contingency Funds totaling $2,150,356.

The MGO operating budget allocation is $12,779,734 and is 
compared to the expenditures of $10,478,763.  This is 
$2,300,971 or 18.00% under budget. Encumbrances for the 
period are $123,017.  The expenditures are $775,930 less 
than the same period in 2011.   (MGO’s previous month’s 
variance was $2,122,345 or 18.98% under budget.)

Including the MGO Contingency Funds budget allocation of 
$1,433,571 for the period, the percentage under budget is 
26.27%, which compares to 27.15% under budget from the 
April Financial Report. 

62



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
May 2012 Financial Report 
Page 3 

IV. OIG’s annual budget totals $6,431,553.  The budget consists 
of the OIG operating budget of $5,330,755 and the 
Contingency Funds of $1,100,798 to support the office’s 
multi-year budget plans.   

The OIG operating budget allocation is $3,553,837 and 
compares to the actual expenditures of $2,954,276.

This is $599,561 or 16.87% under budget.  Encumbrances 
for the period are $241,806.  The expenditures are $303,674 
more than in 2011.  (OIG’s previous month’s variance was 
$524,376 or 16.86% under budget.)   

Including the OIG Contingency Funds budget allocation of 
$733,865, the percentage under budget is 31.10%.  This 
compares to 31.09% under budget from the previous 
month’s report. 

Attachment B, page 1, presents comparative budgets and expenditures for MGO 
by cost center; all cost centers are under budget.  Attachment B, page 2, shows the 
budgets and expenditures by budget category for the MGO operating budget 
categories.  The variances reveal that we are under budget in each category.

The largest variance under budget of $907,768 is from the Compensation and 
Benefits category.  The reason for this variance is because we continue to have a 
number of open positions. 

The open positions by cost center are as follows:

Executive Office – Vice President for Grants Management, Director 
of Institutional Advancement, and an Administrative Assistant;

Legal Affairs – Assistant General Counsel and an Administrative 
Assistant;

Program Performance – Deputy Director, Program Counsel, and 
Program Analyst;  

Information Management – Research Assistant; and  

Compliance and Enforcement – Director and an Administrative 
Assistant.

63



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
May 2012 Financial Report 
Page 4 

The second largest variance under budget is in the Travel and Transportation 
category, in the amount of $410,893.  Travel expenses are projected to increase 
in the coming months because of the seasonality of travel during the fiscal year. 

The third largest variance under budget is in the Consulting budget category in 
the amount of $369,266.   The cost centers that account for these variances 
include:

Board of Directors – costs for Strategic Planning, the implementation 
phase of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force recommendations, and 
Institutional Development; 

Executive Office – for a union negotiation facilitator;  

Legal Affairs – for outside counsel costs;

Human Resources – for an auditor regarding LSC’s retirement 
program;  

Program Performance – for a consulting firm to review the internal 
controls of the grant competition process, per a Government 
Accountability Office recommendation; and

Compliance and Enforcement – for consulting services related to 
developing a fiscal risk assessment program and on-site fiscal review 
program consistent with best practices. 

Attachment B, page 3, shows the MGO Contingency Funds budget categories. 
Attachment B, page 4, provides a summary of the expenditures by office and by budget 
category.

When the MGO Operating Budget and Contingency Funds are combined, Other 
Operating Expenses is the second largest budget category.  Because of this, the Board 
has asked for a breakdown of the spending by account, which is reflected in 
Attachment C.

64



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
May 2012 Financial Report 
Page 5 

Attachment D, page 1, shows a comparative OIG budget and expenditures by 
budget category; the budget categories are all under budget. 

The largest budget category variances in the OIG budget include funds for: 

A. Consulting totaling $218,319; the OIG has $218,072 in encumbrances 
for the second round of Quality Control Reviews of grantees’ audit 
reports performed by independent Public Accountants and for IT 
support services including network operations, a new OIG intranet and 
a document management system. 

B. Compensation and Benefits totaling $123,774 because of two open 
positions -- a Program Evaluation Analyst and an Auditor. 

Attachment D, page 2, shows the budget and expenditures by budget category 
for the OIG Contingency Funds; the budget categories are all under budget.  The 
unused OIG Contingency Funds are earmarked for the multi-year spend-down plan. 

If you have any questions, please let me know.   

Attachments (A – B – C - D) 

cc Board of Directors 
 President 
 Corporate Secretary 
 Inspector General 

65



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 A
 

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 W

O
R

K
S

H
E

E
T

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
 2

0
1
2

P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

  
  
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

 
  

  
  

%
 O

F
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

  
  
B

U
D

 V
S

 A
C

T
  

  
  

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

  
  
A

N
N

U
A

L
  
  
A

N
N

U
A

L
  
  
U

N
D

E
R

 /
 

  
  

  
U

N
D

E
R

 /
 

E
N

C
U

M
-

  
  

  
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

  
  

  
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

  
  
B

U
D

G
E

T
  
 A

C
T

U
A

L
  
  
B

U
D

G
E

T
  
  
(O

V
E

R
)

  
  

  
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
  

  
  

A
C

T
U

A
L

IN
C

R
 /

 (
D

E
C

R
)

  
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

  
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

  
  
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

  
  
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

  
 I
. 
 D

E
L

IV
E

R
Y

 O
F

 L
E

G
A

L
 A

S
S

IS
T

A
N

C
E

  
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

  
 1

. 
B

a
s
ic

 F
ie

ld
 P

ro
g

ra
m

s
$
3
2
4
,0

6
6
,6

0
4

3
2
3
,2

1
3
,5

4
7

  
  
  
  
  
  

$
3
2
4
,0

6
6
,6

0
4

$
8
5
3
,0

5
7

0
.2

6
$
0

$
3
7
7
,5

2
0
,6

7
9

($
5
4
,3

0
7
,1

3
2
)

  
 2

. 
U

S
 C

o
u

rt
 o

f 
V

e
ts

 A
p

p
e
a
ls

 F
u

n
d

s
  

2
,7

3
0
,1

7
0

2
,7

0
0
,0

0
0

2
,7

3
0
,1

7
0

3
0
,1

7
0

1
.1

1
0

1
,8

2
0
,0

1
8

8
7
9
,9

8
2

  
 3

. 
G

ra
n

ts
 F

ro
m

 O
th

e
r 

F
u

n
d

s
 

7
2
5
,0

7
7

2
5
3
,3

4
6

7
2
5
,0

7
7

4
7
1
,7

3
1

6
5
.0

6
0

0
2
5
3
,3

4
6

  
 4

. 
T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 I
n

it
ia

ti
v
e
s

7
,2

2
6
,4

8
7

3
,5

5
3
,9

8
4

7
,2

2
6
,4

8
7

3
,6

7
2
,5

0
3

5
0
.8

2
0

3
,0

4
2
,8

9
4

5
1
1
,0

9
0

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

  
 T

O
T

A
L

 D
E

L
IV

E
R

Y
 O

F
 L

E
G

A
L

 A
S

S
IS

T
A

N
C

E
$
3
3
4
,7

4
8
,3

3
8

$
3
2
9
,7

2
0
,8

7
7

$
3
3
4
,7

4
8
,3

3
8

$
5
,0

2
7
,4

6
1

1
.5

0
$
0

$
3
8
2
,3

8
3
,5

9
1

($
5
2
,6

6
2
,7

1
4
)

 I
l.
 H

E
R

B
E

R
T

 S
. 
G

A
R

T
E

N
 L

O
A

N

  
  
 R

E
P

A
Y

M
E

N
T

 A
S

S
IS

T
A

N
C

E
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

$
2
,1

8
1
,5

5
0

$
0

$
2
,1

8
1
,5

5
0

**
$
2
,1

8
1
,5

5
0

1
0
0
.0

0
$
0

$
8
5
6
,5

3
2

($
8
5
6
,5

3
2
)

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

E
IG

H
T

H
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

 
%

 O
F

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

M
O

N
T

H
 O

F
 

B
U

D
 V

S
 A

C
T

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

F
Y

 2
0
1
2

U
N

D
E

R
 /
 

U
N

D
E

R
 /

 
E

N
C

U
M

-
  

  
  

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
  

  
  

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

*
(O

V
E

R
)

(O
V

E
R

)
B

R
A

N
C

E
S

  
  

  
A

C
T

U
A

L
IN

C
R

 /
 (

D
E

C
R

)

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 I
II
. 
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 &

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--

  
 1

. 
M

 G
 &

 O
 O

p
e
ra

ti
n

g
 B

u
d

g
e
t 

$
1
9
,1

6
9
,6

0
0

$
1
0
,4

7
8
,7

6
3

$
1
2
,7

7
9
,7

3
4

$
2
,3

0
0
,9

7
1

1
8
.0

0
$
1
2
3
,0

1
7

$
1
1
,2

5
4
,6

9
3

($
7
7
5
,9

3
0
)

  
 1

. 
M

 G
 &

 O
 C

o
n

ti
n

g
e
n

c
y
 F

u
n

d
s
 

2
,1

5
0
,3

5
6

0
1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

1
0
0
.0

0
0

0
0

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

T
O

T
A

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 G

R
A

N
T

S
 &

 O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

$
2
1
,3

1
9
,9

5
6

$
1
0
,4

7
8
,7

6
3

$
1
4
,2

1
3
,3

0
5

$
3
,7

3
4
,5

4
2

2
6
.2

7
$
1
2
3
,0

1
7

$
1
1
,2

5
4
,6

9
3

($
7
7
5
,9

3
0
)

 I
V

. 
IN

S
P

E
C

T
O

R
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--

  
 1

. 
I 
G

 O
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 B

u
d

g
e
t

$
5
,3

3
0
,7

5
5

$
2
,9

5
4
,2

7
6

$
3
,5

5
3
,8

3
7

$
5
9
9
,5

6
1

1
6
.8

7
$
2
4
1
,8

0
6

$
2
,6

5
0
,6

0
2

$
3
0
3
,6

7
4

  
 2

. 
I 
G

 C
o

n
ti

n
g

e
n

c
y
 F

u
n

d
s

1
,1

0
0
,7

9
8

0
7
3
3
,8

6
5

7
3
3
,8

6
5

1
0
0
.0

0
0

0
0

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

T
O

T
A

L
 I
N

S
P

E
C

T
O

R
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

$
6
,4

3
1
,5

5
3

$
2
,9

5
4
,2

7
6

$
4
,2

8
7
,7

0
2

$
1
,3

3
3
,4

2
6

3
1
.1

0
$
2
4
1
,8

0
6

$
2
,6

5
0
,6

0
2

$
3
0
3
,6

7
4

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

T
O

T
A

L
 

$
3
6
4
,6

8
1
,3

9
7

$
3
4
3
,1

5
3
,9

1
6

$
3
5
5
,4

3
0
,8

9
5

$
1
2
,2

7
6
,9

7
9

$
3
6
4
,8

2
3

$
3
9
7
,1

4
5
,4

1
8

($
5
3
,9

9
1
,5

0
2
)

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

  
  

  
  

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

 

*
8
/1

2
T

H
S

 O
F

 T
H

E
 1

2
 M

O
N

T
H

 B
U

D
G

E
T

**
$
3
5
3
,9

3
4

L
R

A
P

 A
C

C
O

U
N

T
S

 R
E

C
E

IV
A

B
L

E

F
  
 I
  
 S

  
 C

  
 A

  
 L

  
  
  
Y

  
 E

  
 A

  
 R

  
  
  
2
  
 0

  
 1

  
 2

C
  

O
  

M
  

P
  

A
  

R
  

A
  

T
  

I 
 V

  
E 6/

25
/2

01
2

66



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 B

P
A

G
E

 1
 O

F
 4

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 W

O
R

K
S

H
E

E
T

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
 2

0
1
2

P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

E
IG

H
T

H
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

 
%

 O
F

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

M
O

N
T

H
 O

F
 

B
U

D
 V

S
 A

C
T

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

F
Y

 2
0
1
2

U
N

D
E

R
 /
 

U
N

D
E

R
 /

 
E

N
C

U
M

-
  

  
  

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
  

  
  

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
V

E
R

)
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
  

  
  

A
C

T
U

A
L

IN
C

R
 /

 (
D

E
C

R
)

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 I
II
. 
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 &

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--

  
 1

. 
B

o
a
rd

 o
f 

D
ir

e
c
to

rs
 

$
6
3
0
,5

0
0

$
2
2
9
,1

8
2

$
4
2
0
,3

3
3

$
1
9
1
,1

5
1

4
5
.4

8
$
5
1
,5

9
9

$
2
1
4
,9

7
1

$
1
4
,2

1
1

  
 2

. 
E

x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
 O

ff
ic

e
1
,0

2
2
,5

0
0

3
5
9
,8

9
9

6
8
1
,6

6
7

3
2
1
,7

6
8

4
7
.2

0
0

3
0
3
,9

3
0

5
5
,9

6
9

  
 3

. 
L

e
g

a
l 
A

ff
a
ir

s
1
,4

3
7
,8

5
0

7
6
9
,2

1
8

9
5
8
,5

6
7

1
8
9
,3

4
9

1
9
.7

5
5
,1

3
0

8
2
1
,5

2
6

(5
2
,3

0
8
)

  
 4

. 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n

t 
R

e
la

ti
o

n
s
/P

u
b

li
c
 A

ff
a
ir

s
9
1
3
,2

0
0

5
2
1
,7

2
0

6
0
8
,8

0
0

8
7
,0

8
0

1
4
.3

0
0

5
5
0
,0

8
8

(2
8
,3

6
8
)

  
 5

. 
H

u
m

a
n

 R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

7
9
8
,2

0
0

4
7
0
,6

6
1

5
3
2
,1

3
3

6
1
,4

7
2

1
1
.5

5
1
3
,2

3
0

4
5
5
,7

3
4

1
4
,9

2
7

  
 6

. 
F

in
a
n

c
ia

l 
&

 A
d

m
in

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

3
,3

8
9
,2

0
0

2
,0

0
2
,7

6
3

2
,2

5
9
,4

6
7

2
5
6
,7

0
4

1
1
.3

6
2
1
,8

1
2

2
,1

1
0
,0

7
1

(1
0
7
,3

0
8
)

  
 7

. 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 T
e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
1
,8

5
5
,9

5
0

9
8
4
,1

2
1

1
,2

3
7
,3

0
0

2
5
3
,1

7
9

2
0
.4

6
2
4
,8

4
6

1
,1

8
2
,8

9
5

(1
9
8
,7

7
4
)

  
 8

. 
P

ro
g

ra
m

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

4
,1

9
8
,6

5
0

2
,4

6
6
,0

8
7

2
,7

9
9
,1

0
0

3
3
3
,0

1
3

1
1
.9

0
6
,4

0
0

2
,6

3
2
,8

4
5

(1
6
6
,7

5
8
)

  
 9

. 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
6
7
5
,2

5
0

4
0
1
,4

7
6

4
5
0
,1

6
7

4
8
,6

9
1

1
0
.8

2
0

4
1
8
,3

7
7

(1
6
,9

0
1
)

  
1
0
. 
C

o
m

p
li
a
n

c
e
 &

 E
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t
4
,2

4
8
,3

0
0

2
,2

7
3
,6

3
6

2
,8

3
2
,2

0
0

5
5
8
,5

6
4

1
9
.7

2
0

2
,5

6
4
,2

5
6

(2
9
0
,6

2
0
)

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

  
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 &

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

 S
U

B
T

O
T

A
L

$
1
9
,1

6
9
,6

0
0

$
1
0
,4

7
8
,7

6
3

$
1
2
,7

7
9
,7

3
4

$
2
,3

0
0
,9

7
1

1
8
.0

0
$
1
2
3
,0

1
7

$
1
1
,2

5
4
,6

9
3

($
7
7
5
,9

3
0
)

  
1
1
. 
M

 G
 &

 O
 C

o
n

ti
n

g
e
n

c
y
 F

u
n

d
s

2
,1

5
0
,3

5
6

0
1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

1
0
0
.0

0
0

0
0

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
 -

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

  
T

O
T

A
L

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 &
 G

R
A

N
T

S
 O

V
E

R
S

IG
H

T
$
2
1
,3

1
9
,9

5
6

$
1
0
,4

7
8
,7

6
3

$
1
4
,2

1
3
,3

0
5

$
3
,7

3
4
,5

4
2

2
6
.2

7
$
1
2
3
,0

1
7

$
1
1
,2

5
4
,6

9
3

($
7
7
5
,9

3
0
)

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

  
  

  
  

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
 

 =
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

=
=

 

*
8
/1

2
T

H
S

 O
F

 T
H

E
 1

2
 M

O
N

T
H

 B
U

D
G

E
T

F
  
 I
  
 S

  
 C

  
 A

  
 L

  
  
  
Y

  
 E

  
 A

  
 R

  
  
  
2
  
 0

  
 1

  
 2

C
  

O
  

M
  

P
  

A
  

R
  

A
  

T
  

I 
 V

  
E 6/

25
/2

01
2

67



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

B

P
A

G
E

 2
 O

F
 4

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 B

Y
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 C

A
T

E
G

O
R

Y

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
Y

 2
0

1
2

 -
 P

E
R

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 M

A
Y

 3
1

, 
2

0
1

2

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
T

S
 O

V
E

R
S

IG
H

T

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F
  

I 
 S

  
C

  
A

  
L

  
  

Y
  

E
  

A
  

R
  

  
2

  
0

 1
  

2

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

%
 O

F
 

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

E
IG

H
T

H
B

U
D

 V
S

 A
C

T
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
T

H
U

N
D

E
R

 /
U

N
D

E
R

/
E

N
C

U
M

-
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
V

E
R

)
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
A

C
T

U
A

L
IN

C
R

 /
 (

D
E

C
R

)

T
O

T
A

L
 C

O
M

P
./

B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
1

2
,9

2
5

,2
5

0
  

  
  

  
  

7
,7

0
9

,0
6

9
  

  
  

  
  

8
,6

1
6

,8
3

7
  

  
  

  
  

9
0

7
,7

6
8

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
0

.5
3

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
8

,0
8

3
,4

0
0

  
  

  
  

  
(3

7
4

,3
3

1
)

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

6
3

6
,2

5
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
3

8
,4

6
2

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
4

2
4

,1
6

6
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
8

5
,7

0
4

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
3

.7
8

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
2

8
4

,6
5

0
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

(4
6

,1
8

8
)

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
1

,0
6

7
,1

0
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

3
4

2
,1

3
5

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
7

1
1

,4
0

1
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
6

9
,2

6
6

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

5
1

.9
1

7
1

,2
2

9
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
2

9
2

,8
0

5
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
9

,3
3

0

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
1

,3
0

4
,1

5
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

4
5

8
,5

4
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
8

6
9

,4
3

3
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
1

0
,8

9
3

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
7

.2
6

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
5

2
3

,3
7

7
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

(6
4

,8
3

7
)

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

1
5

2
,1

5
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

5
6

,5
4

6
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

0
1

,4
3

3
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
4

,8
8

7
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
4

.2
5

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
7

1
,4

1
6

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

(1
4

,8
7

0
)

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
1

,7
5

8
,5

0
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
,1

4
0

,5
0

0
  

  
  

  
  

1
,1

7
2

,3
3

3
  

  
  

  
  

3
1

,8
3

3
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
.7

2
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
,1

4
6

,5
8

9
  

  
  

  
  

(6
,0

8
9

)

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

9
1

,1
0

0
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
9

,3
8

8
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
6

0
,7

3
2

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
1

,3
4

4
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
5

.1
4

2
1

,8
1

2
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
4

0
,5

3
7

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

(1
,1

4
9

)

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
8

4
6

,4
0

0
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
4

3
7

,1
5

9
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

5
6

4
,2

6
6

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

2
7

,1
0

7
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
2

2
.5

3
2

9
,9

7
6

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

4
5

3
,9

9
1

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
(1

6
,8

3
2

)

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
3

8
8

,7
0

0
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
5

6
,9

6
4

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
5

9
,1

3
3

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
2

0
2

,1
6

9
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
7

8
.0

2
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

3
5

7
,9

2
8

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
(3

0
0

,9
6

4
)

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 T

O
T

A
L

$
1

9
,1

6
9

,6
0

0
1

0
,4

7
8

,7
6

3
  

  
  

  
1

2
,7

7
9

,7
3

4
  

  
  

  
2

,3
0

0
,9

7
1

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
8

.0
0

1
2

3
,0

1
7

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

1
,2

5
4

,6
9

3
  

  
  

  
(7

7
5

,9
3

0
)

rd
s
b

c
o

.v
is

a
.x

ls
 B

C
  

O
  

M
  

P
  

A
  

R
  

A
  

T
  

I 
 V

  
E

68



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 B

P
A

G
E

 3
 O

F
 4

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 B

Y
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 C

A
T

E
G

O
R

Y

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
Y

 2
0
1
2
 -

 P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 &
 O

V
E

R
S

IG
H

T
 C

O
N

T
IN

G
E

N
C

Y
 F

U
N

D
S

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F
  
I 
 S

  
C

  
A

  
L

  
  
Y

  
E

  
A

  
R

  
  
2
  
0
 1

2

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

%
 O

F
 

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

E
IG

H
T

H
B

U
D

 V
S

 A
C

T
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
T

H
U

N
D

E
R

 /
U

N
D

E
R

/
E

N
C

U
M

-
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
V

E
R

)
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
A

C
T

U
A

L
IN

C
R

 /
 (

D
E

C
R

)

T
O

T
A

L
 C

O
M

P
./
B

E
N

E
F

IT
S

4
2
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
8
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
8
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
1
,7

3
0
,3

5
6

  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,1

5
3
,5

7
1

  
  
  
  
  

1
,1

5
3
,5

7
1

  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

O
T

A
L

2
,1

5
0
,3

5
6

  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

  
  
  
  
  

1
,4

3
3
,5

7
1

  
  
  
  
  

$
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

rd
s

b
c

o
.v

is
a

.x
ls

 B

C
  
O

  
M

  
P

  
A

  
R

  
A

  
T

  
I 
 V

  
E

69



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 B

P
A

G
E

 4
 O

F
 4

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

 F
O

R
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

 2
0
1
2

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
Y

 2
0
1
2
 -

 P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
T

S
 O

V
E

R
S

IG
H

T

B
O

A
R

D
O

F
F

IC
E

O
F

 
E

X
E

C
U

T
IV

E
L

E
G

A
L

 
G

O
V

'T
 R

E
L

H
U

M
A

N
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 &

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
S

O
F

F
IC

E
A

F
F

A
IR

S
P

U
B

L
IC

 A
F

F
S

R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
A

D
M

IN
 S

R
V

C
S

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
4
1
,9

6
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6
3
9
,7

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

4
9
9
,7

3
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
1
7
,9

3
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6
0
0
,6

1
7

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,1

7
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
4
,3

9
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
9
8
,6

5
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
5
,4

3
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
2
8

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
8
,9

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
1
0
1
,0

7
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
5
,2

9
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
,6

6
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

6
,9

8
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
4
8

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
,0

2
1

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

2
,4

1
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,3

9
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,5

3
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2
,1

8
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,3

9
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6
,5

7
3

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,1

4
0
,0

0
0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
9
,3

8
8

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
2
7
,0

3
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
5
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
2
,6

5
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
2
,0

9
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
7
,2

3
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
0
7
,1

7
9

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,9

8
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

O
T

A
L

$
2
2
9
,1

8
2

$
3
5
9
,8

9
9

$
7
6
9
,2

1
8

$
5
2
1
,7

2
0

$
4
7
0
,6

6
1

2
,0

0
2
,7

6
3

T
O

T
A

L

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 

C
O

M
P

L
IA

N
C

E
 &

M
G

T
 &

 G
R

A
N

T
S

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
E

N
F

O
R

C
E

M
E

N
T

C
O

N
T

IN
G

E
N

C
Y

O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
6
7
6
,4

0
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,1

1
3
,5

2
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

3
8
5
,6

1
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2
,0

3
3
,5

1
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
,7

0
9
,0

6
9

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

Y
 E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
2
7
,8

3
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

9
5
,0

6
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
3
8
,4

6
2

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
9
4
,2

5
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
4
,1

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
4
2
,1

3
5

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
8
,1

5
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
7
3
,3

2
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
3
8
,2

7
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
5
8
,5

4
0

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

2
2
,3

7
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
,9

6
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6
,7

0
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
6
,5

4
6

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,1

4
0
,5

0
0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
9
,3

8
8

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
1
2
7
,9

5
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
6
,8

4
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
5
,8

4
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
3
7
,1

5
9

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
5
4
,9

7
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
6
,9

6
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

O
T

A
L

$
9
8
4
,1

2
1

2
,4

6
6
,0

8
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$
4
0
1
,4

7
6

$
2
,2

7
3
,6

3
6

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
,4

7
8
,7

6
3

70



A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t
C

P
ag

e
1

o
f

2

O
th

er
 O

pe
ra

tin
g 

E
xp

en
se

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
m

on
th

 o
f M

ay

A
N

N
U

A
L 

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

8-
M

O
N

T
H

 B
U

D
G

E
T

V
ar

ia
nc

e
84

6,
40

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

 
43

7,
15

9.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

56
4,

26
6.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

12
7,

10
7.

00
   

 

A
C

C
O

U
N

T
 C

O
D

E
S

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
C

O
S

T
 C

E
N

T
E

R
S

Y
T

D
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

S
16

,9
44

.1
8

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
16

,2
56

.0
8

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

78
,6

34
.3

4
56

00
   

   
   

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T

 R
E

N
T

A
L

T
O

T
A

L
11

1,
83

4.
60

LE
G

A
L 

A
F

F
A

IR
S

69
.6

9
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

39
,4

33
.3

1
IN

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
4,

91
2.

86
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

 P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
86

0.
00

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1,

23
1.

12
56

10
   

   
   

 O
F

F
IC

E
 S

U
P

P
LI

E
S

T
O

T
A

L
46

,5
06

.9
8

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

27
0.

69
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

1,
40

9.
45

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

11
,0

94
.7

9
56

11
   

   
   

 O
F

F
IC

E
 E

Q
U

IP
M

E
N

T
T

O
T

A
L

12
,7

74
.9

3

O
F

A
S

 / 
M

A
IL

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

G
R

A
P

H
IC

S
10

4,
60

3.
85

56
20

   
   

   
 C

O
M

M
E

R
IC

A
L 

IN
S

U
R

A
N

C
E

T
O

T
A

L
10

4,
60

3.
85

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
19

,3
47

.4
4

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

 R
E

LA
T

IO
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
F

F
A

IR
S

62
.9

5
IN

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
32

,6
45

.4
1

LE
G

A
L 

A
F

F
A

IR
S

11
,9

70
.0

0
56

40
   

   
   

 D
A

T
A

 P
R

O
C

E
S

S
IN

G
T

O
T

A
L

64
,0

25
.8

0

71



A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t
C

P
ag

e
2

o
f

2

A
C

C
O

U
N

T
 C

O
D

E
S

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
C

O
S

T
 C

E
N

T
E

R
S

Y
T

D
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

S
9,

40
2.

00
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
 R

E
LA

T
IO

N
S

/P
U

B
LI

C
 A

F
F

A
IR

S
4,

14
8.

16
H

U
M

A
N

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
10

,8
46

.5
0

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

14
,8

19
.2

9
56

50
   

   
   

 A
D

V
E

R
T

IS
IN

G
 &

 C
LI

P
P

IN
G

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
T

O
T

A
L

39
,2

15
.9

5

E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

 O
F

F
IC

E
25

5.
00

LE
G

A
L 

A
F

F
A

IR
S

25
5.

00
56

60
   

   
   

 D
U

E
S

 &
 M

E
M

B
E

R
S

H
IP

S
T

O
T

A
L

51
0.

00

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

 R
E

LA
T

IO
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
F

F
A

IR
S

7,
61

9.
13

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

36
2.

10
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

75
6.

15
IN

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
38

0.
00

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
10

,4
83

.5
6

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

1,
16

0.
24

C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E
 &

 E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
62

.7
0

56
70

   
   

   
 S

U
B

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
S

T
O

T
A

L
20

,8
23

.8
8

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

3,
32

0.
31

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
18

,8
47

.0
5

56
80

   
   

   
 E

M
P

LO
Y

E
E

 L
E

C
T

U
R

E
S

/O
T

H
E

R
 A

C
T

IV
IT

I E
T

O
T

A
L

22
,1

67
.3

6

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

S
68

4.
14

LE
G

A
L 

A
F

F
A

IR
S

36
0.

30
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
 R

E
LA

T
IO

N
S

/P
U

B
LI

C
 A

F
F

A
IR

S
26

6.
00

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

2,
43

3.
46

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
6,

20
0.

63
IN

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
61

0.
00

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
4,

13
0.

24
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

 &
 E

N
F

O
R

C
E

M
E

N
T

10
.0

0
56

90
   

   
   

 O
F

F
IC

E
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
T

O
T

A
L

14
,6

94
.7

7

   
   

   
   

 T
O

T
A

L 
 O

T
H

E
R

 O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

43
7,

15
8.

12

72



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 D

P
A

G
E

 1
 O

F
 2

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 B

Y
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 C

A
T

E
G

O
R

Y

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
Y

 2
0
1
2
 -

 P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

IN
S

P
E

C
T

O
R

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F
  
I 
 S

  
C

  
A

  
L

  
  
Y

  
E

  
A

  
R

  
  
2
  
0
 1

2

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

%
 O

F
 

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

E
IG

H
T

H
B

U
D

 V
S

 A
C

T
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
T

H
U

N
D

E
R

 /
U

N
D

E
R

/
E

N
C

U
M

-
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
V

E
R

)
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
A

C
T

U
A

L
IN

C
R

 /
 (

D
E

C
R

)

T
O

T
A

L
 C

O
M

P
./
B

E
N

E
F

IT
S

3
,9

5
4
,4

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  

2
,5

1
2
,4

9
3

  
  
  
  
  

2
,6

3
6
,2

6
7

  
  
  
  
  

1
2
3
,7

7
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
.7

0
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,3

5
4
,9

9
8

  
  
  
  
  

1
5
7
,4

9
5

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

4
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
2
,6

4
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
6
,6

6
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
,0

2
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
5
.0

7
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
9
,6

4
7

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
6
1
9
,8

5
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
9
4
,9

1
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
1
3
,2

3
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
1
8
,3

1
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
2
.8

3
2
1
8
,0

7
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
1
,5

4
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
4
3
,3

7
4

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
3
8
5
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
3
7
,4

2
2

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
5
6
,6

6
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
1
9
,2

4
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
6
.4

6
2
2
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
1
4
,1

7
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
3
,2

5
2

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

3
4
,0

5
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
3
,1

2
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
2
,7

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
,5

7
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
2
.1

8
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
1
,0

8
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,0

4
5

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
6
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
0
.0

0
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,0

0
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

(1
,0

0
7
)

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

1
0
,1

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
,0

0
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6
,7

3
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,7

2
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
5
.6

5
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
,4

7
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
,5

3
5

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
8
1
,3

5
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
0
,2

2
8

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
4
,2

3
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
4
,0

0
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
4
.2

7
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
7
,3

6
8

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

(7
,1

4
0
)

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
2
0
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
8
,4

4
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
3
3
,3

3
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
4
,8

9
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
1
.1

7
1
,7

3
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
3
,9

6
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

(3
5
,5

2
7
)

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

O
T

A
L

$
5
,3

3
0
,7

5
5

2
,9

5
4
,2

7
6

  
  
  
  
  

3
,5

5
3
,8

3
7

  
  
  
  
  

5
9
9
,5

6
1

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
6
.8

7
2
4
1
,8

0
6

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
,6

5
0
,6

0
2

  
  
  
  
  

3
0
3
,6

7
4

rd
s

b
c

o
.v

is
a

.x
ls

 B

C
  
O

  
M

  
P

  
A

  
R

  
A

  
T

  
I 
 V

  
E

73



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 D

P
A

G
E

 2
 O

F
 2

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 B

Y
 B

U
D

G
E

T
 C

A
T

E
G

O
R

Y

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 E
IG

H
T

H
 M

O
N

T
H

 O
F

 F
Y

 2
0
1
2
 -

 P
E

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 3

1
, 
2
0
1
2

IN
S

P
E

C
T

O
R

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 C

O
N

T
IN

G
E

N
C

Y
 F

U
N

D
S

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F
  
I 
 S

  
C

  
A

  
L

  
  
Y

  
E

  
A

  
R

  
  
2
  
0
 1

2

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E
 

%
 O

F
 

V
A

R
IA

N
C

E

E
IG

H
T

H
B

U
D

 V
S

 A
C

T
V

A
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
S

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
T

H
U

N
D

E
R

 /
U

N
D

E
R

/
E

N
C

U
M

-
P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

E
T

A
C

T
U

A
L

B
U

D
G

E
T

(O
V

E
R

)
(O

V
E

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
E

S
A

C
T

U
A

L
IN

C
R

 /
 (

D
E

C
R

)

T
O

T
A

L
 C

O
M

P
./
B

E
N

E
F

IT
S

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

T
R

A
V

E
L

/T
R

A
N

S
P

O
R

T
A

T
IO

N
 E

X
P

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
1
,1

0
0
,7

9
8

  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
3
3
,8

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
3
3
,8

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
-

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 T

O
T

A
L

1
,1

0
0
,7

9
8

  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
3
3
,8

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
3
3
,8

6
5

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

$
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

rd
s

b
c

o
.v

is
a

.x
ls

 B

C
  
O

  
M

  
P

  
A

  
R

  
A

  
T

  
I 
 V

  
E

74



Revised Consolidated
Operating Budget



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM:  David L. Richardson, Treasurer/ Comptroller   dlr 

DATE:  July 5, 2012 

SUBJECT: Consolidated Operating Budget Review, Internal Budgetary Adjustments  
& Revised COB  

   

 

Following the Guidelines for Adoption, Review and Modification of the 
Consolidated Operating Budget (Guidelines), the office directors reviewed expenses for 
the eight-month period ending May 31, 2012, and they provided a projection of 
expenses for the four remaining months of the fiscal year (FY).  When you add the 
expenses through May and the projected expenses, all the MGO office budgets are 
projected to finish under budget.    

 
The President reviewed the information and has approved a number of internal 

budgetary adjustments (adjustments).  There was only one adjustment over $5,000.  
The Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) has secured the services of an administrative assistant 
to support the office during a transition period following the departure of an employee.  
Because of this, the OLA temporary employee pay budget category needed funds of 
$22,500 to provide for this need.  The funds are available from personnel compensation 
and benefits.  

 
 In Government Relations/Public Affairs (GRPA), an intern is included for the 

month of September.  To be able to fill this position, temporary employee pay must be 
established in the amount of $1,200.  Training for GRPA staff is being planned that will 
require that budget category to be increased by $2,500.  The total of $3,700 for these 
needs is available in personnel compensation and benefits because of the transition in 
filling positions.   

 
There is one last adjustment needed for the Office of Human Resources to 

undertake the digital imaging project of personnel records.  The funds are available 
from other operating expenses because we are using different, less expensive methods 
of advertising open positions.   

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

75



 
Robert J. Grey, Jr.  
COB Review, Adjustments & Revised COB 
Page 2  
 

 
 
We have an increase in the Consolidated Operating Budget (COB) because of an 

additional grant from the Public Welfare Foundation in the amount of $276,000.  The 
Board of Directors approved a COB for FY 2012 at the April Board Meeting totaling 
$364,681,397.  This grant will increase our COB to $364,957,397.   

 
We ask that you approve the attached resolution for the revised COB with the 

changes discussed above.  Attachment A presents the revised COB by line item and 
Attachment B summarizes each office’s budget by budget category.   

 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please let me know. 
 
 

Attachments (3) 
 

Resolution 
Attachment A 
Attachment B 

 
 
 

  
 

76



 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2012-0XX 
 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

Revised Consolidated Operating Budget 
For Fiscal Year 2012 

 
WHEREAS, the Legal Services Corporation (LSC) Board of Directors (Board) 
has reviewed the available funds that included a new grant from the Public 
Welfare Foundation for Fiscal Year (FY) 2012. The total funds for the revised 
Consolidated Operating Budget include: 
 

1) a fiscal year (FY) 2012 appropriation of $348,000,000;  
2) US Court of Veterans Appeals Funds totaling $2,726,363;  
3) a Public Welfare Foundation totaling $293,000, $17,000 in April and 

$276,000 in July; and  
4) carryover in the amount of $13,938,034, which is comprised of: 

 
a. Basic Field Programs carryover of $1,666,604;  
b. U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals of $3,807;  
c. Grants from Other Funds of $725,077;  
d. Technology Initiatives of $3,826,487;  
e. Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program of 

$1,181,550;  
f. Management and Grants Oversight of $4,302,956; and  
g. Office of Inspector General totaling $2,231,553; and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

77



 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2012-0XX 
 

 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
 
WHEREAS, LSC’s Management and Inspector General have presented 
operating budgets for FY 2012 within the available funds,  

 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Board hereby 
adopts a revised Consolidated Operating Budget for FY 2012 totaling 
$364,957,397 of which $334,748,338 is for the Delivery of Legal Assistance; 
$2,181,550 is for the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program; 
$21,595,956 for Management and Grants Oversight; and $6,431,553 is for 
the Office of Inspector General.    

 

 
 

Adopted by the Board of Directors 
on July 27, 2012 

 
 
____________________________ 
John G. Levi 
Chairman 

 
 

____________________________ 
Victor M. Fortuno 
Corporate Secretary 

 
fiscal 

 

78



AT
TA
CH
ME
NT
 A

AT
TA
CH
ME
NT
 A

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(4
)

CO
UR
T 
OF

FY
 2
01
2

PU
BL
IC
 W
EL
FA
RE

RE
VI
SE
D

FY
 2
01
2

FY
 2
01
1

VE
TS
 A
PP
EA
LS
 &

CO
NS
OL
ID
AT
ED

FO
UN
DA
TI
ON

CO
NS
OL
ID
AT
ED

AP
PR
OP
RI
AT
IO
N

CA
RR
YO
VE
R

AD
JU
ST
ME
NT
S

OP
ER
AT
IN
G 
BU
DG
ET

GR
AN
T

OP
ER
AT
IN
G 
BU
DG
ET

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

  
 I

. 
DE

LI
VE

RY
 O

F 
LE

GA
L 

AS
SI

ST
AN

CE
  

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

  
  
  
1.
 B
as
ic
 F
ie
ld
 P
ro
gr
am
s

32
2,
40
0,
00
0

1,
66
6,
60
4

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

32
4,
06
6,
60
4

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

32
4,
06
6,
60
4

  
  
  
2.
 U
.S
. 
Co
ur
t 
of
 V
et
er
an
s 
Ap
pe
al
s 
Fu
nd
s 
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3,
80
7

  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
72
6,
36
3

  
  
  
 

2,
73
0,
17
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
73
0,
17
0

  
  
  
3.
 G
ra
nt
s 
Fr
om
 O
th
er
 F
un
ds
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

72
5,
07
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

72
5,
07
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

72
5,
07
7

  
  
  
4.
 T
ec
hn
ol
og
y 
In
it
ia
ti
ve
s

3,
40
0,
00
0

3,
82
6,
48
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7,
22
6,
48
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7,
22
6,
48
7

--
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
 

  
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
- 

--
--
--
--
--
- 

--
--
--
--
--
- 

  
  

 D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
OF

 L
EG

AL
 A

SS
IS

TA
NC

E 
TO

TA
LS

32
5,
80
0,
00
0

6,
22
1,
97
5

2,
72
6,
36
3

  
  
  
 

33
4,
74
8,
33
8

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

33
4,
74
8,
33
8

  
II

. 
HE

RB
ER

T 
S.

 G
AR

TE
N

  
  

  
  

LO
AN

 R
EP

AY
ME

NT
 A

SS
IS

TA
NC

E 
PR

OG
RA

M
1,
00
0,
00
0

1,
18
1,
55
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
18
1,
55
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
18
1,
55
0

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

  
II

I.
 M

AN
AG

EM
EN

T 
& 

GR
AN

TS
 O

VE
RS

IG
HT

17
,0
00
,0
00

4,
30
2,
95
6

17
,0
00

  
  
  
  
  

21
,3
19
,9
56

27
6,
00
0

  
  
  
  
 

21
,5
95
,9
56

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

  
IV

. 
IN

SP
EC

TO
R 

GE
NE

RA
L 

4,
20
0,
00
0

2,
23
1,
55
3

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6,
43
1,
55
3

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6,
43
1,
55
3

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
 

  
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
- 

--
--
--
--
--
--
- 

--
--
--
--
--
--
- 

TO
TA

L 
BU

DG
ET

$3
48
,0
00
,0
00

$1
3,
93
8,
03
4

$2
,7
43
,3
63

$3
64
,6
81
,3
97

$2
76
,0
00

$3
64
,9
57
,3
97

  
  

==
==

==
==

==
  

  
 =

==
==

==
==

  
  

  
==

==
==

==
  

  
==

==
==

==
==

  
 =

==
==

==
==

==
  

  
==

==
==

==
==

=

LE
GA
L 
SE
RV
IC
ES
 C
OR
PO
RA
TI
ON

CO
NS
OL
ID
AT
ED
 O
PE
RA
TI
NG
 B
UD
GE
T 

--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--

FO
R 
TH
E 
FI
SC
AL
 Y
EA
R 
20
12

7/
5/

20
12

79



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 B

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

R
E

V
IS

E
D

 C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
E

T

F
O

R
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 A

N
D

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

A
N

D
 I

N
S

P
E

C
T

O
R

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L

F
O

R
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

 2
0

1
2

B
O

A
R

D
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
O

F
F

IC
E

O
F

E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

L
E

G
A

L
R

E
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 &

H
U

M
A

N
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 &

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
S

O
F

F
IC

E
S

A
F

F
A

IR
S

P
U

B
 A

F
F

S
R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

A
D

M
IN

 S
R

V
C

S

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
0

82
5,

45
0

1,
00

9,
75

0
84

5,
30

0
67

6,
60

0
98

1,
25

0

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

0
0

22
,5

00
1,

20
0

19
,5

00
3,

75
0

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
24

3,
30

0
37

6,
00

0
35

0,
00

0
7,

50
0

45
,3

00
1,

00
0

T
R

A
V

E
L

 &
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

30
4,

10
0

88
,1

50
17

,0
00

19
,2

00
12

,7
50

15
,9

50

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

11
,4

50
8,

30
0

5,
40

0
3,

85
0

4,
25

0
24

,3
00

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
S

7,
80

0
0

0
0

0
1,

75
0,

00
0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

65
0

30
0

30
0

5,
00

0
30

0
82

,5
50

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
63

,2
00

30
0

32
,9

00
31

,1
50

39
,5

00
36

0,
40

0

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
0

0
0

0
0

17
0,

00
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 T
O

T
A

L
63

0,
50

0
1,

29
8,

50
0

1,
43

7,
85

0
91

3,
20

0
79

8,
20

0
3,

38
9,

20
0

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
C

O
M

P
L

IA
N

C
E

C
O

N
T

IN
G

E
N

C
Y

M
G

T
 &

 G
R

N
T

S
IN

S
P

E
C

T
O

R

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
M

A
N

G
E

M
E

N
T

&
 E

N
F

O
R

C
E

F
U

N
D

O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

G
E

N
E

R
A

L

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
1,

09
4,

65
0

3,
49

2,
65

0
63

8,
55

0
3,

33
4,

85
0

42
0,

00
0

13
,3

19
,0

50
3,

95
4,

40
0

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

0
25

1,
00

0
0

36
2,

00
0

0
65

9,
95

0
40

,0
00

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
20

7,
00

0
66

,0
00

0
50

,0
00

0
1,

34
6,

10
0

61
9,

85
0

T
R

A
V

E
L

 &
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

38
,0

00
33

6,
00

0
7,

50
0

46
8,

00
0

0
1,

30
6,

65
0

38
5,

00
0

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

44
,4

00
25

,0
00

20
0

25
,0

00
0

15
2,

15
0

34
,0

50

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
S

0
50

0
0

20
0

0
1,

75
8,

50
0

6,
00

0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

0
0

0
2,

00
0

0
91

,1
00

10
,1

00

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
25

3,
20

0
27

,5
00

29
,0

00
6,

25
0

1,
73

0,
35

6
2,

57
3,

75
6

1,
18

2,
15

3

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
21

8,
70

0
0

0
0

0
38

8,
70

0
20

0,
00

0

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 T
O

T
A

L
1,

85
5,

95
0

4,
19

8,
65

0
67

5,
25

0
4,

24
8,

30
0

2,
15

0,
35

6
21

,5
95

,9
56

6,
43

1,
55

3

80



Review of Guidelines
Revised COB



 
 

Page | 1 

GUIDELINES FOR ADOPTION, REVIEW AND MODIFICATION 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED OPERATING BUDGET 

OF THE LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION 
 
POLICY 

 

It is the policy of the Legal Services Corporation’s Board of Directors (Board) to 

consider and adopt a Consolidated Operating Budget (COB) for each fiscal year.  

The purpose of this policy is to promote good fiscal oversight and transparency in 

the management of the Corporation’s resources and activities.  This COB shall not 

be subject to modification except by action of the Board or as stated in these 

guidelines.  

 

PROCEDURE 

 

1. At the July Finance Committee (Committee) meeting, a resolution granting 

Temporary Operating Authority will be presented to the Committee for the new 

fiscal year that begins on October 1.  This resolution will be based on the current 

year’s appropriation.  After the Committee review, a recommendation to adopt this 

resolution or a revised resolution will be approved and presented to the Board for 

approval.         

 

2. At the October Committee meeting, the Committee will receive and review an 

operating budget recommendation from LSC’s President (President) for the 

Corporation’s Management and Grants Oversight (MGO) budget for the fiscal year 

that began on October 1.  The budget will contain the actual appropriation for the 

fiscal year or the funding as provided by a Continuing Resolution (CR), a projection 

of the prior fiscal year's carryover funds, and any additional funds that are available.  

81



 
 

Page | 2 

This budget, along with the information provided by the Office of Inspector General 

(OIG) pursuant to paragraph 10, will be summarized by the Treasurer/Comptroller, 

and along with amounts for basic field grants, technology initiative grants, and loan 

repayment assistance, and constitute a Temporary Operating Budget (TOB), as 

shown in Attachment A.  This information, along with a proposed resolution, will be 

presented to the Committee for adoption.  The Committee will modify the proposed 

resolution, if necessary, and recommend it to the Board for adoption.     

 

3. At its January meeting, the Committee will be presented with a COB and will contain 

the appropriation levels, the prior year's carryover funds, and any additional funds 

that are available.  The COB and a proposed resolution will be provided to the 

Committee for review.  The information will be revised, if necessary, and then 

approved for recommendation to the Board.  If the appropriation for the fiscal year 

has not been finalized, a revised TOB will be presented that reflects any changes 

included in the CR and all the funds available.  This procedure will be followed at 

each successive meeting until a final appropriation has been enacted and a COB can 

be provided.    

 

4. The MGO staff, under the direction of the President, will conduct internal budget 

reviews in order to examine expenditures of the Corporation and commitments at 

the conclusion of the February and May reporting periods.  This review shall address 

the budget performance of each office and each COB line item, with the exception 

of the OIG.  Each office’s review shall be summarized in a worksheet that includes 

the current COB or TOB, expenses year-to-date, expense projections for the 

remainder of the year, and the remaining funds for the fiscal year.  Based on this 

review, staff recommendations shall be made to the President for internal budgetary 

adjustments (adjustments).  Adjustments in amounts not to exceed $75,000 may be 

made by the President without prior Committee and Board approval.  Adjustments in 

82



 
 

Page | 3 

excess of $75,000 may be made only after Committee and Board approval.  All such 

adjustments shall be included in the report described in paragraph 8.    

 
 

5. COB reallocations (reallocations) may be made by the President only after review by 

the Committee, approval by the Board, and delivery of the required notice to 

Congress, if applicable, under the reprogramming requirements.  All such 

reallocations shall be included in the report described in paragraph 8.     

 

6. In the event that an unanticipated need arises for an immediate COB reallocation at 

a time when no Board meeting can be scheduled, the President shall prepare and 

submit a detailed memorandum to each Board member.  If approved in writing by 

the Chairman of the Committee and by the Chairman of the Board, the President 

may proceed on the basis of that authorization until subsequent Board review.  Any 

Board Member may call into question a COB reallocation of this kind, in which case 

the President will suspend the reallocation until a Board review is conducted and 

either the reallocation request is approved by the Board or the objection is 

withdrawn.  All COB reallocations will be presented to the Committee in accordance 

with paragraph 7.   

 

7. The LSC annual appropriation is subject to reprogramming and transfer 

requirements set out in each appropriations act, which include advance fifteen-day 

notice to the House and Senate Committees on Appropriations.  Generally, 

authorized transfers are subject to the same notice requirements as 

reprogrammings.  These are standing provisions that change little, if any, each year.  

Pursuant to the Congressional reprogramming and transfer provisions, if the 

President proposes an adjustment that is subject to these requirements then the 

action shall not take effect until reviewed by the Committee, approved by the Board, 

83



 
 

Page | 4 

and the notice and any other requirements have been completed.  All such actions 

shall be included in the reports described in paragraph 8.      

 

8. The adjustments approved by the President, as discussed in paragraph 4, will be 

presented to the Committee at the April and July meetings.  The adjustments will be 

based on the staff reviews of spending through February and May, respectively.  In 

connection with these reviews, a full report of expenses, adjustments, any additional 

funds that are available, and recommended COB reallocations shall be submitted to 

the Committee.  The report shall include a statement of operating expenses and a 

detailed worksheet that shows the currently approved COB and will be sufficiently 

detailed to allow the Committee to review the President's decisions and 

recommendations.  Nothing in this paragraph shall preclude the staff from furnishing 

other regular or ad-hoc reports to the Committee and Board that would be useful to 

the Committee in fulfilling its oversight role.    

 
9. A review of the annual COB will occur at the annual Board Meeting in January.  The 

report shall include a statement of operating expenses and a detailed worksheet 

that reflects the currently approved COB. Information will be provided to 

demonstrate that the funds allocated during the budget process have been used in 

accordance with the approved budget.  If there is a need to make adjustments to 

align the MGO budget with the expenses, the adjustments will be reported following 

the procedures as detailed in paragraphs 4 and 8.  

 

10. The OIG reports directly to the Board and provides reports directly to Congress.  

The OIG will submit a budget for its operations, participate in quarterly reviews, and 

make adjustments within the OIG’s budget line in accordance with these guidelines.  

The OIG will provide the Treasurer/Comptroller, for administrative purposes only, 

with timely notification of budget-related actions.  Presentation of the OIG budget 

84



 
 

Page | 5 

and adjustments to the Board shall follow the same procedures as outlined above.  

The OIG budget submissions to the Committee will be presented along with the 

MGO submissions.  No provision of these guidelines is to be construed as affecting 

the independence of the OIG. 

  

 Revised:  July 5, 2012 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Consolidated Operating Budget  

 

B. Budget Categories Summarized by Office  

 

C. Budget Calendar, July 2012 through February 2014 

85



 
 

85‐A 

GUIDELINES FOR ADOPTION, REVIEW AND MODIFICATION 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED OPERATING BUDGET 

OF THE LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION 
 
Alternative Paragraph 10 (with tracked changed) 
 
10.  The OIG reports directly to the Board and provides reports directly to Congress.  

The OIG will submit a budget for its operations, participate in quarterly reviews, 

and make adjustments within the OIG’s budget line in accordance with these 

guidelines, except that internal budget adjustments shall not be subject to 

Board approval.  The OIG will provide the Treasurer/Comptroller, for 

administrative purposes only, with timely notification of budget-related actions.  

Presentation of tThe OIG budget will be presented as outlined above and 

adjustments will be reported at the next Board Meetingto the Board shall follow 

the same procedures as outlined above.  The OIG budget submissions to the 

Committee will be presented along with the MGO submissions.  No provision of 

these guidelines is to be construed as affecting the independence of the OIG. 

  

  



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

1 

 Ju
ly

 2
0

1
2

 
   

 
    

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
ts

 f
or

 M
ay

.  
 

 St
af

f 
co

m
pl

et
es

 a
n

 e
ig

h
t-

m
on

th
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
op

er
at

in
g 

ex
pe

n
se

s,
 a

n
d 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 e
xp

en
se

s 
th

ro
u

gh
 t

h
e 

re
m

ai
n

de
r 

of
 

th
e 

FY
.  

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

th
is

 r
ev

ie
w

 in
te

rn
al

 
bu

dg
et

ar
y 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 
(a

dj
u

st
m

en
ts

) 
ar

e 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

to
 t

h
e 

P
re

si
de

n
t.

   
 A

 r
ep

or
t 

is
 p

re
pa

re
d 

fo
r 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 C

om
m

it
te

e 
(F

C
) 

to
 r

ev
ie

w
 t

h
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 a
n

d 
an

y 
C

on
so

lid
at

ed
 O

pe
ra

ti
n

g 
B

u
dg

et
 R

ea
llo

ca
ti

on
s 

(R
ea

llo
ca

ti
on

s)
, i

f 
n

ec
es

sa
ry

.  
 

 FC
 p

re
se

n
ts

 t
h

e 
re

po
rt

 t
o 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 o

f 
D

ir
ec

to
rs

 
(B

oa
rd

) 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

ac
ti

on
, 

if
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

.  

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

an
d 

ad
op

ts
 a

 
re

so
lu

ti
on

 g
ra

n
ti

n
g 

Te
m

po
ra

ry
 O

pe
ra

ti
n

g 
A

u
th

or
it

y 
fo

r 
FY

 2
0

1
3

 a
n

d 
re

co
m

m
en

ds
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 it

s’
 a

do
pt

io
n

.  
 

    

 St
af

f 
de

ve
lo

ps
 a

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d 
G

ra
n

ts
 

O
ve

rs
ig

h
t 

(M
G

O
) 

bu
dg

et
 

fo
r 

FY
 2

0
1

4
 a

n
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 
it

 t
o 

LS
C

’s
 P

re
si

de
n

t.
   

 St
af

f,
 u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 
of

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t,
 

co
m

pl
et

es
 a

 F
Y

 2
0

1
4

 
B

u
dg

et
 “

M
ar

k”
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

FC
 f

or
 

co
n

si
de

ra
ti

on
. 

 FC
 c

on
si

de
rs

 t
h

e 
B

u
dg

et
 

“M
ar

ks
” 

as
 s

u
bm

it
te

d 
by

 
LS

C
’s

 M
an

ag
em

en
t,

 
N

LA
D

A
, S

C
LA

ID
, a

n
d 

ot
h

er
 in

te
re

st
ed

 p
ar

ti
es

. 
 

 

86



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

2 

 A
u

gu
st

 2
0

1
2

 
 

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
ts

 f
or

 J
u

n
e.

   
 

St
af

f 
de

ve
lo

ps
 a

 M
G

O
 

bu
dg

et
 f

or
 2

0
1

3
 a

n
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 it
 t

o 
th

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t 
fo

r 
re

vi
ew

. 
 

 FC
 c

on
si

de
rs

 a
n

d 
ac

ts
 o

n
 

a 
FY

 2
0

1
4

 B
u

dg
et

 “
M

ar
k”

 
th

at
 is

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
by

 
re

so
lu

ti
on

.  
 

 Th
e 

re
so

lu
ti

on
 is

 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

to
 t

h
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 it

s 
ad

op
ti

on
.  

  

 Se
pt

em
be

r 
 

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

Ju
ly

.  
       Fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r 
en

ds
. 

O
ff

ic
e 

di
re

ct
or

s 
an

d 
th

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t 
fi

n
al

iz
e 

a 
TO

B
 t

o 
be

gi
n

 t
h

e 
fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r.
 

   A
pp

ro
pr

ia
ti

on
 o

r 
C

on
ti

n
u

in
g 

R
es

ol
u

ti
on

 is
 

en
ac

te
d 

by
 C

on
gr

es
s 

an
d 

si
gn

ed
 in

to
 la

w
 b

y 
P

re
si

de
n

t.
 

 B
u

dg
et

 “
M

ar
k"

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
to

 O
M

B
. 

 

 

87



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

3 

 O
ct

ob
er

 2
0

1
2

 
 B

oo
ks

 a
re

 c
lo

se
d.

 
   FC

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
th

e 
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 
R

ep
or

t 
fo

r 
A

u
gu

st
.  

   

Fi
sc

al
 y

ea
r 

be
gi

n
s.

 
 Th

e 
TO

B
 is

 p
re

se
n

te
d 

to
 

th
e 

P
re

si
de

n
t 

fo
r 

re
vi

ew
 

fo
r 

2
0

1
3

. 
 FC

 c
on

si
de

rs
 t

h
e 

P
re

si
de

n
t’

s 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

TO
B

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 it

s 
ad

op
ti

on
. 

 St
af

f 
be

gi
n

s 
to

 d
ev

el
op

 
th

e 
bu

dg
et

 d
oc

u
m

en
ts

 
fo

r 
su

bm
is

si
on

 t
o 

C
on

gr
es

s 
in

 F
eb

ru
ar

y.
 

 

 N
ov

em
be

r 
 

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

Se
pt

em
be

r.
  

 A
n

n
u

al
 f

in
an

ci
al

 a
u

di
t 

be
gi

n
s.

  

   

  
 

 D
ec

em
be

r 
2

0
1

2
 

 

 A
n

n
u

al
 f

in
an

ci
al

 a
u

di
t 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 a

n
d 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

n
d 

n
ot

es
 a

re
 

pr
ep

ar
ed

.  

St
af

f 
de

ve
lo

ps
 a

 r
ev

is
ed

 
TO

B
 o

r 
C

O
B

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 
to

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t 
fo

r 
re

vi
ew

.  

 St
af

f 
fi

n
al

iz
es

 b
u

dg
et

 
(a

pp
ro

pr
ia

ti
on

) 
do

cu
m

en
ts

 f
or

 
su

bm
is

si
on

 t
o 

C
on

gr
es

s.
 

 

88



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

4 

 

 Ja
n

u
ar

y 
2

0
1

3
 

   

 Th
e 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g 
fi

rm
 

pr
es

en
ts

 t
h

e 
an

n
u

al
 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 a

u
di

t 
to

 t
h

e 
A

u
di

t 
C

om
m

it
te

e.
 

 A
 r

ep
or

t 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

th
e 

an
n

u
al

 b
u

dg
et

 a
n

d 
ex

pe
n

se
 is

 p
re

pa
re

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t’
s 

re
vi

ew
.  

 
Th

is
 r

ep
or

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
pr

es
en

te
d 

to
 t

h
e 

FC
 a

n
d 

th
e 

re
po

rt
 w

ill
 id

en
ti

fy
 

an
y 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 o
r 

re
al

lo
ca

ti
on

s,
 if

 
n

ec
es

sa
ry

.  
 

 A
 r

ep
or

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

by
 

th
e 

FC
 a

n
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

B
oa

rd
, i

f 
n

ec
es

sa
ry

.  
 Th

e 
Fo

rm
 9

9
0

 is
 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

te
d 

to
 t

h
e 

A
u

di
t 

C
om

m
it

te
e 

fo
r 

re
vi

ew
.  

 

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

N
ov

em
be

r 
 

 St
af

f,
 u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 
of

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t,
 f

in
al

iz
es

 
th

e 
op

er
at

in
g 

bu
dg

et
s 

an
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 a
 r

ev
is

ed
 T

O
B

 o
r 

C
O

B
.  

 
 FC

 a
do

pt
s 

a 
re

vi
se

d 
TO

B
 o

r 
C

O
B

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 it

s 
ad

op
ti

on
. 

 

 

89



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

5 

 

 Fe
br

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
3

 
    

 Th
e 

Fo
rm

 9
9

0
 s

u
bm

it
te

d 
to

 t
h

e 
IR

S.
 

    

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

D
ec

em
be

r.
  

     

 B
u

dg
et

 r
eq

u
es

t 
is

 
su

bm
it

te
d 

to
 C

on
gr

es
s.

  
C

on
gr

es
s 

be
gi

n
s 

co
n

si
de

ra
ti

on
 o

f 
th

e 
bu

dg
et

 r
eq

u
es

t 
an

d 
m

ay
 

ca
ll 

ap
pr

op
ri

at
io

n
 

h
ea

ri
n

gs
 a

n
yt

im
e 

fr
om

 
Fe

br
u

ar
y 

th
ro

u
gh

 M
ay

. 
 M

ar
ch

  
   

   
FC

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
th

e 
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 
R

ep
or

t 
fo

r 
Ja

n
u

ar
y.

  
 St

af
f 

co
m

pl
et

es
 a

 f
iv

e-
m

on
th

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

op
er

at
in

g 
ex

pe
n

se
s,

 a
n

d 
pr

oj
ec

ts
 

ex
pe

n
se

s 
th

ro
u

gh
 t

h
e 

re
m

ai
n

de
r 

of
 t

h
e 

FY
.  

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

th
is

 r
ev

ie
w

 
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
 a

re
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
to

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t.
   

 

    

 

90



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

6 

 

 A
pr

il 
2

0
1

3
 

   

     

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

Fe
br

u
ar

y.
  

 A
 r

ep
or

t 
is

 p
re

pa
re

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
FC

 t
o 

re
vi

ew
 t

h
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 a
n

d 
an

y 
re

al
lo

ca
ti

on
s,

 if
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

. 
Th

is
 r

ep
or

t 
is

 p
re

se
n

te
d 

to
 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 t

h
ei

r 
ac

ti
on

, 
if

 n
ec

es
sa

ry
. 

     

FC
 a

u
th

or
iz

es
 s

ta
ff

 t
o 

so
lic

it
 c

om
m

en
ts

 f
ro

m
 

N
LA

D
A

, S
C

LA
ID

, a
n

d 
ot

h
er

 
in

te
re

st
ed

 p
ar

ti
es

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e 

pu
bl

ic
 r

eg
ar

di
n

g 
th

e 
FY

 
2

0
1

5
 b

u
dg

et
 “

m
ar

k.
” 

 M
ay

  
     

    

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

M
ar

ch
.  

  

  
St

af
f 

be
gi

n
s 

in
te

rn
al

 
di

sc
u

ss
io

n
s 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
“B

u
dg

et
 M

ar
k.

" 
 

 D
is

cu
ss

io
n

s 
in

cl
u

de
 n

ew
 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 a
n

d 
in

it
ia

ti
ve

s.
  

 
 Ju

n
e 

2
0

1
3

 
      

     

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

A
pr

il.
  

   

     

FC
 a

cc
ep

ts
 t

es
ti

m
on

y 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

pr
og

ra
m

s 
n

ee
ds

 
an

d 
fu

n
di

n
g 

le
ve

ls
 f

ro
m

 
LS

C
’s

 M
an

ag
em

en
t,

 
N

LA
D

A
, S

C
LA

ID
, a

n
d 

ot
h

er
 

in
te

re
st

ed
 p

ar
ti

es
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
pu

bl
ic

. 
    

91



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

7 

 Ju
ly

 2
0

1
3

 
    

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

M
ay

.  
 St

af
f 

co
m

pl
et

es
 a

n
 e

ig
h

t-
m

on
th

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

op
er

at
in

g 
ex

pe
n

se
s,

 a
n

d 
pr

oj
ec

ts
 

ex
pe

n
se

s 
th

ro
u

gh
 t

h
e 

re
m

ai
n

de
r 

of
 t

h
e 

FY
.  

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt

 o
f 

th
is

 r
ev

ie
w

 
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
 a

re
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
to

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t.
   

 A
 r

ep
or

t 
is

 p
re

pa
re

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
FC

 t
o 

re
vi

ew
 t

h
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 a
n

d 
an

y 
re

al
lo

ca
ti

on
s,

 if
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

. 
 FC

 p
re

se
n

ts
 t

h
e 

re
po

rt
 t

o 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 f
or

 t
h

ei
r 

ac
ti

on
, 

if
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

.  
 

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

an
d 

ad
op

ts
 a

 
re

so
lu

ti
on

 g
ra

n
ti

n
g 

Te
m

po
ra

ry
 O

pe
ra

ti
n

g 
A

u
th

or
it

y 
fo

r 
FY

 2
0

1
4

 
an

d 
re

co
m

m
en

ds
 t

o 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 it
s’

 a
do

pt
io

n
.  

 

St
af

f,
 u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 
of

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t,
 

co
m

pl
et

es
 a

 F
Y

 2
0

1
5

 
B

u
dg

et
 “

M
ar

k”
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

FC
 f

or
 

co
n

si
de

ra
ti

on
. 

 St
af

f,
 u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 
of

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t,
 

co
m

pl
et

es
 a

 F
Y

 2
0

1
5

 
B

u
dg

et
 “

M
ar

k”
 

re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

FC
 f

or
 

co
n

si
de

ra
ti

on
. 

 FC
 c

on
si

de
rs

 t
h

e 
B

u
dg

et
 

“M
ar

ks
” 

as
 s

u
bm

it
te

d 
by

 
LS

C
’s

 M
an

ag
em

en
t,

 
N

LA
D

A
, S

C
LA

ID
, a

n
d 

ot
h

er
 

in
te

re
st

ed
 p

ar
ti

es
. 

    
 A

u
gu

st
  

  
FC

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
th

e 
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 
R

ep
or

t 
fo

r 
Ju

n
e.

  
 

 St
af

f 
de

ve
lo

ps
 a

 T
O

B
 a

n
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 it
 t

o 
th

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t 
fo

r 
re

vi
ew

. 

FC
 r

ec
om

m
en

ds
 a

  
B

u
dg

et
 “

M
ar

k”
 t

o 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 f
or

 a
do

pt
io

n
. 

92



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

8 

 Se
pt

em
be

r 
2

0
1

3
 

    

         

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

Ju
ly

.  
   Fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r 
en

ds
.  

 

 D
ir

ec
to

rs
, u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 o
f 

th
e 

P
re

si
de

n
t 

fi
n

al
iz

e 
an

 o
pe

ra
ti

n
g 

bu
dg

et
 t

o 
be

gi
n

 t
h

e 
fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r.
 

 A
pp

ro
pr

ia
ti

on
 o

r 
C

on
ti

n
u

in
g 

R
es

ol
u

ti
on

 is
 

en
ac

te
d 

by
 C

on
gr

es
s 

an
d 

si
gn

ed
 in

to
 la

w
 b

y 
P

re
si

de
n

t.
 

  

B
u

dg
et

 “
M

ar
k"

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
to

 
O

M
B

. 
        

 O
ct

ob
er

  
     

      

B
oo

ks
 a

re
 c

lo
se

d.
   

 FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

A
u

gu
st

.  

 Fi
sc

al
 y

ea
r 

be
gi

n
s.

  
 FC

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
a 

P
re

si
de

n
t’

s 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

bu
dg

et
 

an
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 it
 t

o 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

 f
or

 it
s 

ad
op

ti
on

. 

St
af

f 
be

gi
n

s 
to

 d
ev

el
op

 t
h

e 
bu

dg
et

 d
oc

u
m

en
ts

 f
or

 
su

bm
is

si
on

 t
o 

C
on

gr
es

s 
in

 
Fe

br
u

ar
y 

 
  

93



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

9 

 

 N
ov

em
be

r 
2

0
1

3
 

       

FC
 r

ev
ie

w
s 

th
e 

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 

R
ep

or
t 

fo
r 

A
u

gu
st

.  
 A

n
n

u
al

 f
in

an
ci

al
 a

u
di

t 
be

gi
n

s.
 

 

  
St

af
f 

fi
n

al
iz

es
 b

u
dg

et
 

(a
pp

ro
pr

ia
ti

on
) 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 

fo
r 

su
bm

is
si

on
 t

o 
C

on
gr

es
s.

 

 D
ec

em
be

r 
2

0
1

3
 

   

     

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 a

u
di

t 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 
an

d 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
an

d 
n

ot
es

 a
re

 p
re

pa
re

d.
 

 

 St
af

f 
de

ve
lo

ps
 a

 r
ev

is
ed

 
M

G
O

 b
u

dg
et

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

P
re

si
de

n
t 

fo
r 

re
vi

ew
.  

 

 Ja
n

u
ar

y 
   

2
0

1
4

 

  
A

u
di

to
r’

s 
pr

es
en

t 
th

e 
an

n
u

al
 f

in
an

ci
al

 a
u

di
t 

to
 

th
e 

A
u

di
t 

C
om

m
it

te
e.

 
    Fo

rm
 9

9
0

 p
re

pa
re

d 
an

d 
dr

af
t 

re
vi

ew
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
u

di
t 

C
om

m
it

te
e.

   
 

 St
af

f,
 u

n
de

r 
th

e 
di

re
ct

io
n

 
of

 t
h

e 
P

re
si

de
n

t,
 f

in
al

iz
es

 
th

e 
op

er
at

in
g 

bu
dg

et
s 

an
d 

pr
es

en
ts

 a
 r

ev
is

ed
 

TO
B

 o
r 

C
O

B
.  

 
 FC

 a
do

pt
s 

a 
re

vi
se

d 
TO

B
 

or
 C

O
B

 a
n

d 
pr

es
en

ts
 it

 t
o 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 f

or
 it

s 
ad

op
ti

on
. 

  

94



 
B

U
D

G
E

T
 T

IM
E

T
A

B
L

E
 

 
JU

L
Y

 2
01

2 
T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

 2
01

4 
 

 
D

A
T

E
 

 
F

Y
 2

01
2 

F
Y

 2
01

3 
 

F
Y

 2
01

4 
F

Y
 2

01
5 

  
 

 
 

 
   

   
 P

a
g

e
 | 

10
 

 

 Fe
br

u
ar

y 
 

2
0

1
3

   
   

   
   

  
Th

e 
Fo

rm
 9

9
0

 s
u

bm
it

te
d 

to
 

th
e 

IR
S.

 
     

  
B

u
dg

et
 r

eq
u

es
t 

is
 

su
bm

it
te

d 
to

 C
on

gr
es

s.
  

 C
on

gr
es

s 
be

gi
n

s 
co

n
si

de
ra

ti
on

 o
f 

th
e 

bu
dg

et
 r

eq
u

es
t 

an
d 

m
ay

 
ca

ll 
ap

pr
op

ri
at

io
n

 h
ea

ri
n

gs
 

an
yt

im
e 

fr
om

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
th

ro
u

gh
 M

ay
.  

 
  

95



AT
TA
CH
ME
NT
 A

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

CO
UR
T 
OF

FY
 2
01
2

FY
 2
01
2

FY
 2
01
1

VE
TS
 A
PP
EA
LS
 &

CO
NS
OL
ID
AT
ED

AP
PR
OP
RI
AT
IO
N

CA
RR
YO
VE
R

AD
JU
ST
ME
NT
S

OP
ER
AT
IN
G 
BU
DG
ET

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
--
--

  
 I

. 
DE

LI
VE

RY
 O

F 
LE

GA
L 

AS
SI

ST
AN

CE
  

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

  
  
  
1.
 B
as
ic
 F
ie
ld
 P
ro
gr
am
s

32
2,
40
0,
00
0

1,
66
6,
60
4

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

32
4,
06
6,
60
4

  
  
  
2.
 U
.S
. 
Co
ur
t 
of
 V
et
er
an
s 
Ap
pe
al
s 
Fu
nd
s 
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3,
80
7

  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
28
0,
63
0

  
  
  
 

2,
28
4,
43
7

  
  
  
3.
 G
ra
nt
s 
Fr
om
 O
th
er
 F
un
ds
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

72
5,
07
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

72
5,
07
7

  
  
  
4.
 T
ec
hn
ol
og
y 
In
it
ia
ti
ve
s

3,
40
0,
00
0

3,
82
6,
48
7

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7,
22
6,
48
7

--
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
 

  
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
- 

  
  

 D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
OF

 L
EG

AL
 A

SS
IS

TA
NC

E 
TO

TA
LS

32
5,
80
0,
00
0

6,
22
1,
97
5

2,
28
0,
63
0

  
  
  
 

33
4,
30
2,
60
5

  
II

. 
HE

RB
ER

T 
S.

 G
AR

TE
N

  
  

  
  

LO
AN

 R
EP

AY
ME

NT
 A

SS
IS

TA
NC

E 
PR

OG
RA

M
1,
00
0,
00
0

1,
18
1,
55
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2,
18
1,
55
0

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-

 I
II

. 
MA

NA
GE

ME
NT

 &
 G

RA
NT

S 
OV

ER
SI

GH
T

17
,0
00
,0
00

4,
30
2,
95
6

17
,0
00

  
  
  
  
  

21
,3
19
,9
56

 -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--

  
IV

. 
IN

SP
EC

TO
R 

GE
NE

RA
L 

4,
20
0,
00
0

2,
23
1,
55
3

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

6,
43
1,
55
3

  
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
 

  
--
--
--
--
--
 

 -
--
--
--
--
--
- 

TO
TA

L 
BU

DG
ET

$3
48
,0
00
,0
00

$1
3,
93
8,
03
4

$2
,2
97
,6
30

$3
64
,2
35
,6
64

  
  

==
==

==
==

==
  

  
 =

==
==

==
==

  
  

  
==

==
==

==
  

  
==

==
==

==
==

LE
GA
L 
SE
RV
IC
ES
 C
OR
PO
RA
TI
ON

CO
NS
OL
ID
AT
ED
 O
PE
RA
TI
NG
 B
UD
GE
T 

--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--
--

FO
R 
TH
E 
FI
SC
AL
 Y
EA
R 
20
12

1/
7/

20
12

96



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 B

L
E

G
A

L
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 B

U
D

G
E

T

M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

 A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
T

S
 O

V
E

R
S

IG
H

T

A
N

D
 I

N
S

P
E

C
T

O
R

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L

F
O

R
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

 2
0
1
2

B
O

A
R

D
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
O

F
F

IC
E

O
F

E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

L
E

G
A

L
R

E
L

A
T

IO
N

S
 &

H
U

M
A

N
F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 &

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
S

O
F

F
IC

E
S

A
F

F
A

IR
S

P
U

B
 A

F
F

S
R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

A
D

M
IN

 S
R

V
C

S

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
0

82
5,

45
0

1,
03

2,
25

0
84

9,
00

0
68

1,
35

0
98

1,
25

0

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

0
0

0
0

19
,5

00
3,

75
0

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
24

3,
30

0
10

0,
00

0
35

0,
00

0
7,

50
0

42
,3

00
1,

00
0

T
R

A
V

E
L

 &
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

30
4,

10
0

88
,1

50
17

,0
00

16
,7

00
8,

00
0

15
,9

50

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

11
,4

50
8,

30
0

5,
40

0
3,

85
0

4,
25

0
24

,3
00

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
S

7,
80

0
0

0
0

0
1,

75
0,

00
0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

65
0

30
0

30
0

5,
00

0
30

0
82

,5
50

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
63

,2
00

30
0

32
,9

00
31

,1
50

42
,5

00
36

0,
40

0

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
0

0
0

0
0

17
0,

00
0

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 T
O

T
A

L
63

0,
50

0
1,

02
2,

50
0

1,
43

7,
85

0
91

3,
20

0
79

8,
20

0
3,

38
9,

20
0

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
C

O
M

P
L

IA
N

C
E

C
O

N
T

IN
G

E
N

C
Y

M
G

T
 &

 G
R

N
T

S
IN

S
P

E
C

T
O

R

B
U

D
G

E
T

 C
A

T
E

G
O

R
Y

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
M

A
N

G
E

M
E

N
T

&
 E

N
F

O
R

C
E

F
U

N
D

O
V

E
R

S
IG

H
T

G
E

N
E

R
A

L

C
O

M
P

E
N

S
A

T
IO

N
 &

 B
E

N
E

F
IT

S
1,

09
4,

65
0

3,
52

4,
65

0
63

8,
55

0
3,

33
4,

85
0

42
0,

00
0

13
,3

82
,0

00
3,

88
9,

40
0

T
E

M
P

. 
E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
 P

A
Y

0
23

0,
00

0
0

36
2,

00
0

0
61

5,
25

0
40

,0
00

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
IN

G
20

8,
00

0
55

,0
00

0
50

,0
00

0
1,

05
7,

10
0

66
0,

00
0

T
R

A
V

E
L

 &
 T

R
A

N
S

P
O

R
T

A
T

IO
N

38
,0

00
33

6,
00

0
7,

50
0

46
8,

00
0

0
1,

29
9,

40
0

38
5,

00
0

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

44
,4

00
25

,0
00

20
0

25
,0

00
0

15
2,

15
0

34
,0

00

O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

Y
 C

O
S

T
S

0
50

0
0

20
0

0
1,

75
8,

50
0

6,
00

0

P
R

IN
T

IN
G

 &
 R

E
P

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

0
0

0
2,

00
0

0
91

,1
00

10
,0

00

O
T

H
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IN

G
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
25

2,
20

0
27

,5
00

29
,0

00
6,

25
0

1,
73

0,
35

6
2,

57
5,

75
6

1,
33

2,
15

3

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S
21

8,
70

0
0

0
0

0
38

8,
70

0
75

,0
00

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 T
O

T
A

L
1,

85
5,

95
0

4,
19

8,
65

0
67

5,
25

0
4,

24
8,

30
0

2,
15

0,
35

6
21

,3
19

,9
56

6,
43

1,
55

3

97



Promotion & Provision
Committee



 
PROMOTION AND PROVISION FOR THE DELIVERY OF 

LEGAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 

July 27, 2012  

Agenda 

 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

2. Approval of Minutes of the Committee's meeting of April 16, 2012 
 

3. Panel Presentation on diversification and expansion of revenue sources  

 Moderator—Meredith McBurney, Resource Development Consultant for ABA 
Resource Center for Access to Justice Initiatives and Management Information 
Exchange 

 Steven Gottlieb, Executive Director, Atlanta Legal Aid Society 

 Daniel Glazier, Executive Director, Legal Services of Eastern Missouri 

 Jennifer Bentley, Manager of Outreach and Development, Legal Services of 
South Central Michigan 

 Deierdre Weir, Executive Director, Legal Aid and Defender Association 
 

4. Public comment 
 

5. Consider and act on other business 
 

6. Consider and act on motion to adjourn the meeting 

 

98



Minutes from April 16, 2012
Meeting



 

 
Minutes: April 16, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 
Meeting of the Promotion and Provision for the Delivery of 

Legal Services Committee 
Open Session 

Monday, April 16, 2012 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 
 Chairman Laurie I. Mikva convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of Legal Services Committee 

(“the Committee”) at 9:23 a.m. on Monday, April 16, 2012. The meeting was held at the F. 

William McCalpin Conference Center, Legal Services Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, 

NW, Washington, DC 20007. 

The following Committee members were present: 
 
Laurie I. Mikva, Chairman 
Sharon L. Browne 
Victor B. Maddox 
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Julie A. Reiskin 
John G. Levi, ex officio 
 
Other Board Members Present: 
Martha L. Minow 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III (by telephone) 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
 
Also attending were: 
 
James J. Sandman  President 
Richard Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 

99



 

 
Minutes: April 16, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Mattie Cohan   Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, 

Office of Inspector General (OIG) 
Daniel Sheahan Program Evaluation Analyst, OIG 
Magali Khalko Resource Management Specialist, OIG 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Elizabeth Arledge Communications Manager, GRPA 
Treefa Aziz Government Affairs Representative, GRPA 
Jeffrey Morningstar  Director, Office of Information Technology (OIT) 
LaVon Smith Network/System Engineer, Office of Information Technology 

(OIT) 
Janet LaBella Director, Office of Program Performance (OPP) 
Jane Ribadeneyra Program Analyst, OPP 
Frank Strickland  Former LSC Board Chairman and Non-Director Member of the 

LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Thomas Smegal Chairman of Friends of LSC and Non-Director Member of the 

LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Peter Edelman Professor of Law, Georgetown University Law Center, Chair of 

the District of Columbia Access to Justice Commission 
Judge Anna  
Blackburne-Rigsby District of Columbia Court of Appeals 
Andrew Marks Partner, Crowell & Moring 
Patricia Mullahy-Fugere Executive Director, Washington Legal Clinic for the Homeless 
Jessica Rosenbaum Executive Director, District of Columbia Access to Justice 

Commission  
Hannah Lieberman Executive Director, Neighborhood Legal Services 
John Constance Former Director, GRPA  
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Hillary Evans NLADA 
Don Saunders NLADA 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association’s (ABA) Standing Committee on Legal 

Aid and Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
 SCLAID 
Linda Perle Center for Law and Social Policy (CLASP) 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 
 
Chairman Mikva called the open session meeting to order. 
 

MOTION 
 

100



 

 
Minutes: April 16, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

 Father Pius moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Browne seconded the motion. 
 

VOTE 
 
 The motion passed by voice vote.   
 

MOTION 
 
 Mr. Maddox moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s March 9, 2012 telephonic 

meeting, as amended by Chairman Mikva and Ms. Browne.  Ms. Browne seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.   

 Chairman Mikva invited brief discussion on LSC Management’s list of suggested topics 

for future Committee meetings, but noted that action on the matter would be taken up in a 

conference call, to be scheduled at a later date, after the full Board has an opportunity to hear the 

Pro Bono Task Force report.   

 Chairman Mikva invited President Sandman to introduce the panel members for the 

presentation on the work of the District of Columbia Access to Justice Commission.  The panel 

presentation was moderated by Mr. Edelman, Professor of Law, Georgetown University Law 

Center, and Chair of the D.C. Access to Justice Commission. The panel also included the 

following members: Judge Anna Blackburne-Rigsby, District of Columbia Court of Appeals; 

Andrew Marks, Partner, Crowell & Moring; and Patricia Mullahy-Fugere, Executive Director, 

Washington Legal Clinic for the Homeless. 

 Chairman Mikva invited public comment and received none.  There was no new business 

to consider.   

 
MOTION 

101



 

 
Minutes: April 16, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

  Father Pius moved to adjourn the meeting.  Ms. Browne seconded the motion. 
 

 
VOTE 

 
 The motion passed by voice vote.  
 
 The open session telephonic meeting of the Committee adjourned at 10:43 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
 

102



Presentation Panel Bios



Promotion	&	Provision	Committee:	Resource	Development	Panel	

	

	

	

Jennifer	Bentley,	Outreach	&	Development	Manager	of,	Legal	Services	of	South	Central	
Michigan	

	

Daniel	Glazier,	Executive	Director,	Legal	Services	of	Eastern	Missouri	

	

Steve	Gottlieb,	Executive	Director,	Atlanta	Legal	Aid	Society	

	

Meredith	McBurney,	ABA	Project	to	Expand	Resources	for	Legal	Services	(PERLS)	

	

Deierdre	Weir,	Executive	Director,	Legal	Aid	and	Defender	Association	

	

	

	

 

103



Meredith	McBurney,	Resource	Development	Consultant	
ABA	Resource	Center	for	Access	to	Justice	Initiatives	and	Management	Information	Exchange	

	
Meredith	McBurney,	a	consultant	since	1997,	specializes	in	resource	development	for	legal	aid	and	
other	advocacy	organizations.		She	has	35	years	of	experience	in	legal	services,	primarily	in	the	
areas	of	management,	resource	development	and	grant‐making.		She	currently	serves	as	a	resource	
development	consultant	to	the	American	Bar	Association’s	Resource	Center	for	Access	to	Justice	
Initiatives	and	Management	Information	Exchange	(MIE).		She	also	provides	in‐depth	consulting	for	
individual	legal	aid	programs.		In	her	work	with	the	ABA	Resource	Center,	Ms.	McBurney	
researches	and	analyzes	fundraising	trends	and	practices	within	legal	services	nationwide,	and	uses	
the	information	she	gains	to	provide	information,	training	and	technical	assistance	to	bench,	bar	
and	legal	services	leaders	throughout	the	country.		From	1981	to	1997,	she	served	as	the	executive	
director	for	Colorado’s	IOLTA	program	and	the	Legal	Aid	Foundation,	Colorado’s	statewide	
fundraising	organization,	during	which	time	she	worked	with	Steve	Gottlieb	on	the	creation	of	The	
Fundraising	Project.		She	began	her	legal	aid	career	as	the	administrator	for	Colorado	Rural	Legal	
Services.		She	holds	a	B.S.	in	Business	Administration	from	the	University	of	California,	Berkeley,	
and	a	B.S.	in	Zoology	from	Colorado	State	University,	Fort	Collins.	
	

Deierdre	L.	Weir,	Executive	Director,	Legal	Aid	and	Defender	Association,	Inc.	
	
Deierdre	L.	Weir	is	president	and	CEO	of	Legal	Aid	and	Defender	Association,	Inc.,	(LAD).		She	is	
responsible	for	the	overall	administration	and	management	of	LAD’s	six	business	units.		LAD	has	an	
annual	budget	of	approximately	$18.5	million	and	more	than	140	full‐time	employees.		Ms.	Weir	
received	her	Bachelor	of	Science	degree	from	the	University	of	Michigan,	and	Masters	of	Science	
degrees	from	the	University	of	California	and	Central	Michigan	University.		She	has	also	received	
leadership	training	through	the	Nonprofit	Leadership	Training	Program	at	the	University	of	
Michigan,	and	is	a	graduate	of	the	Detroit	Regional	Chamber’s	Leadership	Detroit	program.		Ms.	
Weir	serves	on	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	National	Legal	Aid	and	Defender	Association,	where	
she	serves	as	Chair	of	the	Leadership	and	Diversity	Committee.		She	also	served	as	chair	of	the	Civil	
Policy	Group.		She	is	the	past	vice	chair	of	Michigan’s	Legal	Services	Planning	Body,	and	former	co‐
chair	of	the	Michigan	State	Planning	Body.		She	sits	on	the	board	of	the	Black	United	Fund,	the	
Minority	Organ	Tissue	Transplant	Education	Program,	and	the	Plymouth	United	Church	of	Christ.		
She	has	authored	an	article	titled,	“Creating	a	Management	Institute:	Better	Managers	Will	Mean	
Better	Service.”	
	

104



Promotion	&	Provision	Committee:	Resource	Development	Panel	
	
	

Jennifer	Bentley,	Outreach	and	Development	Manager,		
Legal	Services	of	South	Central	Michigan	

	
Jennifer	Bentley	has	been	the	Outreach	and	Development	Manager	of	Legal	Services	of	South	
Central	Michigan	(LSCCM)	since	2007.		LSSCM	is	a	regional	legal	aid	provider	for	13	counties	in	
south	and	central	Michigan	and	the	central	administrative	office	is	located	in	Ann	Arbor.		LSSCM	
also	administers	several	statewide	programs	‐	the	Michigan	Poverty	Law	Program,	Farmworker	
Legal	Services,	the	Michigan	Immigrant	Rights	Center,	Michigan	Elder	Justice	Initiative,	Michigan	
Law	Help	and	the	Michigan	Foreclosure	Prevention	Program.		Prior	to	her	current	position,	Ms.	
Bentley	was	a	staff	attorney	at	Legal	Aid	of	Western	Michigan	for	two	years	and	then	the	Managing	
Attorney	of	LSSCM’s	office	in	Battle	Creek	for	eight	years.		In	2011,	Ms.	Bentley	received	her	
Certificate	in	Fundraising	Management	from	the	Center	on	Philanthropy	at	Indiana	University.			Ms.	
Bentley	is	responsible	for	grants	and	fundraising	for	LSSCM’s	field	offices	and	statewide	programs.		
Ms.	Bentley	also	works	closely	with	the	Access	to	Justice	Campaign	–	a	collaborative	campaign	
between	the	State	Bar	of	Michigan,	the	Michigan	State	Bar	Foundation	and	Michigan’s	civil	legal	aid	
programs.	
	

Daniel	K.	Glazier,	Executive	Director,	Legal	Services	of	Eastern	Missouri	
	

Daniel	K.	Glazier	is	the	Executive	Director	and	General	Counsel	at	Legal	Services	of	Eastern	Missouri	
(LSEM).		Mr.	Glazier	began	his	work	with	LSEM	in	1981	as	a	Reginald	Heber	Smith	(Reggie)	Fellow	
in	the	Welfare	Law	Unit.		In	1983,	he	joined	the	Housing	Unit	where	he	represented	clients	with	
housing	issues	in	municipal,	state,	and	federal	courts	as	well	as	administrative	proceedings.		Mr.	
Glazier	then	focused	on	issues	relating	to	homelessness,	and	directed	the	Homeless	Legal	Project	at	
LSEM	from	1997	to	2005.		He	was	the	co‐managing	attorney	of	the	Housing	Unit	from	1998	to	2005	
and	was	selected	as	the	executive	director	&	general	counsel	of	LSEM	in	March	of	2005.		He	
received	his	J.D.	in	1981	from	Washington	University	School	of	Law;	M.S.W.	in	1980	from	
Washington	University	School	of	Social	Work;	and	Bachelor	in	Social	Work,	cum	laude,	in	1977	
from	Syracuse	University.	
	

Steve	Gottlieb,	Executive	Director,	Atlanta	Legal	Aid	Society	
	

Steve	Gottlieb	has	been	the	Executive	Director	of	the	Atlanta	Legal	Aid	Society	since	1980.		During	
this	time,	Atlanta	Legal	Aid	created	a	dozen	special	projects	designed	to	serve	particularly	
vulnerable	populations,	including	persons	with	AIDS	and	cancer,	children	at	Children's	Hospital	of	
Atlanta,	homeowners	subject	to	predatory	mortgage	lending,	disabled	persons	unnecessarily	
institutionalized,	and	seniors	including	residents	of	nursing	homes	and	personal	care	homes.		The	
program	has	expanded	each	project	through	targeted	fund	raising.		During	Mr.	Gottlieb’s	tenure,	
Atlanta	Legal	Aid	also	began	its	first	private	bar	campaign	and	now	raises	approximately	$1.6	
million	through	this	campaign	annually.		The	program	also	created	an	endowment	now	worth	
almost	$4	million.		In	1988,	Atlanta	Legal	Aid	hosted	an	informal	meeting	of	various	legal	aid	fund	
raising	staff	from	around	the	country	which	led	to	the	creation	of	The	Fundraising	Project,	initially	
housed	at	Atlanta	Legal	Aid’s	offices.		The	Fundraising	Project	has	since	merged	with	Management	
Information	Exchange	and	continues	its	national	yearly	legal	aid	fund	raising	training,	which	Mr.	
Gottlieb	has	participated	in	on	numerous	occasions.		In	2010,	he	was	honored	during	The	
Fundraising	Project’s	20th	anniversary	celebration	in	Atlanta,	Georgia.	
	

105



Operations & Regulations
Committee



 
  OPERATIONS & REGULATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
July 27, 2012 

 
Agenda 

 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of June 18, 2012 
 

3. Consider and act on proposed revisions to the Committee’s charter 
 

4. Consider and act on possible revisions to the Corporation’s Continuation 
of Operations Plan (“COOP”)  

 
5. Consider and act on rulemaking on grant termination procedures, 

enforcement mechanisms, and suspension procedures  
 

 Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 
 Matthew Glover, Associate Counsel to the Inspector General 
 Public comment 
 
 

6. Public comment  
 

7. Consider and act on other business 
 

8. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

106



Minutes from June 18, 2012
Meeting



Minutes: June 18, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 

Open Session 

Monday, June 18, 2012  

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
 Chairman Charles N.W. Keckler convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Operations and Regulations Committee (“the Committee”) at 2:33 p.m. 

on Monday, June 18, 2012.  The meeting was held at the F. William McCalpin Conference 

Center, Legal Services Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington, DC 20007.  

 

The following Committee members were present: 

Charles N.W. Keckler 
Harry J.F. Korrell 
Laurie I. Mikva 
John G. Levi, ex officio  
 
Also attending were: 
 
James J. Sandman   President 
Richard L. Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara  Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Mark Freedman  Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
David L. Richardson Comptroller and Treasurer, Office of financial And Administrative 

Services  
Jeffrey Schanz   Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the 

Inspector General (OIG) 
Matthew Glover Associate Counsel, OIG 
Tom Hester Associate Counsel, OIG 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, OIG 

107



Minutes: June 18, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG  
Glenn Rawdon Program Counsel, Office of Program Performance (OPP) 
Emily Gydesen Intern, Executive Office  
Flor Gardea  Intern, OLA 
Terry Brooks  American Bar Association Standing Committee on Legal Aid and 

Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
 

 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 Chairman Keckler gave thanks and appreciation to Mattie Cohan for her long period of 

service to the Committee and called the open session meeting to order.     

MOTION 

Ms. Reiskin moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Mikva seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

The motion passed by voice vote.   

MOTION 

Ms. Mikva moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s April 16, 2012 meeting.  

Mr. Levi seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 Chairman Keckler asked Mr. Fortuno to address revisions to the Board’s contributions 

protocol.  Mr. Fortuno provided a short background on the purpose of the revisions and 

summarized the proposed changes.  The Committee members and President Sandman shared 

comments and additional edits to the contributions protocol.   

MOTION 

108



Minutes: June 18, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

Mr. Levi moved to recommend to the Board of Directors the adoption of the revised 

contributions protocol.  Ms. Mikva seconded the motion.   

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 The Committee members next discussed the rulemaking options paper on a possible 

amendment to the regulation on subgrants and transfers, which was first presented at the April 

2011Committee and Board meeting.  Mr. Freedman explained that, based on his meetings with 

the Office of Inspector General, rulemaking is the best option to resolve this issue with some 

finality.  Mr. Freedman answered Committee members’ questions.  The Committee tasked LSC 

Management with preparing a supplementary rulemaking options paper.   

MOTION 

Ms. Mikva moved to recommend again to the Board that it begin a rulemaking process to 

resolve the subgrants and transfer issues, and to direct Management to prepare a supplementary 

rulemaking options paper.  Mr. Levi seconded the motion.   

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 The Committee next discussed at length the comments LSC received on the current 

rulemaking on termination, enforcement, and suspension procedures, which were summarized 

and presented by Mr. Freedman.  Chairman Keckler invited public comment on the alternative 

sanctions matter.  Mr. Brooks, on behalf of ABA, Mr. Greenfield, on behalf of NLADA, and the 

OIG shared comments with the Committee.  Chairman Keckler asked that any additional 

comments from the Board members be sent to Mr. Freedman.    

 Chairman Keckler invited public comment and received none.   

109



Minutes: June 18, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

There was no other business to consider. 

 

MOTION 

Ms. Mikva moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Korrell seconded the motion.    

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 4:30 p.m. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

110



Operations & Regulations Charter

111



CHARTER OF THE 
OPERATIONS AND REGULATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
I.  Purpose 

The purpose of the Committee shall be to consider and make recommendations to 
the Board regarding the Corporation’s operations, regulatory policy, and 
rulemaking activities. 

 
II. Membership 

The Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) shall appoint at least three Directors 
other than the Chairman to serve on the Committee. The Chairman, who shall 
serve as an ex officio voting member of the Committee and count towards a 
quorum, shall appoint the Chair of the Committee from among these Directors. 
Three Committee members will be required in order to constitute a quorum. 

 
III.  Meetings 

The Committee: 
(1) shall meet at least four times per calendar year, but may meet more 

frequently at the call of the Chairman or any two members of the 
Committee; and 

(2) may adopt procedural rules that are not inconsistent with this Charter, the 
Corporation’s Bylaws, or the laws to which the Corporation is subject. 

 
IV.  Resources 

All offices, divisions, and components of the Corporation, including the Office of 
Inspector General (“OIG”), shall cooperate with all requests made by the 
Committee for information and support. The Committee shall be given the 
resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 

 
V.  Authority 

The Committee: 
(1) shall have unrestricted access to the Corporation’s books, records, 

facilities, personnel, and outside consultants; 
 
(2) is authorized to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in this 

Charter, as well as any other activities reasonably related to the 
Committee’s purposes or as may be directed by the Board from time to 
time; 

 
(3) may delegate authority to one or more designated members of the 

Committee; 
 
(4) may rely on the expertise and knowledge of Management, the OIG, and 

such consultants and experts that the Board approves for carrying out its 
responsibilities; 

 

112



(5) may authorize to be conducted, or itself conduct, reviews into any matters 
within the scope of its responsibilities; and 

 
(6) may require any officer or employee of the Corporation or hired 

consultants to attend Committee meetings or to meet with any member(s) 
of or advisor(s) to the Committee. 

 
VI.  Duties and Responsibilities 

OPERATIONS 
The Committee: 
(1) shall periodically review and consider the Corporation’s organizational 

structure and internal operations, including personnel policy issues; 
 

(2) shall periodically review the Corporation’s compliance monitoring and 
enforcement efforts to ensure grantee compliance with the LSC Act, 
regulations, and other applicable laws; 
 

(3) shall monitor annually review and consider the Corporation’s 
performance in achieving the goals established in Strategic Directions the 
strategic plan of the Corporation, including consideration of the 
measures used to evaluate such performance; and 
 

(4) shall, as necessary, review with management and the OIG matters 
pertaining to the manner in which management and the OIG are carrying 
out their responsibilities. 

 
REGULATIONS 

The Committee shall receive, propose, review, and discuss regulatory policy, 
petitions for rulemaking, proposed regulations and priorities for rulemaking in 
conformance with the Corporation’s Rulemaking Protocol, as may be revised by 
the Board from time to time. The Committee shall also review and discuss the 
regulatory policies of the Corporation, and shall periodically review Board 
protocols and other policy statements directing the activities of the 
Corporation.  
 

OTHER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

The Committee: 
(5) shall regularly report Committee actions, and make recommendations the 

Committee deems appropriate, to the Board with respect to any matters the 
Committee deems necessary or appropriate or as requested by the Board; 
and 
 

(6) shall perform such other duties and responsibilities, consistent with this 
Charter, delegated to the Committee by the Board, but shall not act nor 
be deemed to act as an executive committee of the Board. 

113



 
PERIODIC REVIEW OF CHARTER 

The Committee shall periodically assess the adequacy of the Committee’s Charter and 
report to the Board the results of the assessment, as well as any recommendations of 
proposed changes to the Charter. 

114



Protocol for the acceptance and use of private contributions to LSC 
(for inclusion in the LSC Accounting and Administrative Manuals) 

From time to time, LSC may solicit private contributions for the conduct of LSC 
business and may, from time to time, receive unsolicited private contributions.  This 
protocol shall apply to the solicitation, budgeting, expenditure of and accounting for 
private contributions. 

A. Solicitation 

Private contributions to LSC may not be solicited by Directors, officers or staff of 
LSC without the prior approval of the Board of Directors.  Exempt from this 
requirement but subject to the approval of the President of LSC, are 1) 
solicitations directed to local merchants for modest donations of goods or funding 
for in-house staff events/functions and 2) fundraising among LSC staff for 
charitable causes.   

B. Notification to Donors 

Whenever a contribution to LSC is received by the Corporation, the Treasurer 
shall acknowledge the contribution and include the explanation required by law 
that the funds contributed to LSC may not be used in any manner that violates the 
LSC Act or any provision of the Appropriation Act that applies to LSC. 

C. Budgeting of contributions 

All private funds received by LSC for the same purposes, whether solicited or not, 
shall be accounted for separately.  The Board of Directors shall approve the 
budgeting of such contributions using the same LSC Budget Guidelines that apply 
to all other LSC funds.  If contributed funds come with restrictions, the General 
Counsel shall approve the legality of any such restrictions prior to the Board’s 
acceptance and budgeting of the funds.   

D. Expenditure from contributed funds 

Contributed funds shall be spent in accordance with the LSC Administrative 
Manual and subject to the same approval requirement as contained in the Manual. 
In the event that contributed funds are to be used to pay for expenses for which 
federal funds may not be used, such contributed funds must received and 
budgeted prior to any such expense being incurred.  No federal funds shall be 
advanced to cover expense intended to be paid for by private contributions. 

E. Should LSC engage in a solicitation of private contributions, the Comptroller 
shall provide an accounting of all additional expense to the Corporation for the 
solicitation.   

Revised and adopted on April 17, 2010

Currently in effect

and 

115



                                                                                                                        Proposed for Adoption  

Protocol for the Acceptance and Use  

of 

Private Contributions of Funds to LSC 

    (for inclusion in the LSC Accounting and Administrative Manuals) 
 

 

From time to time, LSC may receive private contributions of funds for the conduct of 
LSC business.  These private contributions may be in the form of grants for which LSC has 
applied, may be contributions other than grants that LSC staff or Board members have 
solicited, or may be unsolicited private contributions.  This protocol shall apply to the 
solicitation, acceptance, budgeting, expenditure of and accounting for private contributions of 
funds (whether in the form of grants or other solicited or unsolicited contributions).  In-kind 
contributions of goods or services are not subject to this protocol. 
 

A. Grants 
 
For the purposes of this protocol, a “grant” is defined as any funding opportunity 
made available by a third party pursuant to a Request for Proposal or some other 
equivalent application process. 
 
Applications for grants for the following purposes are hereby approved by the 
Board of Directors (“Board”) and LSC may submit grant applications for funding 
for such purposes without further approval of but subject to at least ten business 
days’ prior notice to the Board: 
 
• Grants for research projects related to legal services for people of limited 

means; 
 
• Grants for projects to provide training and technical assistance to LSC grant 

recipients or staff; 
 
• Grants for fellowships to take positions with LSC grant recipients; 
 
• Grants for programs to educate the public about the role of LSC-funded 

legal services providers in their communities, LSC, access to justice issues, 
and matters related to access to justice;   

 
•  

.  Grants for the advancement of pro bono programs serving the civil legal 
needs of persons of limited means; and 

  
• Grants in support of LSC’s private development capacity, with use of this 

capacity to remain subject to this protocol. 

116



Contributions Protocol        Proposed for Adoption 
Page 2 of 3 
_________________________ 
 
 

 
Before any Director, officer or employee of LSC applies for any grant for a 
purpose not listed above, the proposed grant application must be presented to the 
Board for approval no later than ten business days in advance of submission of the 
application. 

 
B. Solicitation of Non-Grant Contributions 

 
Except as otherwise provided herein, no Director, officer or employee may solicit the 
private contribution of funds without prior approval of the Board.   

 
Before any Director, officer or employee of LSC makes any solicitation the proposed 
solicitation must be presented to the Board for approval no later than ten business days 
in advance of the proposed solicitation. 
 
Exempt from this requirement,  but  subject  to  the  approval  of  the  President  of  
LSC,  are  1) solicitations for modest donations not to exceed a total of $5,000 per 
event for LSC staff events/functions and 2) fundraising among LSC staff for charitable 
causes.   

 
C. Unsolicited Contributions 

 
LSC Directors, officers and employees are authorized to discuss offers of unsolicited 
donations with the potential donor, but must notify such prospective donor that no 
donation may be accepted without the express approval of the LSC President or his/her 
designee.  If the offered donation is less than $5,000, the LSC President or his/her 
designee is authorized to accept the donation if he or she deems it appropriate.  For 
offered donations of $3,500 or more, the LSC President or his/her designee may accept 
such donations without further approval of but subject to at least ten business days’ 
prior notice to the Board 

 
D.  Notification to Donors 

 
Whenever a g r a n t  o r  o t h e r  contribution to LSC is received by the Corporation, 
the Treasurer shall acknowledge the contribution and, so long as required by law, 
include a statement that funds contributed to LSC may not be used in any manner that 
violates the LSC Act or any provision of the Appropriations Act that applies to LSC. 

 
E. Budgeting of contributions 

 
All private funds received by LSC for the same purposes, whether in the form of grants 
or solicited or unsolicited contributions shall be accounted for separately.  The Board 
shall approve the budgeting of such funds using the same LSC Budget Guidelines that 
apply to all other LSC funds.   If contributed funds carry restrictions, acceptance of the 
funds is subject to a determination by the General Counsel t h a t  L S C  m a y  

117



Contributions Protocol        Proposed for Adoption 
Page 3 of 3 
_________________________ 
 
 

l e g a l l y  accept the funds. 
 

F.  Expenditures from contributed funds 
 

Contributed funds shall be spent in accordance with the LSC Administrative Manual 
and are subject to the same approval requirements as contained in the Manual.  In the 
event that contributed funds are to be used to pay for expenses for which federal  funds  
may  not  be  used,  such  contributed  funds  must  be received  and budgeted prior to 
any such expense being incurred.  No federal funds shall be advanced to cover any 
expense intended to be paid for by private contributions. 

 
G.  A c c o u n t i n g  
 

 Should LSC engage in a solicitation of private contributions, the Comptroller shall 
provide an accounting of any additional expense to the Corporation associated with 
the solicitation. 

 

 
 

_______________________ 
 

                    Adopted on [insert date] and supersedes 
         Board Resolution nos. 2010-004 and 2008-013 

118



 
 
 
 
 

Resolution #2012-0xx 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

RESOLUTION  
 

MODIFYING LSC’S PROTOCOL FOR ITS ACCEPTANCE AND USE  
OF  

PRIVATE CONTRIBUTIONS  

 

WHEREAS, the Legal Services Corporation (“LSC” or “Corporation”) may on 
occasion receive private contributions for permissible purposes; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (“Board”) has established an Institutional 
Advancement Committee and is in the process of developing a development plan 
for the Corporation; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has carefully studied the Protocol for the Acceptance and 
Use of Private Contributions of Funds to LSC (“the Protocol”) and determined that 
certain revisions to the Protocol are warranted;  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board adopts the attached modified 
protocol for the acceptance and use of private contributions to LSC. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT Management is charged with ensuring 
that the amended protocol is followed and that any proposed future revisions to the 
protocol be subject by the Board. 
 
 

Adopted by the Board of Directors 
on July 27, 2012 

 
 

________________ 
John G. Levi  
Chairman 

                                                           
              

          ______________________________                      
  Victor M. Fortuno 

                                                          General Counsel & Corporate Secretary  
 

 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

119



Corporation's Continuation
of Operations Plan



 

Emergency 
Response Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Revised August 2011 Julyne 2012 

 

Continuity of 
Operations Plans 

120



Legal Services Corporation (LSC) 
LSC CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS PLANSContinuity of Operations Plan 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 

Overview……………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Board of Directors (Board) Continuity of Operations Plan………………………………………. 
 
Executive Office (EO) Continuity of Operations Plan ....................................................................1 
 
Office of Compliance and Enforcement (OCE) Continuity of Operations Plan .............................6 
 
Office of Financeial and Administrative Services (OFAS) Continuity of Operations Plan ..........12 
 
Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs (GRPA) Continuity of Operations Plan ......26 
 
Office of Human Resources (OHR) Continuity of Operations Plan..............................................31 
 
Office of Information Management (OIM) Continuity of Operations Plan Situation ...................34 
 
Office of Information Technology (OIT) Continuity of Operations Plan .....................................39 
 
Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) Continuity of Operations Plan ......................................................49 
  
Office of Program Performance (OPP) Continuity of Operations Plan .........................................58 
 
Appendix A………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Appendix B……………………………………………………………………………………….... 
 
Appendix C………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Formatted: Font: 14 pt

121



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 1 

Overview 
 

A. Organization Description 
 
The Legal Services Corporation (LSC or Corporation) was established by an Act of Congress in 
1974 and is the nation’s largest single funder of civil legal aid programs for people in poverty.  
LSC currently provides grants to 134 independent, non-profit legal aid programs serving every 
county in the United States and the territories as well.  LSC’s mission is to promote equal access 
to justice in the United States and to fund high quality civil legal assistance to low-income 
persons throughout the country.  LSC is responsible for overseeing grantees’ compliance with 
legal requirements and prohibitions, for ensuring grantees’ maintenance of the highest quality of 
service and professional standards, and for ensuring that grants are made so as to provide the 
most economical and effective delivery of legal assistance. 
 
B. Purpose 
 
To accomplish its mission, LSC must ensure that its operations are performed efficiently, and 
with minimal disruption -- especially during an emergency.  This document provides planning 
and guidance to ensure that LSC is capable of conducting its essential mission and functions 
under all threats and conditions.  While the severity and consequences of an emergency cannot 
be predicted, effective contingency planning can minimize the impact on the Corporation’s 
mission, personnel, and facility. 
 
The overall purpose of LSC’s Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP or Plan) is to ensure the 
continuity of the Corporation’s Mission Essential Functions (MEF) and identified essential 
functions under all conditions.  The current changing threat environment and recent emergencies, 
including acts of nature, accidents, technological emergencies, and military or terrorist attack-
related incidents, have increased the need for viable continuity of operations capabilities and 
plans that enable organizations to continue their essential functions across a spectrum of 
emergencies.  These conditions, coupled with the potential for terrorist use of weapons of mass 
destruction, have increased the importance of having continuity programs that ensure continuity 
of essential operational functions. 
 
C. Applicability and Scope 
 
The Corporation’s COOP is designed to maintain operational activities during 
emergency/disaster events, and seeks to effectively minimize system outages and down times 
while providing the highest level of service possible until normal operations fully resume.  This 
plan also is intended to facilitate the response and recovery process. 
 
This document applies to a full range of circumstances, from a short-term, localized event to a 
long-enduring regional emergency that may impact various operations, and applies to natural 
disaster events as well as man-made threats. 
 
Events and hazards referenced in this plan include natural events, as well as intentional and non-
intentional man-made events that could adversely affect the ability of the Corporation to perform 

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

122



2 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

its essential functions.  Natural hazards are those where the occurrence is beyond the control of 
the Corporation, including earthquakes, floods, ice storms, winter weather, and external fires.  
Intentional man-made hazards are also beyond the direct control of the Corporation, and could 
include events such as external sabotage, and terrorism.  Non-intentional man-made events, such 
as power outages, fires, explosions, equipment failures, or human errors may or may not be 
within the control of the Corporation.  Any of these events could lead to loss of physical space, 
reduction in workforce, or loss of critical support services -- leading to the partial or complete 
activation of the COOP. 
 
This Plan does not apply to temporary disruptions of service including minor IT system or power 
outages and any other scenarios where essential functions can be readily restored in the 
Corporation’s Washington, DC facility.    
 
D. Concept of Operations 
 
In order to achieve its intended goals, a COOP must be maintained at a high level of 
preparedness and be ready for implementation with little or no warning.  As such, LSC has 
developed a concept of operations, which describes the approach to implementing the COOP.  
The Plan can be fully implemented within twenty-four to forty-eight hours of activation and be 
capable of sustaining operations for up to thirty days.  The broad objective of this COOP plan is 
to provide for the safety and well-being of the Corporation’s employees, and enable continued 
operations during any crisis or event.  Specific COOP plan objectives include the following: 
 

 Protect life, health and safety; protect property; and return to normal or near normal 
operations as quickly as is feasible. 

 Enable staff to perform essential functions; 
 Identify essential personnel, back-up and supporting staff for relocation or for 

performance of essential functions; and 
 Protect and maintain vital records, systems and equipment. 

 
E. Planning Assumptions 
 
This COOP is based on the following assumptions. 
 

 A major emergency or COOP implementation triggering event could happen at any time. 
 Emergencies or threatened emergencies may adversely affect LSC’s ability to continue to 

support essential operations and to provide services or support to grantees or other 
constituents.  The effect to the Corporation’s continued delivery of services can include 
loss of physical space, reduction or loss of personnel, or loss of internal or external 
support services. 

 Personnel and other resources from the Corporation and possibly other organizations 
outside the area affected by the emergency or threat would be made available, if required, 
to assist with essential operations. 

 Mobile communications capabilities will be used in the interim to ensure direction and 
control of the COOP activation.  

 An emergency condition may require immediate activation of the COOP. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [RS1]: These numbers are open for 
discussion.   

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

123



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 3 

 
F. Essential Functions 
 
The Corporation’s functions are categorized as follows: 
 
 Category 1:  Mission Critical – services that must remain operational at all times 
 Category 2:  Immediate Post-Incident – services that must be brought back on-line as 
soon as possible, and no later than 24 hours after an incident 
 Category 3:  Normal Services – services that need not be restored in full until the incident 
has passed and Category 1 and 2 services are operational. 
 
Both Category 1 and 2 are considered essential functions.  The positions necessary to carry out 
these functions, along with requisite support duties are listed in Annex A, Essential Functions. 
 
The COOP is based on the principle that the critical mission of the Corporation is altered during 
emergency incidents to include the preservation of life, health and safety, the protection of 
property, and the return to normal or near normal operations as quickly as is feasible.  It is 
understood that maintaining or quickly restoring communication is central to these emergency 
functions. The circumstances that determine the degree to which the general functions of the 
Corporation are curtailed or suspended are as follows: 
 

 loss of ability to provide for the health and safety needs of LSC’s personnel; 
 loss of use of LSC’s office space; 
 loss of power; 
 loss of telecommunications; and 
 loss or inaccessibility of information technology systems 

 
When confronted with events which disrupt the normal operations, the Corporation will provide 
those essential functions which must be continued even under the most challenging emergency 
circumstances.  The Corporation has identified as essential functions only those most critical 
activities which:  ensure the safety and security of LSC’s employees; support the maintenance 
and/or restoration of internal operations; and facilitate emergency response operations. 
 
Essential functions are organized by area of responsibility.  After addressing life and health 
safety concerns, the most critical system is the Corporation’s internal and external 
communications systems.  The Corporation has identified critical processes, services, systems, 
and equipment necessary to support each essential function, as well as key personnel required.  
The prioritized listing of essential functions, and critical processes or services, personnel, 
records, equipment and resources, and systems supporting each essential function was 
determined through meetings of LSC’s management team 
 
Essential Functions/ Recovery time Objectives 
 
 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Highlight

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Comment [RS2]:  TO BE DEFINED 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Highlight

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Comment [RS3]: TO BE DETERMINED 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

124



4 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

Essential 
Function 

Essential 
Personnel and 
Back-up 

Vendors 
and 

External 
Contracts 

Vital 
Records 

Equipment Systems Recovery 
Time 

Objective 
(RTO) 

Electrical  PEPCO?  Transformers, 
Power lines 

Power grid 24 hours 

Information 
Technology 
Communication 
Services 

  Databases Servers (Internet; 
e-mail; 
voicemail) 

E-mail, 
phone, 
Internet 

24 hours 
(Possibly 
faster with 
Disaster 
Recovery site)

Information 
Technology 
Applications 

   Servers, d- 
bases 

Banner, 
Network 

48 hours 

Water  DC Water & 
Sewer 
Authority 

  Distribution 
System 

4 hours 

Access Control  Datawatch D-base Readers, cards Program 
software 

24 hours 

 
 
G. Execution 
 
The Corporation’s President, or his or her designated successor, may activate the COOP. The 
COOP is activated based on known or anticipated threats and emergencies that may occur with 
or without warning.  LSC will use a time-phased approach for implementation whereby critical 
resources are deployed early and other resources will follow as needed. 
 
Known threats and emergencies (with warning):  There are some threats to operations that may 
afford enough advance warning to allow for the orderly alert, notification, evacuation, and if 
necessary, relocation of employees.  Situations that might provide such warning include a 
hurricane, a transportation accident resulting in a threat of a release of hazardous material 
(HAZMAT), severe weather, or a threat of a terrorist incident. 
 
Unanticipated threats and emergencies (no warning):  Incidents may also occur with no warning.  
In these circumstances, depending on the severity and anticipated duration of the emergency, the 
President would determine whether to activate the COOP – and, if so, at what point. 
  
LSC makes no distinction between duty hours and non-duty hours in its COOP.   
 
 
 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left

Formatted ... [1]

Formatted: Line spacing:  Exactly 12.9 pt

Formatted ... [2]

Formatted ... [3]

Formatted ... [4]

Formatted ... [5]

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted ... [6]

Formatted: Line spacing:  Exactly 13.35 pt

Formatted ... [7]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted ... [8]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted ... [9]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted ... [10]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted ... [11]

Formatted ... [12]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

125



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 5 

Implementation Scenarios 
 
The Corporation is vulnerable to a full range of threats and hazards (man-made, natural and 
technological disasters).  If properly implemented, this COOP will reduce or prevent disaster-
related losses. 
 
There are a range of plausible scenarios that could justify the implementation of the COOP, 
including the following:   
 

 Scenario 1:  Loss of Access to LSC’s Office 
 Scenario 2:  Loss of Services Due to a Reduction of Workforce (e.g., illness; injury) 
 Scenario 3:  Loss of Services Due to Equipment or System Failure 

 
Likewise, any of these scenarios might occur during or after traditional business hours.  
 

COOP Plan Implementation 
 
Implementation of the plan is based on three phases of operation:  activation; alternate facility 
operations (via telework); and reconstitution. 
 

Phase I – Activation  
 
This COOP plan provides for the protection, accessibility, and recovery of the Corporation’s 
vital records, systems, and equipment.  These are records that if lost, irretrievable, or damaged 
would materially impair the Corporation’s long-term ability to conduct operations. 
 
Once notified that the COOP plan is implemented, a designated department staff person notifies 
essential personnel for affected essential functions. 
 
Supervisors and managers make contact with staff under their span of control via use of staff 
contact list, and, if applicable, confirm the safe evacuation of staff from LSC’s offices.  
Designated personnel at the department level are responsible for keeping personnel contact lists 
current and maintaining the lists in hard-copy off-site. 
 
Communications systems must provide a means to contact employees, external organizations 
(e.g., grantees, government agencies, vendors), and the public. To ensure communications during 
COOP events, the Corporation has identified primary and alternate modes of communication. 
 

Phase II – Operations Via Alternate Location/Telework 
 
In the event that there is a loss of access to LSC’s office building, to the extent practicable, 
personnel should plan to work remotely, accessing LSC’s computer network through Citrix or 
Outlook Web Access connections, until it is feasible and safe to return to LSC’s office building.  
(Please refer to the Office of Information Technology’s COOP for additional details regarding 
remote access log-in instructions.)  
 

Formatted ... [13]

Formatted ... [14]

Formatted ... [15]

Formatted ... [16]

Formatted ... [17]

Formatted ... [18]

Formatted ... [19]

Formatted ... [20]

Formatted ... [21]

Formatted ... [22]

Formatted ... [23]

Formatted ... [24]

Formatted ... [25]

Formatted ... [26]

Formatted ... [27]

Formatted ... [28]

Formatted ... [29]

Formatted ... [30]

Formatted ... [31]

Formatted ... [32]

Formatted ... [33]

Formatted ... [34]

Formatted ... [35]

Formatted ... [36]

Formatted ... [37]

Formatted ... [38]

Formatted ... [39]

Formatted ... [40]

Formatted ... [41]

Formatted ... [42]

Formatted ... [43]

Formatted ... [44]

Formatted ... [45]

Comment [RS4]: Have we/could we identify ... [46]

Formatted ... [47]

Formatted ... [48]

Formatted ... [49]

Formatted ... [50]

Formatted ... [51]

Formatted ... [52]

Formatted ... [53]

Formatted ... [54]

Formatted ... [55]

Formatted ... [56]

126



6 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

Phase III – Reconstitution 
 
Essential personnel continue to provide essential services. 
 
LSC’s President or designee informs staff that the threat of, or actual emergency, no longer 
exists, and provides instructions and timeline for resumption of normal operations.  
Announcement is disseminated via established notification procedures (telephone/text 
message/e-mail trees). 
 
Corporation reports the status of reconstitution to other key contacts (grantees, vendors, local 
jurisdictions, vendors, partners), as applicable. 
 
Reconstitution Process:  The Corporation’s facilities management representatives must evaluate 
the physical structure and condition of the facility, and designate it safe to occupy.  The building 
will not be declared habitable nor can internal functions resume until the Corporation’s President 
or designee is satisfied that operations can be restored without reasonable fear of a re-evacuation. 
 
Reconstitution Procedures:  The Corporation will establish specific actions to ensure a timely 
and efficient return of communications, direction and control, and, if applicable, transfer of vital 
records to LSC’s office building. 
 
After-Action Review and Remedial Action Plans.  The Corporation will assess all phases and 
elements of an activated COOP and prepare recommendations for improvement. 
 
H. Leadership 
 

Orders of Succession 
 
There may be instances when an individual who is designated as a leader is unable to fill 
their leadership role.  Because the role is essential to the department being able to complete 
its critical missions, a successor will need to assume that leadership role. 
 
A successor will assume the duties of the leadership role when the usual leader is not able to 
be contacted by usual methods (e.g., telephone, cellular telephone, text message, e-mail, etc.), 
and will relinquish leadership duties when the usual leader is contacted or until a permanent 
successor has been named by the President or the President’s designee. Permanent successors 
to Officers of the Corporation or to the President require approval of the Board of Directors. 
  
Employees responsible for maintaining vital systems and records shall be considered 
key department positions for purposes of succession planning. 
 
The order of succession applies in the event that any of those listed are unable to be reached 
or are otherwise incapacitated. 
 

Delegations of Authority 
 
Designated essential employees and their successors, upon appointment to an essential position, 
shall have the full authority and responsibility to carry out their essential functions unless 
otherwise indicated in this plan.  “Succession,” in this context, pertains only to the activation of 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
Bold

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Comment [RS5]: Determine who should be 
involved in this review/assessment. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.25"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman,
12 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.25"

127



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 7 

this COOP plan and the performance of the essential functions listed herein for the duration of 
COOP plan activation, or until relieved by proper authority. 
 
Orders of Succession 

Position Successor 1 Successor 2 Successor 3 
President    
Vice President and 
General Counsel 

   

Inspector General    
Treasurer/Comptroller    
IT Director    
HR Director    
Chief of Staff/Special 
Assistant to the 
President 

   

Special Assistant to the 
President 

   

    
 
 

I. COOP Plan Maintenance and Testing 

 
To maintain viable COOP capabilities, the Corporation is continually engaged in a process to 
designate essential functions and resources, define short- and long-term COOP goals and 
objectives, forecast budgetary requirements, anticipate and address issues and potential 
obstacles, and establish planning milestones.  The following is a proposed list of activities 
necessary to monitor the dynamic elements of LSC’s COOP: 

 
 

Activity Tasks Frequency 

COOP review and 
update 

 Review entire plan for accuracy. 
 Incorporate lessons learned and changes in 

policy and philosophystrategy. 
 Manage distribution. 

Annually 

Maintain orders of 
succession and 
delegations of 
authority 
 

 Identify current incumbents. 
 Update rosters and contact information. 

SemiAannually or upon 
relevant personnel 
changes 

Monitor and maintain 
vital records 
management  

 Monitor volume of materials. 
 Update/remove files. 

Ongoing 

Test Remote Access 
Capabilities 

 Test all systems, IT and communications Ongoing 

Comment [RS6]: Need to establish order of 
succession; add Vice President for Programs yet; 
others?  

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 10 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

128



8 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

Activity Tasks Frequency 

Train new key 
personnel 

 Provide orientation. 
 Schedule participation in training and exercises. 

Within 30 days of 
appointment 

Orient new 
leadership and senior 
management 

 Brief officials on COOP philosophystrategy. 
 Brief each position on his/her COOP 

responsibilities. 

Within 30 days of 
appointment 

Plan and conduct 
exercises 

 Conduct internal exercises. Annually or as needed 

Review and Approve 
COOP Plan 

 Review COOP Plan changes  As needed 

 
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 10 pt

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Bulleted + Level:
1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman

129



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 9 

OPERATIONAL CHECKLIST 
 

Item Task Task Assigned To 
Date and Time 

Completed 

Activation 

1 Receive notification of emergency   

2 If necessary, conduct evacuation   

3 Account for all staff   

4 
If necessary, contact Emergency 
Responders (Fire, Police, EMS)  

  

5 
Ensure that safety measures are put into 
effect 

  

6 
Contact building maintenance for 
shutting down utilities to limit further 
damage 

  

7 
Direct and assist emergency personnel 
as required 

  

8 Activate COOP Plan as necessary   

9 
If necessary, invoke Orders of 
Succession 

  

10 
Initiate notification of all staff including 
continuity personnel 

  

11 
 

Assemble supporting elements required 
for re-establishing and performing 
essential functions at continuity facility 
location, if applicable: 
 Vital files, records and databases 
 Critical equipment 

  

12 
Notify all support organizations and 
critical contacts of COOP activation. 

  

13 Develop and deliver status report   

Continuity Operations 

14 
Develop shift rotations, as required (if 
appropriate) 

  

15 
Determine which mission essential 
functions have been affected 

  

16 Develop and deliver status report   

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

130



10 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

Item Task Task Assigned To 
Date and Time 

Completed 

17 
Prioritize remaining essential functions 
for restoration 

  

18 
Track status and restoration efforts of 
all essential functions 

  

19 
Coordinate procurement of additional 
equipment, as required 

  

Reconstitution 

20 Appoint reconstitution team   

21 

Survey condition of LSC’s office 
building and determine feasibility of 
salvaging, restoring or returning to 
original facility when emergency 
subsides or is terminated  

  

22 
Develop long term reconstitution and 
recovery plans should original facility 
cannot be re-occupied. 

  

23 

Inventory and salvage useable 
equipment, materials, records and 
supplies from damaged facility, if 
possible  

  

24 
Evaluate original or new facility to 
assure that all critical services and 
support are available and operational. 

  

25 

Conduct transition of mission essential  
functions, personnel and equipment 
from continuity facility (telework 
locations) back to designated facility  

  

26 

Conduct transition of remaining 
essential function, personnel and 
equipment from continuity facility 
(telework locations) back to designated 
facility 

  

27 
Schedule and conduct initial debrief 
with staff  

  

 
 
Questions, comments, and suggestions for improvement of the Corporation’s COOP should be 
submitted to:   
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

131



COOP – Executive OfficeOverview 11 

LIST ALL RELEVANT CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 
 

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [RS7]: Identify recipient for COOP 
revisions 

132



12 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

Board of Directors (Board)  
Continuity of Operations Plan 

 Purpose 
  
 The COOP provides guidance to the Corporation’s Board of Directors for an effective 
response to an emergency situation in which the LSC building is destroyed or becomes 
uninhabitable for a period of more than a few days.  Each Board Member will be given a copy of 
the COOP plan and will be asked to keep it at home, either in hard copy or electronic form.   
  
  
 Planning Assumptions 
  
In the event of a declared emergency affecting the District of Columbia, and the consequent 
activation of the Continuity of Operations Plan, LSC’s President (or successor, in capacity as 
Acting President) has the independent authority to, and shall, attempt to contact all Directors by 
whatever practicable means and convene a meeting in person, via telephone or via electronic 
communications, within 48 hours after the activation of the COOP, and following a meeting of 
the Executive Team (including, as necessary, designated successors).  This emergency meeting 
of the Board shall be deemed closed, and public notice of the meeting shall be deemed waived if 
it is held in accordance with these procedures and related bylaws, as certified by the General 
Counsel (or successor, in capacity as Acting General Counsel).  Minutes shall be kept of this 
meeting by the Corporate Secretary (or successor of same, or by any individual designated by the 
Director acting as Chair of meeting).  An effective quorum for a meeting of the Board under 
emergency conditions shall consist of at least 2 Directors, and the President or Acting President 
shall be authorized, according to theirhis or her discretion, to exercise a proposed and voted-upon 
course of action in the event of a tie vote.  
 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair, the order of succession for Acting Chair, for 
purposes of an emergency meeting, shall proceed with Committee Chairs in the following 
precedence: (1) those Committee Chairs of the same political party as the duly-elected Board 
Chair, in order of the date of the establishment of the Committees they chair, earliest first; (2) 
other Committee Chairs, in order of the date of establishment of the Committees they chair, 
earliest first; or (3) length of service on the LSC Board of Directors, longest serving first.  The 
Board may vote in emergency meeting to designate any Director as Acting Chair, who shall 
continue to serve as such in the absence of the Chair or Vice-Chair, or by action in a non-
emergency meeting of the Board.  The emergency Board meeting has the authority to set the 
time, place, and manner of a further such meeting, provided that there is a continuing duty on the 
part of the Corporation to use all practicable means to contact all Directors for the purposes of 
notice, and that the conditions of emergency continue.  
 
The emergency Board meeting shall be authorized to confirm those individuals designated by 
succession as Officers of the Corporation, in acting appointments with full authority, until such 
time as the Board acts otherwise, and to ratify actions taken by agents of the Corporation prior to 
the emergency meeting.  
 

Formatted: Left:  1", Right:  1", Not Different
first page header

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

133



COOP – OCOOP – AppendixIT 13 

The Board, meeting in emergency session, also has authority to allocate funds from the 
Management and Grants Oversight (MGO) budget to the preservation of the Corporation, the 
health, safety and welfare of its employees, and to corporate continuity of operations in accord 
with the approved COOP.  The Board has authority to disburse any pre-existing emergency or 
discretionary funds, such authorization being either for the emergency response and recovery of 
the Corporation, or for the use of its grantees affected by the emergency.  Furthermore, the Board 
has authority to permit the President or Acting President, at his or her discretion, to seek from 
Congress (or the appropriate governmental body) the necessary flexibility for the use of other 
appropriated funds for emergency response and recovery.  Any such disbursements or re-
allocation shall be approved by both the President or Acting President, and the Treasurer of the 
Corporation (or successor, as Acting Treasurer).  
  
  
 Mission Eessential Ffunctions 
 
In an emergency, as many members of the Board as possible need to meet as quickly as possible 
to assess the situation, understand the extent of the damage and anticipated duration of the 
emergency situation, and, in turn, to: 
 
(1) confirm the order of succession and ratify any emergency acts; and  
(2) provide authority and funds to restore the Corporation’s normal operations. 
 
During the emergency meeting, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Board and the 
Corporation’s Officers will determine an appropriate schedule for ongoing status reports.   

 
 
 
 Alert and Initial response and activation of plan when LSC offices are evacuated or 
if the office cannot open on a workdayActivation 
 
 
 
Emergency Contact Information 
 

Name Phone E-mail 

John G. Levi 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Martha Minnow 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Sharon L. Browne 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Robert J. Grey Jr. 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Charles N.W. Keckler 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Harry J.F. Korrell III (H)  

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted Table

134



14 COOP – Executive OfficeEO  

(C) 

Victor B. Maddox 
(H) 
(C) 

 

LaruieLaurie Mikva 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Father Pius Pietrzyk 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Julie A. Reiskin 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Gloria Valencia-Weber 
(H) 
(C) 

 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

135



COOP – OCOOP – AppendixIT 15 

 
 Formatted: Normal

136



Enforcement Mechanisms



FNPRM

137



  

1 
 
 

7050 01 P 01 P 

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION 

45 CFR Parts 1606, 1618, and 1623  

Termination, Limited Reductions in Funding, and Debarment Procedures; 

Recompetition; Enforcement; Suspension Procedures 

AGENCY: Legal Services Corporation 

ACTION: Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking  

SUMMARY: This Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (FNPRM) proposes 

modifications to the January 31, 2012, NPRM regarding amendments to the Legal 

Services Corporation’s regulations on termination procedures, enforcement, and 

suspension procedures.  LSC seeks comments limited to the substantively new materials 

as indicated by the questions in the Supplementary Information. 

DATES:  Comments on the FNPRM are due [insert date 60 days from date of 

publication]. 

ADDRESS:  Written comments may be submitted by mail, fax, or email to Mark 

Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel, Legal Services Corporation, 3333 K Street 

NW, Washington, DC 20007; 202-295-1623 (phone); 202-337-6519 (fax); 

mfreedman@lsc.gov. 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant 

General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs, Legal Services Corporation, 3333 K Street, 

NW, Washington, DC 20007; 202-295-1623 (phone); 202-337-6519 (fax); 

mfreedman@lsc.gov. 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:  

138



  

2 
 
 

Introduction 

The Legal Services Corporation (LSC) Act (the Act) provides general authority to 

the Corporation “to insure the compliance of recipients and their employees with the 

provisions of [the Act] and the rules, regulations, and guidelines promulgated pursuant to 

[the Act].”1  On January 31, 2012, LSC published in the Federal Register at 77 Fed. Reg. 

4749 a NPRM proposing changes to LSC’s enforcement mechanisms to add a lesser 

reduction in funding option and extend the time for suspensions from 30 to 90 days.  The 

NPRM provided history and background that is not repeated herein. 

Nineteen comments were submitted.  The comments are available in the open 

rulemaking section of LSC’s website at www.lsc.gov.   

http://www.lsc.gov/about/regulations-rules/open-rulemaking 

On July 18, 2012, the Operations and Regulations Committee (Committee) of the 

LSC Board of Directors (Board) met to discuss the comments.  Only the comment of the 

Office of Inspector General (OIG) supported the proposal as written, although the OIG 

recommends a rule providing for suspensions to remain in place until corrective actions 

are taken, and the OIG questioned whether the proposed language regarding imposing 

immediate special grant conditions was unduly restricted.   Seventeen of the other 

comments opposed the proposed changes.  Those comments include ones from LSC 

recipients, coalitions of legal aid programs, the National Legal Aid and Defender 

Association (NLADA), and the New York State Bar Association Committee on Legal 

                                                 
 
1  LSC Act, section 1006(b)(1)(A); 42 U.S.C. 2996e(b)(1)(A). 
 

139



  

3 
 
 

Aid.  The American Bar Association Standing Committee on Legal Aid and Indigent 

Defendants (SCLAID) did not oppose the rulemaking, but joined with the other 

seventeen comments in recommended changes to the proposed language if LSC proceeds 

with rulemaking.   These comments had a number of common themes.  Fifteen of the 

comments were two or three pages.  The ABA, NLADA, and Colorado Legal Services 

provided more extensive comments (five to seven pages).  The OIG’s comments in 

support of the rule were sixteen pages in length.  This further notice of proposed 

rulemaking (FNPRM) provides revisions to the proposed language for further comment.  

The final rule will include a discussion of all of the comments received on both the 

NPRM and the FNPRM. 

On July 27, 2012, the Committee met again to discuss the comments and LSC 

Management’s recommendations.  The Committee voted to recommend to the Board 

publication of these further revisions to the proposal based on consideration of the 

comments and recommendations of Management.  On July 27, 2012, the Board voted to 

publish this FNPRM for public comment on the specific items identified below.   In 

addition to this FNPRM, LSC is publishing on its website redlined versions of the 

regulations showing each change.  Those documents are available in the Open 

Rulemaking section of www.lsc.gov. 

http://www.lsc.gov/about/regulations-rules/open-rulemaking 

LSC’s principal regulation discussing general enforcement authority and 

procedures is the Enforcement Procedures regulation at 45 CFR part 1618.  In accordance 

with the requirements of Part 1618, LSC uses a variety of enforcement tools, formal and 

informal, to ensure compliance. Among these are informal consultations and compliance 

140



  

4 
 
 

training, on-site Case Service Report/Case Management System reviews, the imposition 

of Required Corrective Actions (RCAs), and the imposition of Special Grant Conditions 

(SGCs) at the beginning or renewal of a grant.  Several additional enforcement tools are 

provided for in LSC-adopted regulations and are available to the Corporation to address 

significant non-compliance by a recipient.  In particular, LSC has adopted suspension 

procedures (45 CFR part 1623) and questioned-cost procedures (45 CFR part 1630).  

LSC has also adopted grant termination procedures (45 CFR part 1606) that provide for 

the termination of funding in whole or in part in cases of a recipient’s substantial 

noncompliance with LSC statutory or regulatory requirements and other policies, 

instructions, or grant terms and conditions.  Under the grant-termination provisions, a 

reduction of five percent or more of a recipient’s funding is considered a termination and 

can be implemented only in compliance with the termination procedures.2  Reductions of 

funding of less than five percent are not considered terminations.  In order to reduce a 

recipient’s funding by less than five percent without using the 1606 termination 

procedures, additional procedures have to be established by rulemaking.3  LSC has not 

yet adopted regulations establishing such standards and procedures.  LSC also has the 

authority under Part 1606 to debar recipients from eligibility to receive future grants.   

 The majority of LSC recipients are in substantial compliance with LSC 

requirements most of the time.  When non-compliance occurs, recipients almost always 

work diligently and cooperatively with LSC staff to come promptly into compliance, but 

                                                 
 
2   45 CFR 1606.2(d).   
 
3  45 CFR 1606.2(d)(2)(v).  

141



  

5 
 
 

there have been exceptions.  LSC is now considering adding enforcement tools to 

increase LSC’s flexibility in addressing compliance issues.  

 In light of its experience with the existing enforcement mechanisms, discussed 

more fully in the NPRM, LSC is proposing to amend its regulations at 45 CFR parts 

1606, 1618, and 1623 to adopt standards and procedures for limited reductions in 

funding, to allow for the imposition of SGCs during a grant year, and to amend the 

maximum suspension period from 30 to 90 days.  LSC is not modifying the proposed 

changes to Part 1623 as set out in the NPRM; no further comments on Part 1623 are 

requested.  The proposed changes and the modifications to those changes in this FNPRM 

are discussed in greater detail below.   

Amending Part 1606 to Include Standards and Procedures for Limited Reductions in 

Funding 

 LSC proposed adding to Part 1606 a new definition for lesser reductions in 

funding and a new § 1606.15 to provide procedures for imposing them.  The proposed 

procedures were based on the suspension procedures in Part 1623, which provide a 

significant opportunity for recipient input and due process without being unduly complex.  

Those proposed procedures would have permitted the recipient to request an informal 

conference regarding the proposed reduction in funding.  There were no further avenues 

of appeal. 

 Many comments raised the concern that the proposed procedures were inadequate 

for lesser reductions in funding because they lacked an appeal of the informal conference 

and did not include review by an impartial person.  Suspensions withhold funds from a 

recipient with the expectation that the funds will be provided when the suspension ends.  

142



  

6 
 
 

In contrast, terminations, disallowed costs, and lesser reductions in funding all involve a 

nonrecoverable loss of funding for the recipient.  For terminations of five percent or 

greater, the recipient has a right to appeal a determination to an impartial hearing officer 

appointed by the LSC President.  The hearing officer’s decision is then reviewed by the 

LSC President, who makes the final decision.4  For disallowed costs under Part 1630, the 

recipient has a right to appeal a disallowed cost decision to the LSC President.  The 

President may act on the appeal only if he or she has not “had prior involvement in the 

consideration of the disallowed cost . . . .”5  Otherwise, “the President shall designate 

another senior Corporation employee who has not had prior involvement to review the 

recipient's appeal.”6 

 LSC agrees that some appeal is appropriate for lesser reductions.  That appeal 

should also provide for review by someone was not involved in the prior LSC decisions 

regarding the preliminary and final determinations.  The proposed language below would 

add an appeal to the LSC President, who would decide the matter unless he or she was 

involved in those prior decisions.  Alternately, the LSC President can appoint another 

LSC senior employee who was not involved in those prior decisions. 

 The comments also raised a number of questions regarding the proposed 

definitions and procedures.  In reviewing the comments, LSC determined that a separate 

set of procedures for lesser reductions creates unnecessary confusion in the rule.  This 

revision uses the existing Part 1606 procedures for preliminary determinations and 

                                                 
 
4 45 CFR 1606.8–.10. 
5 45 CFR 1630.7(f). 
6 Id. 

143



  

7 
 
 

informal hearings.  Appeals of terminations and debarments would then continue to have 

the existing process and rights.  Appeals of lesser reductions would go directly to the 

LSC President. 

 In the proposed § 1606.15(c), the NPRM cross-referenced the § 1606.3(b) criteria 

for substantial violations and used those criteria for lesser reductions.  The proposed 

language below eliminates the new § 1606.15 and moves the § 1606.3(b) criteria to a new 

definition of “substantial violations” for use throughout Part 1606.  This approach is 

designed to improve the structure of the rule.  No changes are made to the language, and 

no substantive changes are intended by this restructuring.    

 Some deadlines have been adjusted for uniformity in the rule.   

Questions on Which Comments Are Sought 

Q1:  Comments are sought on the question whether the lesser reduction procedures are 

better handled as proposed in the NPRM or as proposed herein. 

Q2:  Comments are sought on the changes to the procedures affecting lesser reductions.  

No further comments are sought regarding the underlying decision to adopt a lesser 

reductions option or the use of the existing § 1606.3(b) criteria for lesser reductions, 

which is unchanged from the NPRM.  Those comments on the NPRM are already in the 

rulemaking record.   

Q3: There are no substantive changes to the rules for terminations or debarments.  

Comments are sought on the question whether any of these proposed changes to the 

structure of the rule would result in substantive changes affecting terminations or 

debarment.  No other comments regarding the existing rules for terminations or 

debarments are sought.   

144



  

8 
 
 

Q4:  There are new definitions added for clarity.  Comments are sought on the new 

definitions but not on definitions that are moved without change from other sections of 

the existing regulation or from the NPRM proposed language. 

Q5: Comments are sought on the proposed final appeal process. 

Section-by-Section Analysis of Part 1606 

Section 1606.1  Purpose 

 The NPRM did not amend this section.  The proposed language below amends 

paragraph (b) to add to the purpose of the rule lesser reductions in funding.  It also states 

that the procedures provided are proportional to the proposed action rather than uniform 

for all actions.  This takes the place of § 1606.15(1) in the NPRM. 

Section 1606.2  Definitions 

 The NPRM added a definition of limited reduction in funding as a new paragraph 

(c).  The proposed language below renumbers the following paragraphs.  It also adds 

language from paragraph (d)(1) for terminations regarding whether a lesser reduction will 

affect funding beyond the current grant year.  That addition makes clear that the two 

options function the same in this regard.  No substantive changes are made to the 

definition. 

  New paragraphs (f), (g), and (h) are added to relocate definitions of violations, 

substantial violations, and substantial noncompliance.  No substantive changes are made 

to these terms.  They are moved from §§ 1606.3(a)(1), (b), and (c) into the definitions 

section so that they can be easily referenced for all of the available actions in the rule.  

This eliminates the cross-reference to these terms in § 1606.15(b) of the NPRM.  It also 

145



  

9 
 
 

responds to some of the comments by making clear that the threshold for a substantial 

violation is the same for terminations and for lesser reductions. 

 New paragraph (i) adds a definition of the “Corporation” for purposes of taking 

actions under the rule, which permits elimination of the “designated employee” under 

§ 1606.6(a).  For purposes of making decisions regarding terminations, debarments, or 

lesser reductions, the Corporation must act through someone at the level of a deputy 

director or higher.   This change addresses concerns expressed by comments about low-

level employees making decisions to reduce funding.  It also adds internal consistency to 

the rule instead of referring to the Corporation in some places and to the designated 

employee in others.  This definition is a change to the NPRM and to the existing rule, 

although in practice LSC does not make decisions of this magnitude through anyone 

below the level of a deputy director.  

 New paragraph (j) defines when materials are considered received for purposes of 

this part.  This is added for clarity.  It is intended to make clear that physical delivery 

with confirmation from the delivery service is always sufficient.  Alternate modes of 

delivery, such as e-mail or fax, are acceptable, but they require confirmation in writing by 

a person at the recipient.  Automated “confirmations” from fax machines or e-mail 

systems do not guarantee that the document was in fact seen by a person at the receiving 

end. 

 New paragraph (k) defines days through reference to the rules for computing time 

in the Federal Rules for Civil Procedure, with an exception for excluding weekends and 

legal holidays for computing business days.  This is added for clarity.  In 2009, the 

Federal rules eliminated the use of a business days rule for periods of ten days or fewer 

146



  

10 
 
 

and lengthened some of the shorter deadlines accordingly.  LSC is keeping this 

distinction here because, unlike the Federal rules, so many of the deadlines are 10 days or 

fewer.  The revised sections of the rule specify time in calendar days or business days.  

References to days in other sections of the rule should be treated as calendar days, unless 

specified otherwise. 

§ 1606.3   Grounds for a termination or a lesser reduction in funding. 

 The proposed grounds for lesser reductions in the NPRM at §§ 1606.15(a) and (b) 

have been moved into this section, which is renamed accordingly.  The definition of a 

substantial violation has been moved from this section into the new definitions in 

§ 1606.2.  As discussed above, no substantive changes are intended, and this restructuring 

should add clarity to the rule. 

§ 1606.4   Grounds for debarment. 

 There are no changes to this section and it is not reprinted in this notice.  LSC 

considered moving the definition of “good cause” from this section to the definitions for 

structural consistency.  LSC did not do so because the definition applies only to 

debarments; moving it would not add clarity and might add confusion to the rule. 

§ 1606.5   Procedures. 

 This section is renamed to make it applicable to all actions under the rule, not 

only to terminations and debarments.  The existing language is renumbered as paragraph 

(a).  Paragraph (b) is added for situations involving lesser reductions in funding.  It 

requires that LSC designate a senior LSC employee who will be able to meet the 

§ 1606.10(d) requirements for handling a final review of a lesser reduction in funding.   

§ 1606.6   Preliminary determination. 

147



  

11 
 
 

 In the NPRM, § 1606.15(d) provided requirements for notices of preliminary and 

final determinations for lesser reductions that were worded slightly differently than this 

section, but they appeared to be substantively identical.  The NPRM language is 

eliminated and merged in paragraph (a) with the existing language for preliminary 

determinations in this section to provide a process applicable to terminations, 

debarments, and lesser reductions.  Specific references to procedural rights in other 

sections are replaced with a general reference to procedural rights.  No substantive 

changes are intended by these changes to paragraph (a). 

 The reference to a “designated employee” are eliminated in favor of a definition 

of the Corporation for decision-making purposes in § 1606.2(i), as discussed above. 

 Language is added to paragraph (b) to affirmatively require LSC to provide the 

recipient with the final determination if there is no further review.  This ensures that there 

is no confusion in situations in which the recipient does not respond to the preliminary 

determination.  Paragraph (b) is also modified to state that LSC has the discretion to 

make the preliminary determination final when there is no request for a review.  This 

change is intended to ensure that LSC retains the discretion to consider factors that come 

to light after issuing the preliminary determination.  For example, a recipient might be in 

such turmoil that it fails to request review, but the local bar association requests that LSC 

forestall issuing a final determination.  Under the existing rule and the NPRM, LSC 

might not have that discretion. 

§ 1606.7   Informal conference and review of written materials. 

 The NPRM provided in § 1606.15(e), (f), and (g) procedures for an informal 

conference to review a proposed lesser reduction in funding.  The NPRM used the 

148



  

12 
 
 

language of Part 1623 as the basis for the informal conference review of a proposed 

lesser reduction in funding.  The proposed language was substantively similar to the 

§ 1606.7 informal conference for terminations and debarments.  To simplify the rule, the 

proposed parallel provisions in § 1606.15 are eliminated in favor of using the existing 

§ 1606.7 procedures. 

 No substantive changes are made to this section with the exception of the addition 

of an option of a paper review for terminations and debarments and the increase of some 

time limits from the existing rule and the NPRM.  The current rule for terminations and 

debarments provides for an informal conference.  Part 1623 also provides for an informal 

conference for review of proposed suspensions, but it adds an option of submission of 

written materials without a conference.  The NPRM used the same language for lesser-

reductions conferences.  The revised language adds the option of a review of written 

materials for terminations and debarments as well as for lesser reductions.  The NPRM 

provided that the informal conference would take place within five days of the recipient’s 

request.  This revision provides that LSC will notify the recipient within five business 

days of the time and place of the conference.  This provides more scheduling flexibility. 

 Paragraph (b) provides the recipient with the right to request an in-person 

conference, but otherwise allows the conference to be held through alternative methods 

such as a teleconference.  For an in-person meeting, some of the participants may attend 

through alternative methods.  This is added to ensure that the recipient has the right to a 

face-to-face meeting, but it also makes clear that the recipient and LSC can reduce the 

cost and burden of the conference through alternative methods. 

149



  

13 
 
 

 Paragraph (e) provides that the final determination must provide the same type of 

details as the preliminary determination.  This is similar to the requirements of 

§ 1606.9(b), which apply to recommended decisions by hearing officers. 

§ 1606.8   Hearings for Terminations or Debarments. 

 No substantive changes are made to this section.  The title and paragraph (a) are 

updated to state that this section applies only to terminations and debarments.  These 

hearings are not available for lesser reductions in funding.  As discussed in the NPRM, 

the purpose of lesser reductions is to provide LSC with a means of taking financial action 

against a recipient in an amount of less than five percent, without the full hearing 

procedures required for terminations of five percent or greater. 

§ 1606.9   Recommended decisions for Terminations or Debarments. 

 No substantive changes are made to this section.  The title and paragraph (a) are 

updated to state that this section applies only to terminations and debarments.  This 

section involves decisions after hearings under § 1606.8, which are not available for 

lesser reductions in funding. 

§ 1606.10   Final decision. 

 This section is updated to add direct review by the LSC President of final 

determinations of lesser reductions in funding.  Currently this section provides only for 

review by the LSC President of recommended decisions of impartial hearing officers 

under § 1606.9, which are not available for lesser reductions.  The time limits of ten 

calendar days are expanded to ten business days to ensure there is sufficient time for the 

recipient to draft and deliver the request for review by the President, which “shall state in 

150



  

14 
 
 

detail the reasons for seeking review.”7  At the end of the year, the holidays of December 

25 and January 1 can reduce ten calendar days to only six business days. 

 Paragraph (c) adds a requirement that the recipient be able to obtain a copy of the 

written record on which the President based his or her decision.  This requirement is 

based on a similar provision in § 1630.7(g) regarding disallowed costs reviews. 

 A new paragraph (d) is added providing for appeals of final determinations for 

lesser reductions in funding.  The LSC President, or other senior LSC employee, will 

conduct the review and make a final decision regarding the proposed lesser reduction in 

funding.  As discussed above, prior to the section-by-section analysis, the final review 

should be handled by someone who did not actively participate in making the decisions 

regarding the preliminary determination or the final determination.  This requirement 

ensures that there is at least one level of review involving a fresh look at the situation, 

similar to the § 1606.8 requirements for terminations and the § 1630.7 requirements for 

disallowed costs.   

 Normally, this final review and decision would be handled by the President.     

LSC expects that the Vice President for Grants Management or the Director of the Office 

of Compliance and Enforcement will usually handle preliminary determinations, informal 

conferences, and final determinations for lesser reductions in funding.  Nonetheless, these 

are significant actions that the President is likely to be kept informed about throughout 

the process.  The President is not disqualified under paragraph (d) merely because he or 

she is briefed about the situation and options, asks questions, and did not object to the 

                                                 
 
7 45 CFR 1606.10(b). 

151



  

15 
 
 

prior lesser reduction decisions and proceedings.  Nor is he or she disqualified if the 

recipient or other parties contact him or her directly prior to a final appeal.      

 Paragraph (e) (renumbered) adds a requirement that a final decision reviewing a  

determination of a lesser reduction shall meet the specificity requirements of § 1606.6(a).  

This provides a parallel requirement to the existing requirement that final decisions 

reviewing a hearing officer’s recommendation shall meet the specificity requirements of 

§ 1606.9(b). 

§ 1606.13   Interim and termination funding; reprogramming. 

 There are no changes to this section from the NPRM.  They are repeated here in 

order to provide all of the revisions of Part 1606 proposed by both the NPRM and this 

FNPRM.  No comments are sought on this section. 

§ 1606.15  Limited reductions of funding. 

 The NPRM proposed adding a new section.  As discussed above, all of the 

proposed provisions are now incorporated into the existing provisions of this part.  There 

is no proposed § 1606.15 in this FNPRM. 

Amending Part 1618 to Permit the Imposition of Immediate Special Grant Conditions 

The NPRM proposed amending Part 1618 to provide clear authority to impose 

special grant conditions in the middle of a grant, rather than only at renewal or 

competition.   The OIG expressed concern that the Part 1618 threshold might unduly 

restrict the use of these immediate special grant conditions.  The proposal has been 

revised to specify that immediate special grant conditions are available for corrective 

actions after LSC has determined that a violation exists.  This enables LSC to convert 

corrective actions required by the Office of Compliance and Enforcement into special 

152



  

16 
 
 

grant conditions immediately rather than waiting for the next grant renewal or award.  

This addition does not effect LSC’s existing authority to impose special grant conditions 

during renewal, competition, or otherwise. 

Additionally, during review of Part 1618 it became apparent that the language of 

Part 1618 is outdated.  It has not been amended since 1976.  Both Part 1606—

Terminations and Part 1623—Suspensions refer to compliance with “a provision of the 

LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, a 

Corporation rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or the terms and conditions of the 

recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation.”8  These rules were extensively 

updated in 1998.  Part 1618 refers only to violations of “the Legal Services Corporation 

Act or the rules and regulations issued by the Corporation.”9  LSC proposes amending 

Part 1618 to conform to the language used in the other, later adopted, regulations to 

conform to existing practice.  

Proposed § 1618.5(b) permits LSC to impose a lesser reduction in funding after 

“attempts at informal resolution have been unsuccessful.”  Informal resolution includes 

remedial actions, preventive actions, and sanctions.  So, for example, if a recipient has 

persistently and intentionally used LSC funds for grassroots lobbying, then LSC could 

ultimately proceed to termination or debarment.  Section 1618.5(b) requires LSC to 

attempt to resolve the situations informally before beginning an enforcement action.    

LSC could demand that the recipient cease such activities, put in place measures to 

                                                 
 
8 45 CFR 1606.1(a) and 1623.1(a). 
9 45 CFR 1618.2. 

153



  

17 
 
 

ensure that such activities do not recur, and accept a lesser reduction in funding as a 

sanction.  If the recipient did not agree to all three actions during attempts at informal 

resolution, then LSC could proceed with suspension, termination, and/or a lesser 

reduction in funding.  Furthermore, if attempts at informal resolution are unsuccessful, 

then LSC may proceed with actions that are more consequential than those pursued 

during those unsuccessful attempts.  Thus, in this example, LSC could proceed with a 

termination of five percent or greater, even if it offered the recipient the option of 

resolving the matter through acceptance of a reduction in funding of less than five 

percent.  There are no changes to the rule required for this application. 

Question on Which Comments Are Sought  

Q6:  Comments are sought on the new proposed language for Part 1618. 

Section-by-Section Analysis of Part 1618 

§ 1618.1 Purpose. 

 Reference to the requirements of the LSC Act are updated to refer to the 

provisions of the LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to 

LSC funds, a Corporation rule, regulation, guideline, or instruction, or the terms and 

conditions of the recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation.  This conforms Part 

1618 to Part 1606 and Part 1623. 

§ 1618.2 Definitions. 

 The existing definition of the term “Act” as referring to the LSC Act, rules, and 

regulations is removed because it was confusing and inconsistent with LSC’s current 

governing laws, many of which appear in appropriations statutes and not the LSC Act, 

and with Part 1606 and Part 1623.  A new paragraph (a) is added defining the term “LSC 

154



  

18 
 
 

requirements” using the language from Part 1606 and Part 1623.  A new paragraph (b) is 

added to make clear that a violation refers to a violation of the LSC requirements. 

§ 1618.3 Complaints. 

 The reference to a violation of “the LSC Act” is replaced with reference to the 

new definition of a “violation.” 

§ 1618.4 Duties of Recipients. 

 References to a violation of the LSC Act are replaced with references to the new 

definition of a violation.  Paragraphs (a) and (b) are renumbered as (1) and (2) of a new 

paragraph (a).  The former paragraph (b) is split into (a)(2) and (a)(3).  These changes 

add clarity without substantive alternations to the rule.  The new (a)(2) is amended to 

clarify that the recipient has the discretion to determine whether a violation by a 

recipient’s employee merits a sanction imposed by the recipient on the employee under 

the circumstances.  Some violations can be fully addressed by the recipient without any 

sanction.  This is not meant to change the substantive requirements of this paragraph.  

Paragraph (c) is renumbered as paragraph (b).  A new paragraph (c) is added to clarify 

that these requirements do not, by themselves, create substantive rights for recipient 

employees.  A failure to consult with LSC under this section does not nullify a recipient’s 

employment action.  Rather, it is a matter between LSC and the recipient. 

§ 1618.5 Duties of the Corporation. 

 References to a violation of the LSC Act are replaced with references to the new 

definition of a violation.  Paragraph (a) is amended to make clear that the Corporation’s 

investigation may be limited to determining that the recipient is taking sufficient action.  

This is not a substantive change.  Paragraph (c) is added regarding immediate special 

155



  

19 
 
 

grant conditions.  As discussed above, these would be available for any violation for 

which LSC has determined that corrective action is necessary.  Currently LSC makes 

those determinations through normal procedures by the Office of Compliance and 

Enforcement.  The thresholds in paragraph (b) for further actions such as suspensions or 

terminations would not apply to immediate special grant conditions.     

 For reasons set forth above, and under the authority of 42 U.S.C. §2996g(e), LSC 

proposes to amend 45 CFR chapter XVI as follows: 

 PART 1606 – TERMINATION, LIMITED REDUCTION IN FUNDING, AND 

DEBARMENT PROCEDURES; RECOMPETITION 

1.  The authority citation for Part 1606 continues to read as follows: 

 Authority: 42 U.S.C. 2996e(b)(1) and 2996f(a)3; Pub. L. 105-199, 111 Stat 2440, 

Secs. 501(b) and (c) and 504; Pub. L. 104-134, 110 Stat. 1321. 

2. The heading for part 1606 is revised to read as set forth above. 

3. Amend § 1606.1 by revising paragraph (b) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.1   Purpose 

(b) Provide timely and fair due process procedures, proportional to the proposed action, 

when the Corporation has made a preliminary decision to terminate a recipient's LSC 

grant or contract, to debar a recipient from receiving future LSC awards of financial 

assistance, or to impose a lesser reduction in funding; and 

4. Amend § 1606.2 by adding paragraph (c), renumbering paragraphs (c) and (d) as (d) 

and (e), revising new paragraph (e), and adding paragraphs (f) through (k) to read as 

follows: 

Sec. 1606.2 Definitions 

156



  

20 
 
 

* * * * * 

(c) Limited reduction in funding means a reduction in funding of less than five percent of 

a recipient’s current annual level of financial assistance imposed by the Corporation in 

accordance with the procedures and requirements of this part.   A limited reduction in 

funding will affect only the recipient’s current year’s funding, unless the Corporation 

provides otherwise in the final termination decision. 

(d) Recipient means any grantee or contractor receiving financial assistance from the 

Corporation under section 1006(a)(1)(A) of the LSC Act. 

 (e) (1) Termination means that a recipient’s level of financial assistance under its grant 

or contract with the Corporation will be reduced in whole or in part prior to the expiration 

of the term of a recipient’s current grant or contract.  A partial termination will affect 

only the recipient’s current year’s funding, unless the Corporation provides otherwise in 

the final termination decision. 

(2) A termination does not include: 

(i) A reduction of funding required by law, including a reduction in or rescission of the 

Corporation’s appropriation that is apportioned among all recipients of  the same class in 

proportion to their current level of  funding; 

(ii) A reduction or deduction of LSC support for a recipient under the Corporation’s fund 

balance regulation at 45 CFR part 1628; 

(iii)  A recovery of disallowed costs under the Corporation’s regulation on costs 

standards and procedures at 45 CFR part 1630; 

(iv) A withholding of funds pursuant to the Corporation’s Private Attorney Involvement 

rule at 45 CFR part 1614; or 

157



  

21 
 
 

(v)   A limited reduction of funding as defined in this section. 

 (f) Substantial noncompliance means either a substantial violation, as defined in this 

section, or a substantial failure, as defined in this part at § 1606.3(a). 

(g) Violation means a violation by the recipient of a provision of the LSC Act, the 

Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, or a Corporation 

rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or a term or condition of the recipient's grant or 

contract.  

(h) Substantial violation means a violation that merits action under this part based on 

consideration of the following criteria by the Corporation: 

(1) The number of restrictions or requirements violated; 

(2) Whether the violation represents an instance of noncompliance with a substantive 

statutory or regulatory restriction or requirement, rather than an instance of 

noncompliance with a non-substantive technical or procedural requirement; 

(3) The extent to which the violation is part of a pattern of noncompliance with LSC 

requirements or restrictions; 

(4) The extent to which the recipient failed to take action to cure the violation when it 

became aware of the violation; and 

(5) Whether the violation was knowing and willful. 

(i) Corporation, when used to refer to decisions by the Legal Services Corporation, 

means that those decisions are made by an individual at the level of an office director, 

deputy director, or higher. 

(j) Receipt of materials shall mean that the materials were sent to the normal address for 

physical mail, e-mail, or fax transmission, and there is reliable secondary confirmation of 

158



  

22 
 
 

delivery.  For physical delivery, confirmation may be provided through tracking 

information from the delivery service.  For other forms of delivery, confirmation may be 

provided through a document such as a confirmation e-mail or a fax sent from an 

authorized person at the recipient.  Receipt of materials by the LSC recipient is sufficient 

for the running of applicable time periods.  Proof of receipt by the Board Chair is not 

necessary unless delivery to the recipient itself cannot be reasonably accomplished. 

(k) Days shall mean the number of actual days as determined by the rules for computing 

time in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6, except that computation of business 

days shall exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays (as defined in those rules). 

5. Amend § 1606.3 by revising the heading of that section, revising paragraph (a)(1), 

adding paragraph (b), renumbering paragraph (b) as (c), and revising paragraph (c) to 

read as follows: 

§ 1606.3   Grounds for a termination or a lesser reduction in funding. 

(a) A grant or contract may be terminated when: 

(1) There has been a substantial violation by the recipient, and the violation occurred less 

than 5 years prior to the date the recipient receives notice of the violation pursuant to 

§ 1606.6(a); or 

(2) There has been a substantial failure by the recipient to provide high quality, 

economical, and effective legal assistance, as measured by generally accepted 

professional standards, the provisions of the LSC Act, or a rule, regulation, including 45 

CFR 1634.9(a)(2), or guidance issued by the Corporation. 

159



  

23 
 
 

(b) The Corporation may impose a limited reduction of funding when the Corporation 

determines that there has been a substantial violation by the recipient but that termination 

of the recipient’s grant, in whole or in part, is not warranted. 

(c) A determination of whether there has been a substantial violation for the purposes of 

this section, and the magnitude of any termination, in whole or in part, or any lesser 

reduction in funding, will be based on consideration of the criteria set forth in the 

definition of “substantial violation” in this part. 

6. Amend § 1606.5 to revise the heading of that section, revise the language and 

redesignate it as paragraph (a), and add a new paragraph (b) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.5    Procedures. 

(a) Before a final action is taken under this part, the recipient will be provided notice and 

an opportunity to be heard as set out in this part.  

(b) Prior to a preliminary determination involving a lesser reduction in funding, the 

Corporation shall designate either the President or another senior Corporation employee 

to conduct any final review that is requested pursuant to § 1606.10 of this part.  The 

Corporation shall ensure that the person so designated has had no prior involvement in 

the preliminary and/or final determinations so as to meet the criterion set out in 

§ 1606.10(d).   

7.  Amend § 1606.6 by revising paragraphs (a) and (b) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.6   Preliminary determination. 

(a) When the Corporation has made a preliminary determination that a recipient's grant or 

contract should be terminated, that a lesser reduction in funding shall be imposed, and/or 

160



  

24 
 
 

that a recipient should be debarred, the Corporation shall issue a written notice to the 

recipient and the Chair of the recipient's governing body. The notice shall: 

(1) State the grounds for the proposed action; 

(2) Identify, with reasonable specificity, any facts or documents relied upon as 

justification for the proposed action; 

(3) Inform the recipient of the proposed amount and effective date for the proposed 

action; 

(4) Advise the recipient of its procedural rights for review of the proposed action under 

this part; 

(5) Inform the recipient of its right to receive interim funding pursuant to § 1606.13; and 

(6) Specify what, if any, corrective action the recipient can take to avoid the proposed 

action. 

(b) If the recipient does not request review, as provided for in this part, then the 

preliminary determination shall become final, at LSC’s discretion, after the relevant time 

limits have expired.  The Corporation shall provide the recipient with the final decision, 

and no further appeal or review will be available under this part. 

8.  Amend § 1606.7 by revising the heading and paragraphs (a) through (e) and adding 

paragraph (f) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.7   Informal conference, review of written materials, and final determination. 

(a) A recipient may submit written materials in opposition to the preliminary 

determination and/or request an informal conference as follows: 

(i) for terminations or debarments, within 30 calendar days of receipt of the preliminary 

determination; or 

161



  

25 
 
 

(ii) for lesser reductions in funding, within 10 business days of receipt of the preliminary 

determination. 

(b) Within 5 business days of receipt of a request for a conference, the Corporation shall 

notify the recipient of the time and place the conference will be held, which shall be at 

the Corporation’s discretion.  Some or all of the participants in the conference may attend 

via telephone, unless the recipient requests an in-person meeting between the Corporation 

and at least one representative of the recipient.  If the recipient requests an in-person 

meeting, then other participants may attend via telephone.  Alternative means of 

participation other than the telephone are permissible at the sole discretion of LSC.  

 (c) The informal conference shall be conducted by the Corporation employee who issued 

the preliminary determination.   

(d) At the informal conference, the Corporation and the recipient shall both have an 

opportunity to state their case, seek to narrow the issues, explore the possibilities of 

settlement or compromise, and submit written materials.    

(e) If an informal meeting is conducted and/or written materials are submitted by the 

recipient, the Corporation shall consider any written materials submitted by the recipient 

in opposition to the limited reduction in funding and any oral presentation or written 

materials submitted by the recipient at an informal meeting.  Based on the written 

materials and/or the informal conference, the Corporation may modify, withdraw, or 

affirm the preliminary determination through a final determination in writing, which shall 

be provided to the recipient within 15 calendar days of the conclusion of the informal 

conference.  The final determination shall conform to the requirements of § 1606.6(a). 

162



  

26 
 
 

(f) If the recipient does not request further process, as provided for in this part, then, after 

the relevant time limits have expired, LSC shall notify the recipient that no further appeal 

or review will be available under this part and may proceed to implement the final 

determination as a final decision.  

9. Amend § 1606.8 by revising the heading and paragraph (a) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.8   Hearing for a termination or debarment. 

(a) For terminations or debarments only, the recipient may make a written request for a 

hearing within 30 days of its receipt of the preliminary determination or within 15 days of 

receipt of the written determination issued by the designated employee after the 

conclusion of the informal conference. 

* * * * * 

10.  Amend § 1606.9 by revising the heading and paragraph (a) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.9   Recommended decision for a terminations or debarment. 

(a) For termination or debarment hearings under § 1606.8, within 20 calendar days after 

the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall issue a written recommended 

decision which may: 

* * * * * 

11. Amend § 1606.10 by revising the heading and paragraphs (a), (b), and (c), adding 

paragraph (d), and renumbering (d) and (e) to (e) and (f), respectively, and amending (e) 

and (f) to read as follows: 

§ 1606.10 Final decision for a termination, debarment, or lesser reduction. 

163



  

27 
 
 

(a) If neither the Corporation nor the recipient requests review by the President, a final 

determination or a recommended decision shall become a final decision10 business days 

after receipt by the recipient. 

(b) The recipient or the Corporation may seek review by the President of a final 

determination or a recommended decision. A request shall be made in writing within 10 

business days after receipt of the recommended decision by the party seeking review and 

shall state in detail the reasons for seeking review. 

(c) The President's review shall be based solely on the information in the administrative 

record of the proceedings, including the appeal to the President,  and any additional 

submissions, either oral or in writing, that the President may request. A recipient shall be 

given a copy of, and an opportunity to respond to, any additional submissions made to the 

President. All submissions and responses made to the President shall become part of the 

administrative record.  Upon request, the Corporation shall provide a copy of the written 

record to the recipient. 

(d)  For a direct appeal of a final determination pursuant to § 1606.7, in which there is no 

hearing under § 1606.8, the President may not review the appeal if the President has had 

prior involvement in the preliminary and/or final determinations.  If the President cannot 

review the appeal, or the President chooses not to do so, then the President shall 

designate another senior Corporation employee who has not had prior involvement  in the 

preliminary and/or final determinations.  

(e) As soon as practicable after receipt of the request for review of a recommended 

decision, but not later than 30 days after the request for review, the President or designee 

may adopt, modify, or reverse the recommended decision or final determination, or direct 

164



  

28 
 
 

further consideration of the matter. In the event of modification or reversal of a 

recommended decision pursuant to § 1606.9, this decision shall conform to the 

requirements of § 1606.9(b).  In the event of modification or reversal of a final 

determination pursuant to § 1606.7, the decision shall conform to the substantive 

requirements of § 1606.6(a). 

(f) The decision of the President or designee under this section shall become final upon 

receipt by the recipient. 

12.  Amend § 1606.13 by amending paragraphs (a), (b), and (d) to read as follows: 

(a) Pending the completion of termination or limited reduction in funding proceedings 

under this part, the Corporation shall provide the recipient with the level of financial 

assistance provided for under its current grant or contract with the Corporation. 

(b) After a final decision has been made to terminate a recipient's grant or contract or to 

impose a limited reduction in funding, the recipient loses all rights to the terminated or 

reduced funds. 

* * * * * 

(d) Funds recovered by the Corporation pursuant to a termination or limited reduction in 

funding shall be used in the same service area from which they were recovered or will be 

reallocated by the Corporation for basic field purposes at its sole discretion. 

165



  

29 
 
 

PART 1618 – ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES 

13. The authority citation for Part 1618 continues to read as follows: 

Authority: Secs. 1007(a)(8); 1006(b)(6); 1006(b)(4) (42 U.S.C. 2996f(a)(8); 2996e(b)(6); 

29963(b)(4)). 

14. Amend § 1618.1 to read as follows: 

§ 1618.1 Purpose. 

In order to ensure uniform and consistent interpretation and application of the provisions 

of the LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC 

funds, a Corporation rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or the terms and conditions 

of the recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation, and to prevent a question of 

whether these requirements have been violated from becoming an ancillary issue in any 

case undertaken by a recipient, this part establishes a systematic procedure for enforcing 

compliance with them. 

15. Amend § 1618.2 to revise the heading and to read as follows: 

§ 1618.2 Definitions. 

(a) LSC requirements means the provisions of the LSC Act, the Corporation's 

appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, a Corporation rule, regulation, 

guideline or instruction, or the terms or conditions of the recipient's grant or contract with 

the Corporation.  

(b) Violation means a violation by the recipient of the LSC requirements. 

16. Amend § 1618.3 to read as follows: 

§ 1618.3 Complaints. 

166



  

30 
 
 

A complaint of a violation by a recipient or an employee of a recipient may be made to 

the recipient, the State Advisory Council, or the Corporation. 

17. Amend § 1618.4 by revising paragraphs (a) and (b), renumbering paragraph (c) to (b), 

revising new paragraph (b), and adding a new paragraph (c) to read as follows: 

§ 1618.4 Duties of Recipients. 

(a) A recipient shall: 

(1) Advise its employees of their responsibilities under the LSC requirements;  

(2) Establish procedures, consistent with the notice and hearing requirements of section 

1011 of the LSC Act, for determining whether an employee has committed a violation 

and whether the violation merits a sanction based on consideration of the totality of the 

circumstances; and 

(3) Establish a policy for determining the appropriate sanction to be imposed for a 

violation, including: 

(i) Administrative reprimand if a violation is found to be minor and unintentional, or 

otherwise affected by mitigating circumstances; 

(ii) Suspension and termination of employment; and 

(iii) Other sanctions appropriate for enforcement of the LSC requirements. 

(b) Before suspending or terminating the employment of any person for a violation, a 

recipient shall consult the Corporation to ensure that its interpretation of these 

requirements is consistent with Corporation policy. 

(c) This section provides procedural requirements between the Corporation and 

recipients.  It does not create rights for recipient employees.  

167



  

31 
 
 

18.  Amend s 1618.5 by revising paragraphs (a) and (b) and adding paragraph (c) to read 

as follows: 

§ 1618.5 Duties of the Corporation. 

(a) Whenever the Corporation learns that there is reason to believe that a recipient or a 

recipient’s employee may have committed a violation, the Corporation shall investigate 

the matter promptly and attempt to resolve it through informal consultation with the 

recipient.  Such actions may be limited to determining if the recipient is sufficiently 

investigating and resolving the matter itself. 

 (b) Whenever there is substantial reason to believe that a recipient has persistently or 

intentionally violated the LSC requirements, or, after notice, has failed to take 

appropriate remedial or disciplinary action to ensure compliance by its employees with 

the LSC requirements, and attempts at informal resolution have been unsuccessful, the 

Corporation may proceed to suspend or terminate financial support of the recipient, or 

impose a lesser reduction in funding, pursuant to the procedures set forth in parts 1623 

and 1606, or may take other action to enforce compliance with the LSC requirements. 

(c) Whenever the Corporation determines that a recipient has committed a violation, that 

corrective actions by the recipient are required to remedy the violation and/or prevent 

recurrence of the violation, and that imposition of special grant conditions are needed 

prior to the next grant renewal or competition for the service area, the Corporation may 

immediately impose Special Grant Conditions on the recipient to require completion of 

those corrective actions. 

 

____________________________                                       

168



  

32 
 
 

Victor M. Fortuno 

Vice President & General Counsel 

  

 

 

 

169



Part 1606

170



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

1

§ 1606: TERMINATION, LIMITED REDUCTION IN FUNDING, AND DEBARMENT 
PROCEDURES; RECOMPETITION 

§ 1606.1   Purpose. 

The purpose of this rule is to: 

(a) Ensure that the Corporation is able to take timely action to deal with incidents of substantial 
noncompliance by recipients with a provision of the LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations 
act or other law applicable to LSC funds, a Corporation rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, 
or the terms and conditions of the recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation; 

(b) Provide timely and fair due process procedures, proportional to the proposed action, when the 
Corporation has made a preliminary decision to terminate a recipient's LSC grant or contract, or
to debar a recipient from receiving future LSC awards of financial assistance, or to impose a 
lesser reduction in funding; and 

(c) Ensure that scarce funds are provided to recipients who can provide the most effective and 
economical legal assistance to eligible clients. 

§ 1606.2   Definitions. 

For the purposes of this part: 

(a) Debarment means an action taken by the Corporation to exclude a recipient from receiving an 
additional award of financial assistance from the Corporation or from receiving additional LSC 
funds from another recipient of the Corporation pursuant to a subgrant, subcontract or similar 
agreement, for the period of time stated in the final debarment decision. 

(b) Knowing and willful means that the recipient had actual knowledge of the fact that its action 
or lack thereof constituted a violation and despite such knowledge, undertook or failed to 
undertake the action. 

(c) Limited reduction in funding means a reduction in funding of less than five5 percent of a 
recipient’s current annual level of financial assistance imposed by the Corporation in accordance 
with the procedures and requirements of this part. §1606.15 of this Part. A limited reduction in 
funding will affect only the recipient’s current year’s funding, unless the Corporation provides 
otherwise in the final termination decision.

(d) Recipient means any grantee or contractor receiving financial assistance from the Corporation 
under section 1006(a)(1)(A) of the LSC Act. 

 (e) (1) Termination means that a recipient’s level of financial assistance under its grant or 
contract with the Corporation will be reduced in whole or in part prior to the expiration of 
the term of a recipient’s current grant or contract.  A partial termination will affect only 

171



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

2

the recipient’s current year’s funding, unless the Corporation provides otherwise in the 
final termination decision. 

(2) A termination does not include: 

(i) A reduction of funding required by law, including a reduction in or rescission 
of the Corporation’s appropriation that is apportioned among all recipients of  the 
same class in proportion to their current level of  funding; 

(ii) A reduction or deduction of LSC support for a recipient under the 
Corporation’s fund balance regulation at 45 C.F.R. Part 1628; 

(iii)  A recovery of disallowed costs under the Corporation’s regulation on costs 
standards and procedures at 45 C.F.R. Part 1630; 

(iv) A withholding of funds pursuant to the Corporation’s Private Attorney 
Involvement rule at 45 C.F.R. Part 1614; or 

(v)   A limited reduction of funding as defined in this sectionparagraph.

(v) A reduction of funding of less than 5 percent of a recipient's current annual 
level of financial assistance imposed by the Corporation in accordance with 
regulations promulgated by the Corporation. No such reduction shall be imposed 
except in accordance with regulations promulgated by the Corporation. 

(f) Substantial noncompliance means either a substantial violation, as defined in this section, or a 
substantial failure, as defined in this part at § 1606.3(a). 

(g) Violation means a violation by the recipient of a provision of the LSC Act, the Corporation's 
appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, or a Corporation rule, regulation, 
guideline or instruction, or a term or condition of the recipient's grant or contract.  

(h) Substantial violation means a violation that merits action under this part based on 
consideration of the following criteria by the Corporation: 

(1) The number of restrictions or requirements violated; 

(2) Whether the violation represents an instance of noncompliance with a substantive 
statutory or regulatory restriction or requirement, rather than an instance of 
noncompliance with a non-substantive technical or procedural requirement; 

(3) The extent to which the violation is part of a pattern of noncompliance with LSC 
requirements or restrictions; 

172



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

3

(4) The extent to which the recipient failed to take action to cure the violation when it 
became aware of the violation; and 

(5) Whether the violation was knowing and willful.

(i) Corporation, when used to refer to decisions by the Legal Services Corporation, means that 
those decisions are made by an individual at the level of an office director, deputy director, or 
higher.

(j) Receipt of materials shall mean that the materials were sent to the normal address for physical 
mail, e-mail, or fax transmission, and there is reliable secondary confirmation of delivery.   For 
physical delivery, confirmation may be provided through tracking information from the delivery 
service.  For other forms of delivery, confirmation may be provided through a document such as 
a confirmation e-mail or a fax sent from an authorized person at the recipient.  Receipt of 
materials by the LSC recipient is sufficient for the running of applicable time periods.  Proof of 
receipt by the Board Chair is not necessary unless delivery to the recipient itself cannot be 
reasonably accomplished. 

(k) Days shall mean the number of actual days as determined by the rules for computing time in 
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6, except that computation of business days shall 
exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays (as defined in those rules). 

§ 1606.3   Grounds for a termination or a lesser reduction in funding.

(a) A grant or contract may be terminated when: 

(1) There has been a substantial violation by the recipient of a provision of the LSC Act, 
the Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, or Corporation 
rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or a term or condition of the recipient's grant or 
contract, and the violation occurred less than 5 years prior to the date the recipient 
receives notice of the violation pursuant to § 1606.6(a); or 

(2) There has been a substantial failure by the recipient to provide high quality, 
economical, and effective legal assistance, as measured by generally accepted 
professional standards, the provisions of the LSC Act, or a rule, regulation, including 45 
CFR 1634.9(a)(2), or guidance issued by the Corporation. 

(b) The Corporation may impose a limited reduction of funding when the Corporation 
determines that there has been a substantial violation by the recipient but that termination of the 
recipient’s grant, in whole or in part, is not warranted. 

(c) A determination of whether there has been a substantial violation for the purposes of 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section, and the magnitude of any termination, in whole or in part, or any 
lesser reduction in funding, will be based on consideration of the following criteria set forth in 
the definition of “substantial violation” in this part.: 

173



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

4

(1) The number of restrictions or requirements violated; 

(2) Whether the violation represents an instance of noncompliance with a substantive statutory or 
regulatory restriction or requirement, rather than an instance of noncompliance with a non-
substantive technical or procedural requirement; 

(3) The extent to which the violation is part of a pattern of noncompliance with LSC 
requirements or restrictions; 

(4) The extent to which the recipient failed to take action to cure the violation when it became 
aware of the violation; and 

(5) Whether the violation was knowing and willful.

§ 1606.4   Grounds for debarment. 

(a) The Corporation may debar a recipient, on a showing of good cause, from receiving an 
additional award of financial assistance from the Corporation. 

(b) As used in paragraph (a) of this section, “good cause” means: 

(1) A termination of financial assistance to the recipient pursuant to part 1640 of this 
chapter;

(2) A termination of financial assistance in whole of the most recent grant of financial 
assistance; 

(3) The substantial violation by the recipient of the restrictions delineated in § 1610.2 (a) 
and (b) of this chapter, provided that the violation occurred within 5 years prior to the 
receipt of the debarment notice by the recipient; 

(4) Knowing entry by the recipient into: 

(i) A subgrant, subcontract, or other similar agreement with an entity debarred by 
the Corporation during the period of debarment if so precluded by the terms of the 
debarment; or 

(ii) An agreement for professional services with an IPA debarred by the 
Corporation during the period of debarment if so precluded by the terms of the 
debarment; or 

(5) The filing of a lawsuit by a recipient, provided that the lawsuit: 

(i) Was filed on behalf of the recipient as plaintiff, rather than on behalf of a client 
of the recipient; 

174



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

5

(ii) Named the Corporation, or any agency or employee of a Federal, State, or 
local government as a defendant; 

(iii) Seeks judicial review of an action by the Corporation or such government 
agency that affects the recipient's status as a recipient of Federal funding, except 
for a lawsuit that seeks review of whether the Corporation or agency acted outside 
of its statutory authority or violated the recipient's constitutional rights; and 

(iv) Was initiated after the effective date of this rule.

§ 1606.5 Termination and debarment Pprocedures.

(a) Before any final action is taken under this parta recipient's grant or contract may be 
terminated or a recipient may be debarred, the recipient will be provided notice and an 
opportunity to be heard as set out in this part.

(b) Prior to a preliminary determination involving a lesser reduction in funding, the Corporation 
shall designate either the President or another senior Corporation employee to conduct any final 
review that is requested pursuant to § 1606.10 of this part.  The Corporation shall ensure that the 
person so designated has had no prior involvement in the preliminary and/or final determinations 
so as to meet the criterion set out in § 1606.10(d).

§ 1606.6   Preliminary determination. 

(a) When the Corporation has made a preliminary determination that a recipient's grant or 
contract should be terminated, that a lesser reduction in funding shall be imposed, and/or that a 
recipient should be debarred, the Corporation employee who has been designated by the 
President as the person to bring such actions (hereinafter referred to as the “designated 
employee”) shall issue a written notice to the recipient and the Chairperson of the recipient's 
governing body. The notice shall: 

(1) State the grounds for the proposed action; 

(2) Identify, with reasonable specificity, any facts or documents relied upon as 
justification for the proposed action; 

(3) Inform the recipient of the proposed amount and effective date for the proposed action 
sanctions;

(4) Advise the recipient of its procedural rights for review of the proposed action under 
this part;to request: 

(i) An informal conference under §1606.7; and 

(ii) a hearing under §1606.8; and

175



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

6

(5) Inform the recipient of its right to receive interim funding pursuant to § 1606.13; and 

(6) Specify what, if any, corrective action the recipient can take to avoid the proposed 
action.

(b) If the recipient does not request an informal conference or a hearing within the time 
prescribed in §1606.7(a) or §1606.8(a), review, as provided for in this part, then the preliminary 
determination shall become final, at LSC’s discretion, after the relevant time limits have expired.  
The Corporation shall provide the recipient with the final decision, and no further appeal or 
review will be available under this part.

§ 1606.7   Informal conference, review of written materials, and final determination.

(a) A recipient may submit written materials in opposition to the preliminary determination 
and/or a request for an informal conference as follows: 

(i) for terminations or debarments, within 30 calendar days of its receipt of the 
preliminary determination; or the proposed decision. 

(ii) for lesser reductions in funding, within 10 business days of receipt of the preliminary 
determination.

(b) Within 5 business days of receipt of a the request for a conference, the Corporationdesignated
employee shall notify the recipient of the time and place the conference will be held, which shall 
be at the Corporation’s discretion.  Some or all of the participants in the conference may attend 
via telephone, unless the recipient requests an in-person meeting between the Corporation and at 
least one representative of the recipient.  If the recipient requests an in-person meeting, then 
other participants may attend via telephone.  Alternative means of participation other than the 
telephone are permissible at the sole discretion of LSC. 

(c) The designated employee shall conduct tThe informal conference shall be conducted by the 
Corporation employee who issued the preliminary determination.

(d) At the informal conference, the designated employeeCorporation and the recipient shall both 
have an opportunity to state their case, seek to narrow the issues, and explore the possibilities of 
settlement or compromise, and submit written materials.

(e) If an informal meeting is conducted and/or written materials are submitted by the recipient, 
the Corporation shall consider any written materials submitted by the recipient in opposition to 
the limited reduction in funding and any oral presentation or written materials submitted by the 
recipient at an informal meeting.  Based on the written materials and/or the informal conference, 
the CorporationThe designated employee may modify, withdraw, or affirm the preliminary 
determination through a final determination in writing, a copy of which shall be provided to the 

176



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

7

recipient within 10 15 calendar days of the conclusion of the informal conference.  The final 
determination shall conform to the requirements of § 1606.6(a). 

(f) If the recipient does not request further process, as provided for in this part, then, after the 
relevant time limits have expired, LSC shall notify the recipient that no further appeal or review 
will be available under this part and may proceed to implement the final determination as a final 
decision.

§ 1606.8   Hearing for a termination or debarment.

(a) For terminations or debarments only, tThe recipient may make a written request for a hearing 
within 30 days of its receipt of the preliminary determination or within 15 days of receipt of the 
written determination issued by the designated employee after the conclusion of the informal 
conference. 

(b) Within 10 days after receipt of a request for a hearing, the Corporation shall notify the 
recipient in writing of the date, time and place of the hearing and the names of the hearing officer 
and of the attorney who will represent the Corporation. The time, date and location of the hearing 
may be changed upon agreement of the Corporation and the recipient. 

(c) A hearing officer shall be appointed by the President or designee and may be an employee of 
the Corporation. The hearing officer shall not have been involved in the current termination or 
debarment action and the President or designee shall determine that the person is qualified to 
preside over the hearing as an impartial decision maker. An impartial decision maker is a person 
who has not formed a prejudgment on the case and does not have a pecuniary interest or personal 
bias in the outcome of the proceeding. 

(d) The hearing shall be scheduled to commence at the earliest appropriate date, ordinarily not 
later than 30 days after the notice required by paragraph (b) of this section. 

(e) The hearing officer shall preside over and conduct a full and fair hearing, avoid delay, 
maintain order, and insure that a record sufficient for full disclosure of the facts and issues is 
maintained. 

(f) The hearing shall be open to the public unless, for good cause and the interests of justice, the 
hearing officer determines otherwise. 

(g) The Corporation and the recipient shall be entitled to be represented by counsel or by another 
person.

(h) At the hearing, the Corporation and the recipient each may present its case by oral or 
documentary evidence, conduct examination and cross-examination of witnesses, examine any 
documents submitted, and submit rebuttal evidence. 

177



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

8

(i) The hearing officer shall not be bound by the technical rules of evidence and may make any 
procedural or evidentiary ruling that may help to insure full disclosure of the facts, to maintain 
order, or to avoid delay. Irrelevant, immaterial, repetitious or unduly prejudicial matter may be 
excluded.

(j) Official notice may be taken of published policies, rules, regulations, guidelines, and 
instructions of the Corporation, of any matter of which judicial notice may be taken in a Federal 
court, or of any other matter whose existence, authenticity, or accuracy is not open to serious 
question.

(k) A stenographic or electronic record shall be made in a manner determined by the hearing 
officer, and a copy shall be made available to the recipient at no cost. 

(l) The Corporation shall have the initial burden to show grounds for a termination or debarment. 
The burden of persuasion shall then shift to the recipient to show by a preponderance of evidence 
on the record that its funds should not be terminated or that it should not be disbarred. 

§ 1606.9   Recommended decision for a terminations or debarment.

(a) For termination or debarment hearings under § 1606.8, wWithin 20 calendar days after the 
conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall issue a written recommended decision which 
may: 

(1) Terminate financial assistance to the recipient as of a specific date; or 

(2) Continue the recipient's current grant or contract, subject to any modification or 
condition that may be deemed necessary on the basis of information adduced at the 
hearing; and/or 

(3) Debar the recipient from receiving an additional award of financial assistance from 
the Corporation. 

(b) The recommended decision shall contain findings of the significant and relevant facts and 
shall state the reasons for the decision. Findings of fact shall be based solely on the record of, 
and the evidence adduced at the hearing or on matters of which official notice was taken. 

§ 1606.10   Final decision for a termination, debarment, or lesser reduction.

(a) If neither the Corporation nor the recipient requests review by the President, a final 
determination or a recommended decision shall become a final decision10 calendar business 
days after receipt by the recipient. 

(b) The recipient or the Corporation may seek review by the President of a final determination or 
a recommended decision. A request shall be made in writing within 10 business days after 

178



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

9

receipt of the recommended decision by the party seeking review and shall state in detail the 
reasons for seeking review. 

(c) The President's review shall be based solely on the information in the administrative record of 
the termination or debarment proceedings, including the appeal to the President,  and any 
additional submissions, either oral or in writing, that the President may request. A recipient shall 
be given a copy of, and an opportunity to respond to, any additional submissions made to the 
President. All submissions and responses made to the President shall become part of the 
administrative record.  Upon request, the Corporation shall provide a copy of the written record 
to the recipient. 

(d)  For a direct appeal of a final determination pursuant to § 1606.7, in which there is no hearing 
under § 1606.8, the President may not review the appeal if the President has had prior 
involvement in the preliminary and/or final determinations.  If the President cannot review the 
appeal, or the President chooses not to do so, then the President shall designate another senior 
Corporation employee who has not had prior involvement  in the preliminary and/or final 
determinations. 

(ed) As soon as practicable after receipt of the request for review of a recommended decision, 
but not later than 30 days after the request for review, the President or designee may adopt, 
modify, or reverse the recommended decision or final determination, or direct further 
consideration of the matter. In the event of modification or reversal of a recommended decision 
pursuant to § 1606.9, the President'sthis decision shall conform to the requirements of 
§ 1606.9(b).  In the event of modification or reversal of a final determination pursuant to 
§ 1606.7, the decision shall conform to the substantive requirements of § 1606.6(a).

(fe) The President's decision of the President or designee under this section shall become final 
upon receipt by the recipient. 

§ 1606.11   Qualifications on hearing procedures. 

(a) Except as modified by paragraph (c) of this section, the hearing rights set out in §§ 1606.6 
through 1606.10 shall apply to any action to debar a recipient or to terminate a recipient's 
funding.

(b) The Corporation may simultaneously take action to debar and terminate a recipient within the 
same hearing procedure that is set out in §§ 1606.6 through 1606.10 of this part. In such a case, 
the same hearing officer shall oversee both the termination and debarment actions. 

(c) If the Corporation does not simultaneously take action to debar and terminate a recipient 
under paragraph (b) of this section and initiates a debarment action based on a prior termination 
under § 1606.4(b)(1) or (2), the hearing procedures set out in § 1606.6 through 1606.10 shall not 
apply. Instead: 

179



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

10

(1) The President shall appoint a hearing officer, as described in § 1606.8(c), to review 
the matter and make a written recommended decision on debarment. 

(2) The hearing officer's recommendation shall be based solely on the information in the 
administrative record of the termination proceedings providing grounds for the debarment 
and any additional submissions, either oral or in writing, that the hearing officer may 
request. The recipient shall be given a copy of and an opportunity to respond to any 
additional submissions made to the hearing officer. All submissions and responses made 
to the hearing officer shall become part of the administrative record. 

(3) If neither party appeals the hearing officer's recommendation within 10 days of 
receipt of the recommended decision, the decision shall become final. 

(4) Either party may appeal the recommended decision to the President who shall review 
the matter and issue a final written decision pursuant to § 1606.9(b). 

(d) All final debarment decisions shall state the effective date of the debarment and the period of 
debarment, which shall be commensurate with the seriousness of the cause for debarment but 
shall not be for longer than 6 years. 

(e) The Corporation may reverse a debarment decision upon request for the following reasons: 

(1) Newly discovered material evidence; 

(2) Reversal of the conviction or civil judgment upon which the debarment was based; 

(3) Bona fide change in ownership or management of a recipient; 

(4) Elimination of other causes for which the debarment was imposed; or 

(5) Other reasons the Corporation deems appropriate. 

§ 1606.12   Time and waiver. 

(a) Except for the 6-year time limit for debarments in § 1606.11(c), any period of time provided 
in these rules may, upon good cause shown and determined, be extended: 

(1) By the designated employee who issued the preliminary decision until a hearing 
officer has been appointed; 

(2) By the hearing officer, until the recommended decision has been issued; 

(3) By the President at any time. 

180



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

11

(b) Failure by the Corporation to meet a time requirement of this part does not preclude the 
Corporation from terminating a recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation. 

§ 1606.13   Interim and termination funding; reprogramming. 

(a) Pending the completion of termination or limited reduction in funding proceedings under this 
part, the Corporation shall provide the recipient with the level of financial assistance provided 
for under its current grant or contract with the Corporation. 

(b) After a final decision has been made to terminate a recipient's grant or contract or to impose a 
limited reduction in funding, the recipient loses all rights to the terminated or reduced funds. 

(c) After a final decision has been made to terminate a recipient's grant or contract, the 
Corporation may authorize termination funding if necessary to enable the recipient to close or 
transfer current matters in a manner consistent with the recipient's professional responsibilities to 
its present clients. 

(d) Funds recovered by the Corporation pursuant to a termination or limited reduction in funding
shall be used in the same service area from which they were recovered or will be reallocated by 
the Corporation for basic field purposes at its sole discretion.

§ 1606.14   Recompetition. 

After a final decision has been issued by the Corporation terminating financial assistance to a 
recipient in whole for any service area, the Corporation shall implement a new competitive 
bidding process for the affected service area. Until a new recipient has been awarded a grant 
pursuant to such process, the Corporation shall take all practical steps to ensure the continued 
provision of legal assistance in the service area pursuant to § 1634.11. 

All of the provisions of the proposed § 1606 .15 in the NPRM would be incorporated in Part 
1606 as indicated above.  The revised NPRM would have no § 1606.15.  It is repeated here for 
reference only. 

Sec. 1606.15 Limited reductions of funding

(a)  The Corporation may, in accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth in this 
section, impose a limited reduction of funding by reducing a recipient’s funding in an amount 
less than 5% of the recipient’s current annual level of financial assistance. 

(b) Grounds for limited reduction in funding.  A limited reduction of funding may be imposed 
when the Corporation determines that termination in whole or in part of the recipient’s grant is 
not warranted, but that there nevertheless has been a substantial violation by the recipient of an 
applicable provision of law, or a rule, regulation, guideline or instruction issued by the 
Corporation, or a term or condition of the recipient's current grant or contract with the 
Corporation.

181



Part 1606 showing draft further revisions for incorporating lesser reductions in funding.
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

12

(c) A determination whether there has been a substantial violation for the purposes of paragraph 
(b) of this section, and the magnitude of the limited reduction in funding, will be based on 
consideration of the criteria set forth in §1606.3(b). 

(d) When the Corporation has made a determination to impose a limited reduction in funding in 
accordance with this section, the Corporation shall provide a written determination to the 
recipient and the Chair of the recipient’s governing body. The determination shall: 

(1) State the grounds, the amount, and the effective date for the limited reduction in 
funding;

(2) Identify, with reasonable specificity, any facts or documents relied on as justification 
for the limited reduction in funding; 

(3) Specify what, if any, corrective action the recipient can take to avoid the limited 
reduction in funding; 

(4) Advise the recipient that it may request, within five business days of receipt of the 
determination, an informal meeting with the Corporation at which it may attempt to show 
that the limited reduction in funding should not be imposed; and 

(5) Advise the recipient that, within 10 days of its receipt of the determination and 
without regard to whether it requests an informal meeting, it may submit written 
materials in opposition to the limited reduction in funding. 

(e) If the recipient requests an informal meeting with the Corporation, the Corporation shall 
designate the time and place for the meeting. The meeting shall occur within five business days 
after the recipient's request is received. 

(f) If the recipient neither requests an informal meeting nor submits any written materials in 
opposition to the determination, the determination will be deemed effective at the end of the 10-
day period following recipient’s receipt of the determination. 

(g) If an informal meeting is conducted and/or written materials are submitted by the recipient, 
the Corporation shall consider any written materials submitted by the recipient in opposition to 
the limited reduction in funding and any oral presentation or written materials submitted by the 
recipient at an informal meeting. After considering such materials, the Corporation shall decide 
within 30 days whether the limited reduction in funding should become effective and shall notify 
the recipient and the recipient’s Board Chair in writing of its decision.

182



Part 1618

183



Part 1618 showing draft further revisions. 
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

1

Part 1618—Enforcement Procedures 

§ 1618.1 Purpose. 

In order to ensureinsure uniform and consistent interpretation and application of the provisions
of the LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations act or other law applicable to LSC funds, a 
Corporation rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or the terms and conditions of the 
recipient's grant or contract with the CorporationAct, and to prevent a question of whether these
requirements havethe Act has been violated from becoming an ancillary issue in any case 
undertaken by a recipient, this part establishes a systematic procedure for enforcing compliance 
with themthe Act.

§ 1618.2 Definitions.

As used in this part, Act means the Legal Services Corporation Act or the rules and regulations 
issued by the Corporation. 

(a) LSC requirements means the provisions of the LSC Act, the Corporation's appropriations act 
or other law applicable to LSC funds, a Corporation rule, regulation, guideline or instruction, or 
the terms or conditions of the recipient's grant or contract with the Corporation.

(b) Violation means a violation by the recipient of the LSC requirements.

§ 1618.3 Complaints. 

A complaint of a violation of the Act by a recipient or an employee of a recipient may be made 
to the recipient, the State Advisory Council, or the Corporation. 

§ 1618.4 Duties of Recipients. 

(a) A recipient shall: 

(1a) Advise its employees of their responsibilities under the LSC requirementsthe Act;
and

(2b) Establish procedures, consistent with the notice and hearing requirements of section 
1011 of the LSC Act, for determining whether an employee has committed a violation 
violated a prohibition of the Act; and whether the violation merits a sanction based on 
consideration of the totality of the circumstances; and shall

(3c) eEstablish a policy for determining the appropriate sanction to be imposed for a 
violation, including: 

184



Part 1618 showing draft further revisions. 
Original NPRM changes are indicated in red.

Further NPRM proposed changes are indicated in blue.

2

(i1) Administrative reprimand if a violation is found to be minor and 
unintentional, or otherwise affected by mitigating circumstances; 

(ii2) Suspension and termination of employment; and 

(iii3) Other sanctions appropriate for enforcement of the LSC requirements Act; . 
but

(bc) Before suspending or terminating the employment of any person for a violation violating a 
prohibition of the Act, a recipient shall consult the Corporation to ensure insure that its 
interpretation of these requirements Act is consistent with Corporation policy.

(c) This section provides procedural requirements between the Corporation and recipients.  It 
does not create rights for recipient employees. 

§ 1618.5 Duties of the Corporation. 

 (a) Whenever the Corporation learns that there is reason to believe that a recipient or a
recipient’s an employee may have committed a violationviolated the Act, or failed to comply 
with a term of its Corporation grant or contract, the Corporation shall investigate the matter 
promptly and attempt to resolve it through informal consultation with the recipient.  Such actions 
may be limited to determining if the recipient is sufficiently investigating and resolving the 
matter itself.

(b) Whenever there is substantial reason to believe that a recipient has persistently or 
intentionally violated the LSC requirements  the Act, or, after notice, has failed to take 
appropriate remedial or disciplinary action to insure ensure compliance by its employees with the
LSC requirements Act, and attempts at informal resolution have been unsuccessful, the 
Corporation may proceed to suspend or terminate financial support of the recipient, or impose a 
lesser reduction in funding, pursuant to the procedures set forth in parts 1623 and 1606,
respectively; may impose Special Grant Conditions on the recipient during the grant year; part 
1612, or may take other action to enforce compliance with the LSC requirementsAct.

(c) Whenever the Corporation determines that a recipient has committed a violation, that 
corrective actions by the recipient are required to remedy the violation and/or prevent recurrence 
of the violation, and that imposition of special grant conditions are needed prior to the next grant 
renewal or competition for the service area, the Corporation may immediately impose Special 
Grant Conditions on the recipient to require completion of those corrective actions.

185



Grant Assurance Memo



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



Third Party Contracting



OFFICE OF LEGAL AFFAIRS

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

 

To:  Operations and Regulations Committee 

Through:  Victor M. Fortuno, Vice President and General Counsel 

From: Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 

Re: Status Report on Third-Party Contracting Revisions 

Date: July 13, 2012 

 The Office of Inspector General (OIG) reviewed Management’s operation of the Technology 
Initiative Grants (TIG) program in Audit AU-11-01.  The OIG recommended that Management 
initiate rulemaking regarding application of the Part 1627 subgrant and Part 1610 transfer rules to 
third-party contracting in the TIG program.   

 Management recommended rulemaking to the Operations and Regulations Committee 
(Committee) in an April 4, 2012, memorandum, which accompanied an April 4, 2012, rulemaking 
options paper (ROP).  The ROP contained analysis of the relevant language in both the subgrant and 
transfer rules.  (Both documents are included in the July Board Book for reference.)  At its meeting 
on April 16, 2012, the Committee approved Management’s recommendation for rulemaking, and the 
Committee Chair reported it to the Board.   

 The Board remanded the matter to the Committee to determine if there were any other 
options for resolving the matter.  At the June 18 Committee meeting, Management and the OIG 
reported that there were no other viable options.  The Committee voted to re-recommend rulemaking 
to the Board, which the Committee Chair will do on July 27.  At the June 18 meeting, the Committee 
also instructed staff to proceed with drafting revisions of the subgrant and transfer rules for the 
Committee’s consideration.  The Committee Chair requested a status report for the July 27 
Committee meeting.  

 The Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) has been working on draft revisions.  OLA will 
coordinate this work with the OIG and other LSC offices.  Staff are also checking for implications 
that these changes would have within the framework of all of LSC’s rules and regulations.  The next 
scheduled Committee meeting is on October 1, for which materials will be distributed in 
approximately two months.  Subject to the Committee’s schedule, staff expects to provide draft 
language for consideration at that meeting.

 Staff are reviewing options involving four primary issues: 

 1) How to best provide clear and consistent application of the transfer and subgrant rules 
throughout all of LSC’s grantmaking activities.   

 2) Whether to provide a separate set of oversight rules for situations in which a contractor 
handles the primary work of a non-legal assistance LSC grant or contract. 

 3) Whether to extend LSC restrictions to the use of LSC funds by third-party contractors 
handling the primary work of a non-legal assistance LSC grant or contract. 

 4) How to update the language of these rules to reflect current grantmaking operations. 

Staff anticipate that the draft revisions will address the concerns raised by the OIG and provide 
workable oversight and accountability for LSC recipients and the use of LSC funds. 

206



OFFICE OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

 

To:  Operations and Regulations Committee 

Through:  Victor M. Fortuno, Vice President and General Counsel 

From: Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 

Re: Non-Rulemaking Options for Third-Party Contracting ROP 

Date: June 12, 2012 

At the April Board meeting, the Committee recommended that the Board commence rulemaking 
regarding LSC’s subgrant and transfer regulations.  That action was based on concerns raised in 
the Office of Inspector General’s (OIG) audit AU-11-01 of the LSC Technology Initiative Grants 
(TIG) program.  Management discussed those issues in the attached April 4, 2012, rulemaking 
options paper (ROP).  Management recommended rulemaking, and the OIG agreed that 
rulemaking would be one way to address those concerns. 

The Board asked the Committee to determine whether there was a non-rulemaking option for 
resolving those issues.  Thereafter, staff from OLA and the OIG met to discuss whether there 
were any options other than rulemaking for the Board to adopt Management’s interpretation of 
the subgrant and transfer rules.  The OIG has drafted two  memos to the Committee regarding the 
applicability of Part 1627, which are in the materials provided for the meeting on June 18.  The 
OIG and Management continue to disagree on the interpretation of the rules. 

Management agrees with the OIG that rulemaking is the best way of addressing these issues.  
The OIG has stated that, were the Board to adopt Management’s interpretation of the rules, it 
cannot preclude the possibility that the OIG could find a violation of the rules in a situation in 
which the recipient follows the interpretation that Management and the Board have set forth, 
although in that situation the OIG would refer the issue to Management rather than require action 
by the recipient.  The OIG stated to Management that, “It is the OIG’s position that rulemaking 
would be required to adopt Management’s interpretation because (a) the text and regulatory 
history of the existing rule do not support Management’s interpretation, and (b) as written, the 
rule might not lend itself to easy administration in the context of the TIG program.”   

Management believes that, for compliance and enforcement purposes, recipients should have a 
definitive, uniform interpretation of the rules that is followed by both Management and the OIG. 
There appears to be no option other than rulemaking that would provide that level of certainty.    
Rulemaking would provide an opportunity to clearly address the situations identified in AU-11-
01, and it would also provide an opportunity to otherwise update the rules consistent with current 
LSC grantmaking, requirements, and restrictions. 

207



208



209



210



211



212



213



OFFICE OF LEGAL AFFAIRS   

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

RULEMAKING OPTIONS PAPER 
TIG THIRD-PARTY CONTRACTING 

To:  Operations and Regulations Committee 

Through: Victor M. Fortuno, Vice President and General Counsel 

From: Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 

Re: Rulemaking Options—TIG Third-Party Contracting 

Date: April 4, 2012 

SCOPE OF RULEMAKING OPTIONS 

This Rulemaking Options Paper (ROP) addresses issues involving third-party contracting 
by LSC recipients using LSC funds from LSC Technology Initiative Grants (TIGs).  In audit 
AU-11-01, the LSC Office of Inspector General (OIG) reviewed LSC’s operation of the TIG 
program.  The OIG recommended that LSC Management commence rulemaking to address 
financial accountability for third-party contracting in the TIG program that is not covered by the 
subgrant rule.  Management directed OLA to provide this ROP to address those issues.  As 
required by the LSC Rulemaking Protocol, this ROP includes a recommendation regarding the 
rulemaking processes for each option.  OLA does not make any recommendation regarding the 
substantive choices before the Board.  Management is providing its recommendations separately. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

All LSC-recipient expenditures of LSC funds are subject to LSC’s financial requirements 
under LSC’s cost standards rule (45 C.F.R. Part 1630), the LSC Accounting Guide, the LSC 
Audit Guide, and the LSC Property Acquisition and Management Manual (PAMM) (for covered 
property transactions).  The LSC subgrant regulation, 45 C.F.R. Part 1627, provides for 
additional prior approval and oversight requirements when an LSC recipient subgrants LSC 
funds to another entity for programmatic purposes.  Most, and perhaps all, subgrants are also 
transfers under 45 C.F.R. Part 1610, which applies most LSC restrictions to all of the operations 
of the subgrantee, including the use of non-LSC funds (except for private attorney involvement 
(PAI) transfers, which do not restrict non-LSC funds).  The subgrant regulation does not apply to 
every third-party contract.  Non-subgrant contracts usually involve the procurement of goods or 
services such as supplies, equipment, and business services. 

AU-11-01 contains recommendations that Management ensure that TIG recipients follow 
proper contracting procedures for third-party contracts using TIG funds.  In response, 
Management has implemented new TIG policies and grant assurances, which the OIG has 
determined are sufficient to close those recommendations.  

214



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 2 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

Some TIGs have as their core purpose technical or business activities that require non-
legal services expertise.  Third-party contractors often provide that expertise.  Contracts for these 
types of activities would normally not be considered subgrants or transfers when paid for out of 
LSC’s basic field grants.  In AU-11-01, the OIG treated this type of third-party contracting as 
subgrants and transfers when funded out of TIGs provided specifically for those purposes.  LSC 
normally looks to the nature of the third-party goods or services contracted for, not the source of 
LSC funds, to determine if the transaction is a subgrant or transfer.  Thus, under longstanding 
LSC practice and OLA’s legal analysis, LSC does not treat these types of contracts as subgrants 
or transfers.  This interpretation is based on the language of both the subgrant and the transfer 
rules, which for these purposes are functionally identical.   

The subgrant rule defines subgrants as payments of LSC funds to third parties “to 
conduct certain activities specified by or supported by the recipient [providing the funds] related 
to the recipient’s programmatic activities.”  45 C.F.R. § 1627.2(b)(1) (subrecipient definition) 
(emphasis added) and similar language at 45 C.F.R. §1610.2(g) (transfer definition).  The rule 
then explains that: 

Such activities would normally include those that might otherwise be expected to 
be conducted directly by the recipient itself, such as representation of eligible 
clients, or which provide direct support to a recipient’s legal assistance activities
or such activities as client involvement, training[,] or state support activities.

Id. (emphasis added). The subgrant rule distinguishes programmatic subgrant activities (such as 
representation of eligible clients) from non-subgrant contracts outside of the definition. The rule 
states that “subrecipient activities would normally also not include the provision of goods or 
services by vendors or consultants in the normal course of business . . . .”  Id. (emphasis added). 
Neither rule involves consideration of the purpose of the primary LSC grant or grants that is the 
source of the LSC funds.  This interpretation enables LSC to apply the rules consistently across 
all types of LSC grants.

In AU-11-01, the OIG applied a different interpretation of the definitions of Part 1627 
subgrants and Part 1610 transfers.  The OIG determined that third-party contracts were subgrants 
and transfers if the contractor performed the core activity of the TIG, even if that activity would 
be a non-subgrant procurement if funded through other LSC grants (including other TIGs).  The 
OIG’s interpretation applies to TIGs in which virtually all of the funds are paid to a third-party 
contractor and ones in which a third-party contractor has the primary responsibility for managing 
the core work of the TIG.  Furthermore, “[t]he OIG noted in its review that the programmatic 
purposes of some TIG grants appeared to overlap the sort of business services that might not be 
treated as subgrants in other contexts.”  AU-11-01 at 44.  Thus, under the OIG’s interpretation, a 
third-party contract in these circumstances is a subgrant out of a specific-purpose TIG even if it 
would not be a subgrant of a basic field grant or a larger TIG with a more general purpose.  The 
OIG attributed this result to “a degree of ambiguity in the application of LSC’s subgrant rule to 
grants with relatively narrow, technological programmatic purposes, as was the case with some 
TIG grants.”  Id. The OIG acknowledged that “Part 1627 draws a distinction between payments 
to third parties to carry out activities ‘related to the [grantee’s] programmatic activities,’ which 
must be treated as subgrants, and services provided by ‘vendors or consultants in the normal 

215



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 3 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

course of business,’ which need not be treated as subgrants when the services ‘would not be 
expected to be provided directly by the [grantee] itself.’” Id. The OIG observed: 

The subgrant rule appears to have been written with the LSC’s principal legal 
service grants in mind, such that ordinarily, programmatic activities consist of the 
provision of legal services, and business services can easily be classified as 
ancillary. This division is not as easy to make in the case of TIG grants, and the 
rule does not seem to have anticipated this problem. 

Id. Based on that analysis, and other concerns regarding oversight of third-party contracting, the 
OIG recommended that Management initiate rulemaking.  In Recommendation 29 of AU-11-01 
the OIG states that: 

The President of LSC should: To the extent that the subgrant rule does not 
adequately account for the unique features of TIG grants, initiate a process to 
amend LSC regulations to account for these features and provide for workable 
oversight of TIG funds paid to third parties. 

 Management has instructed OLA to provide this ROP to address the two issues identified 
by this recommendation: 1) amending the LSC regulation to “provide for workable oversight of 
TIG funds paid to third parties,” and 2) amending the LSC regulations to account for the “unique 
features of TIG grants.”  For each of these issues, there are three primary rulemaking options for 
consideration by the Board. 

The three rulemaking options regarding financial oversight of TIG funds paid to third 
parties are:  (1) the Board could make no changes to the regulations and defer to Management’s 
inherent authority to interpret and apply the regulations to these TIG situations; (2) the Board 
could adopt new provisions in Part 1630 to specifically address third-party contracting in TIGs; 
(3) the Board could adopt a new regulation separate from Part 1630 to address third-party 
contracting in TIGs. 

The three primary options for the Board regarding treatment of TIGs in which a third 
party handles the core technical activities or business services of the grant are:  (1) the Board 
could make no changes to the subgrant or transfer rules and defer to Management’s inherent 
authority to interpret and apply the regulations to these TIG situations; (2) the Board could 
engage in rulemaking to adopt the longstanding LSC interpretation of these rules; (3) the Board 
could engage in rulemaking to adopt the OIG’s interpretation of these rules.  As part of any 
rulemaking on this issue, the Board could also consider whether the transfer rule should apply 
differently from the subgrant rule to these types of TIG contracting, including whether the 
transfer rule should apply only to the LSC funds transferred, as is the case for PAI transfers. 

If the Board decides to engage in rulemaking, then the Board can choose whether to use 
ordinary Notice and Comment Rulemaking, with or without a Rulemaking Workshop, or 
Negotiated Rulemaking.  OLA recommends that, if the Board chooses to engage in rulemaking, 
it should use Notice and Comment Rulemaking without the complexity or expense of a 
Rulemaking Workshop or Negotiated Rulemaking.  If the Board wishes to solicit additional input 

216



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 4 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

from outside of LSC regarding these issues and their implications prior to drafting a Notice of 
Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM), then LSC could issue an Advance Notice of Proposed 
Rulemaking (ANPRM) identifying the issues and seeking public feedback. 

REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

Regulatory Framework and Rules on Contracting with LSC Funds 

As a grantmaking institution, LSC has the authority and, often, the statutory 
responsibility to set rules and requirements regarding how LSC funds are spent.  For third-party 
contracting, LSC has the discretion to set rules for how, and under what circumstances, LSC’s 
restrictions and requirements will apply.  Part 1630 applies cost standards to all expenditures of 
LSC funds.  The LSC Accounting Guide and the LSC Audit Guide provide further information 
regarding complying with these standards.  The PAMM implements the Part 1630 requirements 
regarding certain real-property and personal-property transactions.  Compliance with these 
requirements is handled primarily through annual audits by independent public accountants 
(IPAs) “in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards and guidance 
established by the Office of the Inspector General . . . .” Pub. L. 104-134, 110 Stat. 1321, 1321-
58, § 509(a) (requiring that these audits include review of the recipient’s financial statements, 
internal control systems, and compliance with all Federal laws and regulations) (FY 1996 LSC 
appropriation riders incorporated by reference in all subsequent years).  These audits are reported 
to the OIG, which refers any actions for follow-up to Management.  

Part 1630 requires all LSC recipients to follow cost standards for all expenditures of LSC 
funds, including contracting.  Part 1630 does not set out specific third-party contracting 
requirements, but generally provides that all expenditures must be reasonable and necessary for 
carrying out the LSC grant(s) consistent with ordinary business practices.  45 C.F.R. § 1630.3(b).
All expenditures of LSC funds, regardless of the amount, must be documented for Part 1630 
purposes and meet the Part 1630 requirements regarding reasonable costs following “generally 
accepted sound business practices, Federal and State laws and regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of the grant or contract . . . .”  45 C.F.R. § 1630.3(b)(2).  When an LSC grantee 
provides LSC funds to a third party, it must follow the Part 1630 requirements.  LSC 
Management has discretion to determine whether the expense is sufficiently documented and 
justified under Part 1630. 

The PAMM applies to purchases of real property and purchases or leases of personal 
property over $10,000 with LSC funds.  Part 1630 requires LSC approval for such purchases and 
leases, and the PAMM specifies procedures for acquisition, retention, and disposal of such 
property.  45 C.F.R. § 1630.5(b).  The PAMM was adopted via a process functionally equivalent 
to Notice and Comment Rulemaking (although the PAMM itself was not codified as a 
regulation).  The PAMM specifically limits itself to property matters and does not apply to LSC-
recipient contracting for services. 

The TIG program has always included enhanced accountability for major contracting.  
Unlike the basic field grants, which provide funding in scheduled monthly installments, TIG 

217



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 5 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

funds are provided primarily for progress on the goal and objective of the grant.  After an initial 
payment, subsequent payments are provided as the recipients complete and report upon 
milestones toward the completion of the grant. The signing of a major contract will be a 
milestone and, to be paid, the recipient must report with whom it was signed, when it was signed, 
and provide a copy of the contract.   That contract is reviewed by LSC staff to be sure that it 
complies with the budget and objectives of the grant. 

The following recommendations in AU-11-01 also addressed third-party contracting in 
the TIG program:   

Recommendation 5. Establish procedures to ensure that grantees who submit 
grant applications follow proper contracting processes in selecting vendors to 
accomplish the tasks required by the grant, including using appropriate 
competition and maintaining adequate documentation; and have the skills 
necessary to fully monitor contract performance. 

Recommendation 34. To the extent that current or future subgrant requirements 
do not apply, put in place a process to ensure that the grantees follow an adequate 
contracting process, including competing high dollar contracts and maintaining 
adequate documentation for all contracted services. 

LSC Management has adopted procurement requirements for TIGs involving expenditures of 
over $3,500 for service contracts, including competition and documentation requirements.  These 
changes have been added to the TIG Procedures Manual and to the draft 2012 TIG Grant 
Assurances.  The OIG has determined that these actions are sufficient to close these two 
recommendations. 

Subgrants and Transfers 

LSC recipients may provide LSC funds to third parties for activities related to the 
primary recipient’s “programmatic” activities, that is, activities that involve the provision of 
legal services or information and substantively related activities.  In these situations, the third-
party contract is a subgrant under Part 1627.  Similarly, these contracts are usually transfers 
under Part 1610.  For example, in the past, some recipients have provided subgrants to other 
legal aid organizations to deliver legal services in specific parts of a service area.  Currently, 
some LSC recipients have subgrants with other entities to handle Private Attorney Involvement 
(PAI) activities.   

The statutory restrictions on LSC recipients extend to the primary recipients of LSC 
funding, but LSC has the discretion to determine whether, and under what circumstances, they 
extend to third parties.  In the exercise of that discretion, LSC has made the programmatic/non-
programmatic distinction in Parts 1610 and 1627 to treat all programmatic transfers/subgrants as 
subject to all of the LSC restrictions, but not to extend those restrictions to non-programmatic 
third-party payments, such as acquiring goods or services.  This distinction is discussed in more 
detail below. 

218



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 6 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

Part 1627 subgrants are subject to LSC pre-approval and to financial oversight and 
auditing requirements.  45 C.F.R. § 1627.3.  The primary purpose of these requirements is to 
ensure that the entity that ultimately delivers the programmatic legal services is subject to the 
same financial requirements as the primary grantee, and that LSC can veto any inappropriate 
subgrantee.  These financial requirements apply to the LSC funds subgranted to the third party.  
They do not affect the non-LSC funds of the third party.  Part 1627 does not address any 
substantive restrictions on activities.  

Functionally, the subgrant definition is also used for transfers under Part 1610, which 
provides that a transfer of LSC funds to another entity carries the same LSC restrictions that 
apply to the primary LSC grantee, including the application of the 1996 restrictions to all of the 
non-LSC funds of the third-party entity.  45 C.F.R. § 1610.7.  This restriction presents the most 
significant limitation on subgrants/transfers.  While the subgrant rule extends only to the LSC 
funds subgranted, the transfer rule affects all of the activities of the third party.  This is 
significantly different from many other federally-funded programs, in which the program-
specific requirements only restrict the use of the funds from the federal grant. 

Part 1627, adopted in 1983, defines a “subgrant” as “any transfer of Corporation funds 
from a recipient [that] qualifies the organization receiving such funds as a subrecipient under the 
definition set forth in paragraph (b)(1) of this section.”  45 CFR § 1627.2(b)(2) (the definition 
uses “transfer” as a general term while Part 1610 uses “transfer” as a term-of-art).  Paragraph 
(b)(1) then defines a subrecipient as: 

any entity that accepts Corporation funds from a recipient under a grant contract, 
or agreement to conduct certain activities specified by or supported by the 
recipient related to the recipient’s programmatic activities. 

 Such activities would normally include  

those that might otherwise be expected to be conducted directly by the 
recipient itself, such as representation of eligible clients,  
or which provide direct support to a recipient’s legal assistance activities
or such activities as client involvement, training or state support activities.

Such activities would not normally include those that are covered by a fee-for-
service arrangement, such as those provided by a private law firm or attorney 
representing a recipient’s clients on a contract or judicare basis, except that any 
such arrangement involving more than $25,000 shall be included. 

Subrecipient activities would normally also not include the provision of goods or 
services by vendors or consultants in the normal course of business if such goods 
or services would not be expected to be provided directly by the recipient itself, 
such as auditing or business machine purchase and/or maintenance.  

219



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 7 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

A single entity could be a subrecipient with respect to some activities it conducts 
for a recipient while not being a subrecipient with respect to other activities it 
conducts for a recipient. 

Id. at § 1627.2(b)(1) (formatting and emphasis added).   

Part 1610, adopted in 1996, defines a “transfer” using similar terms.   

Transfer means a payment of LSC funds by a recipient to a person or entity 

for the purpose of conducting programmatic activities that are normally 
conducted by the recipient, such as the representation of eligible clients,
or that provide direct support to the recipient’s legal assistance activities.  

Transfer does not include any payment of LSC funds to vendors, accountants or 
other providers of goods and services made by the recipient in the normal course 
of business. 

45 CFR § 1610.2(g) (formatting and emphasis added).  Section 1610.7(a) applies most of the 
LSC substantive restrictions, including those on non-LSC funds, to the transferee.  These 
restrictions involve legal services activities (such as class actions, representation of aliens, and 
lobbying) and legal aid program operations (such as program priorities and timekeeping for cases 
and matters).   

If a recipient transfers LSC funds to another person or entity, the prohibitions and 
requirements referred to in this part, except as modified by paragraphs (b) and (c) 
of this section, will apply both to the LSC funds transferred and to the non-LSC 
funds of the person or entity to whom those funds are transferred. 

Section 1610.7(c) provides a limitation on these restrictions for transfers for PAI activities.

For a transfer of LSC funds to bar associations,  pro bono programs, private 
attorneys or law firms, or other entities for the sole purpose of funding private 
attorney involvement activities (PAI) pursuant to 45 CFR part 1614, the 
prohibitions or requirements of this part shall apply only to the funds transferred. 

Additionally section 1610.7(b) provides that the transferee can follow the primary recipient’s 
Part 1620 priorities (rather than adopting its own), and that the Part 1635 timekeeping rules apply 
only to the transferred LSC funds.   

The Part 1610 transfer definition was based on the Part 1627 subgrant definition, and for 
purposes of this ROP they are functionally identical.  In AU-11-01, the OIG also appears to have 
treated them as functionally identical for the TIGs reviewed.  The OIG stated that “[m]ost, if not 
all, subgrants also qualify as transfers under Part 1610 subjecting the recipients of these 
payments to the restrictions outlined therein.” AU-11-01 at 42 (footnote omitted).   

220



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 8 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

The subgrant definition of activities “related to the [primary] recipient’s programmatic 
activities” under Part 1627 appears to have the same meaning as “conducting programmatic 
activities that are normally conducted by the [primary] recipient . . . or . . . direct support to the 
recipient’s legal assistance activities” under Part 1610.  Presumably those programmatic 
activities of the primary recipient involve “legal assistance in noncriminal proceedings or matters 
to persons financially unable to afford legal assistance,” which are the types of activities that the 
LSC Act authorizes LSC to support.  42 U.S.C. §2996b(a) (§ 1003(a)—establishment and 
purpose provision).  Thus, the provision of lawyers to represent eligible clients is a programmatic 
purpose, while the provision of parking spaces for those clients is not.   

Generally, all third-party contracts are either subgrants or non-subgrant procurements.  
Ordinarily, the distinction is easy to make based on the ultimate beneficiary of the services.  
Subgrants are generally for programmatic activities that directly benefit clients, such as 
providing legal services.  Procurements generally fund activities that directly benefit the grantee 
itself, such as purchasing and maintaining an office computer network.  LSC has traditionally 
applied these rules on a case-by-case basis to determine if the third-party contracting constitutes 
a subgrant and transfer. 

AU-11-01 Recommendation 29 and Rulemaking Options 

Recommendation 29 of AU-11-01 states: 

The President of LSC should: To the extent that the subgrant rule does not 
adequately account for the unique features of TIG grants, initiate a process to 
amend LSC regulations to account for these features and provide for workable 
oversight of TIG funds paid to third parties. 

This recommendation involves two issues raised by AU-11-01.  First, the OIG expressed concern 
about workable oversight requirements for third-party payments that are not subgrants.  Second, 
the OIG concluded that certain business-service contracting in some TIGs constituted subgrants, 
because the contracting involved the primary purpose of the TIG itself and/or used almost all of 
the funds granted in the TIG.  The discussion below addresses each of these two 
recommendations separately.  

If the Board engages in any rulemaking regarding the Part 1627 subgrant definition, then 
the Board may also want to consider rulemaking regarding the Part 1610 transfer definition.  The 
financial accountability concerns in Part 1627 are different than restrictions issues covered by 
Part 1610.  The rules currently use similar language, and so changes to one rule would merit 
consideration of changes to conform or distinguish the application of the other rule.  In 
particular, the Part 1610 transfer provisions are more closely associated with legal services 
activities than the Part 1627 subgrant provisions.  If the Board determines that the Part 1627 
subgrant provisions should apply to non-legal services based contracting, then it may be 
appropriate to consider not applying the Part 1610 transfer provisions, or applying them to the 
LSC-funds transferred but not the non-LSC funds of the transferee (which is how the Part 1610 
transfer rule treats transfers that are solely for private attorney involvement (PAI) purposes).  

221



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 9 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

A. Oversight of Non-Subgrant, Third-Party Contracting 

1.  Non-Subgrant, Third-Party Contracting Oversight Issues 

All expenditures of LSC funds, regardless of the amount, must be documented for Part 
1630 purposes and meet the Part 1630 requirements regarding reasonable costs following 
“generally accepted sound business practices, Federal and State laws and regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of the grant or contract . . . .”  45 C.F.R. § 1630.3(b)(2).  LSC has its own 
procurement requirements, as do many LSC grantees, but, as of the issuance of AU-11-01, LSC 
did not require grantees to follow any specific contracting requirements for procurements of 
services (as opposed to goods).  Since, and as a result of, the OIG’s recommendations 5 and 34 
in AU-11-01, Management has adopted procurement requirements for TIGs involving 
expenditures of over $3,500 for service contracts, including competition and documentation 
requirements.  The OIG has determined that these actions are sufficient to close those two 
recommendations.  

2. Rulemaking Options for Oversight of Non-Subgrant, Third-Party Contracting 

The Board has three primary options regarding rulemaking on this issue.  First, the Board 
could take no action and leave the issue to Management’s discretion as part of the 
implementation of the requirements of Part 1630. LSC Management has amended the TIG 
Procedures Manual and will be implementing new TIG contracting requirements via grant 
assurance during the next TIG cycle, and all new TIGs will be subject to these requirements.  
This provides Management with the flexibility to adjust the requirements based on experience 
and tailor them over time to meet LSC’s oversight needs and the operation of the TIG program.   

The second option is to engage in rulemaking to modify existing LSC regulations, most 
likely Part 1630, to add specific TIG contracting requirements.  This would provide a more 
public process for the development of these requirements.  Once adopted, the requirements 
would remain constant, absent a new rulemaking to amend them.  The Part 1630 cost standards 
rule sets out the core requirements and framework that underlie the LSC accounting and audit 
guides, the LSC PAMM, and LSC recipients’ financial management practices.   

The third option is to adopt a new separate rule specifically for contracting in the TIG 
program.  As with the second option, this would involve a public process and the promulgation 
of rules that would remain constant until the next rulemaking.  A TIG-specific rule might be 
appropriate if the Board determined that the types of contracting in TIGs merited fairly extensive 
treatment.  In that case, intertwining the TIG-contracting rules and definitions in the general Part 
1630 cost standards rule might become too difficult.  A TIG specific rule could have its own 
procedures for questioned and disallowed costs, or it could state that the Part 1630 procedures 
would apply to TIG contracting situations.

222



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 10 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

B. Primary-Purpose or Pass-Through, Third-Party Contracting 

1.  Primary-Purpose or Pass-Through, Third-Party Contracting Issues 

In AU-11-01, the OIG identified TIGs that it determined contained contracting that 
should have been subgrants.  These TIGs generally involved technical work such as developing 
hardware and/or software systems, technical support, or related technical activities.  In the TIGs 
identified by the OIG, a contractor handled most or all of the work under the TIG, and/or a 
contractor had the primary management responsibility for the work under the TIG.  For example, 
one TIG was for providing free trainings and technical support to LSC grantees on how to use 
various technologies in developing, maintaining, and/or publishing materials on legal issues.  
Almost the entire TIG was paid to a third-party, non-profit entity that provided this kind of help-
desk and training service specifically for legal aid programs.  The third-party did not provide any 
substantive legal work or legal expertise.  In some of the other TIGs , the third-party contractor 
was responsible for managing the technical project to coordinate between various vendors and 
grantees.  The OIG determined that all of these contracting activities should be subgrants and 
transfers because the contractor was responsible for the primary purpose of the TIG, regardless 
of the nature of the contractor’s work.

The OIG discussed this concern as follows: 

The OIG noted in its review that the programmatic purposes of some TIG grants 
appeared to overlap the sort of business services that might not be treated as 
subgrants in other contexts. There is a degree of ambiguity in the application of 
LSC’s subgrant rule to grants with relatively narrow, technological programmatic 
purposes, as was the case with some TIG grants. Part 1627 draws a distinction 
between payments to third parties to carry out activities “related to the [grantee’s] 
programmatic activities,” which must be treated as subgrants, and services 
provided by “vendors or consultants in the normal course of business,” which 
need not be treated as subgrants when the services “would not be expected to be 
provided directly by the [grantee] itself.” The subgrant rule appears to have been 
written with the LSC’s principal legal service grants in mind, such that ordinarily, 
programmatic activities consist of the provision of legal services, and business 
services can easily be classified as ancillary. This division is not as easy to make 
in the case of TIG grants, and the rule does not seem to have anticipated this 
problem.  

AU-11-01 at 44.  In making its determination, the OIG applied the following analysis: 

The TIG grants specify programmatic purposes other than the direct provision of 
legal services, namely the implementation of certain technological improvements. 
Payments by TIG grantees to third parties for services that fall within these 
purposes amount to subgrants within the meaning of LSC’s regulations as 
currently written and should be administered consistent with the requirements of 
Part 1627. 

223



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 11 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

Id. at 42.  Thus, the OIG concluded that third-party contracts for technological activities were 
subgrants when those activities were the primary purpose of the TIG itself.  In some cases, a 
third-party contractor handled all of the work, and in others a third-party contractor managed the 
project.  This application of the rule would mean that a third-party contract for a technical 
activity, such as writing computer software, might be a subgrant if paid for from a TIG for that 
specific work, but might not be a subgrant if paid for out of a larger, more general purpose TIG, 
or out of a basic field grant. 

OLA reviewed the OIG’s analysis of the subgrant rule and the similar provisions of the 
transfer rule and disagreed with the OIG’s conclusions.  The subgrant rule emphasizes the nature 
of the third-party activity funded in relation to the programmatic purposes of the primary 
recipient.  It makes no mention of the purpose of the LSC grant that is the source of the LSC 
funds.  The language and examples in the rule focus on what the third-party contractor will do 
with the LSC funds.  The rule specifically refers to LSC “recipients” providing funds for third-
party activities “related to the recipient’s programmatic activities.”  It then defines programmatic 
activities as those that the LSC recipient itself would normally do, such as “representation of 
eligible clients” or “direct support to a recipient’s legal assistance activities . . . .”  45 C.F.R. 
§ 1627.2(b)(1).  Similarly the transfer rule applies to payments for “conducting programmatic 
activities that are normally conducted by the recipient itself, such as representation of eligible 
clients, or that provide direct support to the recipient’s legal assistance activities.”  45 C.F.R. 
§ 1610.2(g) (emphasis added).  The subgrant rule then explicitly excludes “the provision of 
goods or services by vendors or consultants in the normal course of business if such goods or 
services would not be expected to be provided directly by the recipient itself, such as auditing or 
business machine purchase and/or maintenance.”  45 C.F.R. § 1627.2(b)(1).  The transfer rule 
repeats this limitation on the scope of the definition more concisely at 45 C.F.R. § 1610.2(g).     

LSC recipients’ programmatic activities involve the delivery of legal services.  
Technology development is not one of their “programmatic activities.”  The provision of a TIG, 
or any other special grant, for a non-legal services activity does not convert that activity into one 
of the programmatic activities of the primary recipient.  The subgrant rule was not designed as 
catch-all contracting rule.  General procurement requirements might be better suited for financial 
accountability for non-programmatic third-party contracting. 

Furthermore, the subgrant rule and the transfer rule were designed to provide 
accountability requirements when an LSC recipient provides LSC funds to a third party for 
programmatic legal services activities.  Both rules explicitly exclude non-programmatic goods 
and services.  The transfer rule involves restrictions on legal services activities (such as lobbying, 
class actions, and representation of aliens) that are unrelated to non-programmatic third-party 
activities.  These provisions generally apply to the transferee’s LSC and non-LSC funds.  There 
is no indication or discussion in Part 1610 or the regulatory history that LSC intended to apply 
these legal services restrictions and requirements on contracts for non-legal aid services or on 
non-legal aid entities such as technology or business vendors.  Rather, Part 1610 repeats the Part 
1627 distinction between programmatic and non-programmatic activities based on the legal 
services activities of the primary LSC recipient.  The OIG’s interpretation would apply Part 1610 
to situations well beyond the scope of the rule’s restrictions, and it would disregard the 

224



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 12 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

distinction set out in both rules.  Application of the transfer rule to these types of TIG contracting 
could involve requiring companies providing business or computer services to agree to these 
legal services restrictions on all of their LSC and non-LSC activities (including work for other 
clients and their use of company profits).  That application of the transfer rule to non-legal 
entities is inconsistent with the overall purpose and structure of the rule.

Similarly, LSC also provides emergency and special needs grants that are often for 
specific non-programmatic expenses.  For example, some emergency grants are for the 
replacement of offices, equipment, and infrastructure damaged or destroyed in natural disasters.  
Thus, an emergency grant might entirely be paid out to one or more third-party contractors for 
goods or services that would not normally constitute subgrants.  Under the OIG’s analysis those 
third parties would become Part 1627 subgrantees, and also Part 1610 transferees.  Under OLA’s 
analysis those third-party contracts would be analyzed the same as if they were paid for out of a 
basic field grant. 

2. Rulemaking Options for Primary-Purpose or Pass-Through, Third-Party 
Contracting

The Board has three primary options regarding rulemaking on this issue.  First, the Board 
could take no action and leave the issue to Management’s discretion to interpret and apply the 
Part 1627 subgrant definition and the Part 1610 transfer definition.  Management could continue 
to apply the current interpretation of the rules, and Management could consider if additional 
guidance, such as a program letter, might be appropriate to address these types of situations.  
Management could also consider if the applications of the separate definitions in the two rules 
might be different in some specific types of contracting situations. 

The second option is to engage in rulemaking to clearly state that the definition of a 
subgrant is based on the nature of the contracted activity itself, reflecting OLA’s reading of the 
current rule and LSC’s longstanding practice.  This option would eliminate the kinds of 
ambiguities that underlie the disagreement between Management and the OIG regarding the 
scope of these rules.  It would also make clear that third-party contracting will be treated 
consistently over all types of LSC grants. 

The third option is to engage in rulemaking to clearly state that the definition of a 
subgrant includes consideration of the primary LSC grant, or grants, from which funds are used, 
reflecting the OIG’s reading of the current rule. This option would also eliminate ambiguity on 
this subject.  It would provide additional subgrant oversight in situations in which LSC provides 
a specific TIG for a normally non-programmatic activity and a third-party handles the primary 
work of the TIG.  This option would create situations in which the application of the subgrant 
rule would depend on which LSC grant the recipient draws the funds from for the third-party 
contract.  Under this option, the Board could also consider a) whether to apply the subgrant rule 
to these “primary purpose” contracts but not the transfer rule (if it doesn’t otherwise apply), or b) 
whether to limit the application of the transfer rule in these instances to the LSC funds 
transferred (as is the case for private attorney involvement (PAI) transfers). 

225



ROP—TIG Third Party Contracting   
Page 13 of 13 
April 4, 2012 

RULEMAKING PROCESS 

Under the LSC Rulemaking Protocol, LSC may pursue rulemaking by Notice and 
Comment Rulemaking or through the use of Negotiated Rulemaking (which must be followed by 
a brief notice and comment process).  If LSC pursues a Notice and Comment Rulemaking, then 
LSC has the option of also conducting a public Regulatory Workshop in connection with the 
rulemaking to engage in a discussion with interested parties about the subject of the rulemaking 
prior to the development of a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking for publication and comment.  

Although these issues are likely to be of significant interest to the recipient community, 
Negotiated Rulemakings and Regulatory Workshops are generally best suited to rulemakings on 
issues relating to the provision of legal services. Any rulemaking conducted on these issues 
involving third-party contracting would primarily involve questions of LSC grants management 
and not issues relating to the provision of legal services.  As such, neither the resource intensive 
and prolonged face-to-face dialog with recipients required in a Negotiated Rulemaking, nor the 
convening of a Regulatory Workshop would seem likely to raise issues or create novel 
approaches to problem solving that will be of significant assistance to LSC in the drafting of a 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking.  In our view, the time and expense of a Negotiated Rulemaking 
or a Regulatory Workshop would not appear to be warranted.  Instead, a Notice and Comment 
rulemaking would provide an appropriate process. 

In the Notice and Comment process LSC could begin with an Advance Notice of 
Proposed Rulemaking (ANPRM) to solicit input on the issues that the Board wants to consider 
for rulemaking.  An ANPRM identifies the issue under review without setting out any specific 
proposals.  This would provide the Board with an opportunity to consider input from the 
recipient community prior to drafting language to publish for comment in a NPRM. 

226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



Board of Directors



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

July 27, 2012 
 

Agenda 
 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 
1.  Pledge of Allegiance 
 
2.  Approval of agenda 
 
3.  Approval of Minutes of the Board's meeting of May 21, 2012 
 
4. Presentation of the Report of the Pro Bono Task Force 
 
5.  Consider and act on the draft Strategic Plan 
 
6.  Chairman's Report 
 
7. Members' Reports 
 
8.  President's Report 
 
9. Inspector General's Report 
 
10.  Consider and act on the report of the Promotion and Provision for the Delivery of Legal 

Services Committee 
 
11.  Consider and act on the report of the Finance Committee 
  
12.  Consider and act on the report of the Audit Committee 
 
13.  Consider and act on the report of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
 
14.  Consider and act on the report of the Governance and Performance Review Committee 
 
15.  Consider and act on the report of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
 
16. Consider and act on delegation of authority to the LSC Board Chairman to appoint non-

directors to serve on LSC Board committees 
 
17. Consider and act on a resolution acknowledging the recent passing of former LSC Board 

Member Thomas A. Fuentes 

248



18. Public comment 
 
19.  Consider and act on other business 
 
20.  Consider and act on whether to authorize an executive session of the Board to address 

items listed below, under Closed Session 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
21.  Approval of minutes of the Board's closed session meeting of April 16, 2012 
 
22. Briefing by Management 
 
23.  Briefing by the Inspector General 
 
24. Consider and act on General Counsel's report on potential and pending litigation 

involving LSC 
 
25.  Consider and act on motion to adjourn meeting 
 
   

249



Minutes from May 21, 2012
Meeting



Minutes: May 21, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Open Session 

Monday, May 21, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

Vice Chair Dean Martha L. Minow convened an open session meeting of the Legal 

Services Corporation’s (“LSC”) Board of Directors (“the Board”) at 1:38 p.m. on Monday, May 

21, 2012.  The meeting was held at the F. McCalpin Conference Center, Legal Services 

Corporation Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington, DC 20007. 

 

The following Board Members were in attendance: 

John G. Levi, Chairman  
Martha L. Minow, Vice Chair  
Robert J. Grey, Jr.  
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III  
Victor B. Maddox 
Laurie Mikva  
Julie A. Reiskin  
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
James J. Sandman, ex officio 
 

Also attending were: 

Richard Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara  Executive Assistant to the President 

250



Minutes: May 21, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Victor Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary 

Mark Freedman  Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) 
Katherine Ward  Executive Assistant, OLA 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Treefa Aziz Government Affairs Representative, GRPA 
Jeffrey Schanz   Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of Inspector 

General (OIG) 
Joel Gallay Special Counsel to the Inspector General, OIG 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, OIG 
Chuck Greenfield National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Board: 

Dean Minow called the open session meeting to order.   

MOTION 

Father Pius moved to approve the agenda and minutes of the Board’s meeting of April 15 

and 16, 2012.  Ms. Mikva seconded the motion.   

Mr. Maddox received confirmation from Ms. Fertig that the previous transcript was 

corrected to state he was not in attendance at the April 15th meeting.   

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote of the Board members. 

The Board members discussed the latest version of the draft strategic plan.  Several 

comments and edits were offered by the members. Father Pius was asked to incorporate 

additional revisions and re-circulate a final draft for review before publishing it in the Federal 

Register for a 30-day public comment period. 

 

   

251



Minutes: May 21, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

MOTION 

 Professor Valencia-Weber moved to give preliminary approval to the strategic plan as 

drafted with subsequent minor editing, and publish the final version for a 30-day public comment 

period.  Father Pius seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 The motion passed by voice vote of the Board Members.   

 Chairman Levi addressed the passing of former Board member Tom Fuentes after a long 

battle with cancer.  Chairman Levi opened the floor for comments and recognition of Tom 

Fuentes’ service. 

  

 Chairman Levi next invited Mr. Schanz to speak about the Inspector General’s 

Semiannual Report to Congress (SAR) for the period of November 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012.  

Chairman Levi solicited comments and questions from Board members.  President Sandman 

offered a few suggestions on the Board’s transmittal to accompany the SAR.   

 

MOTION 

 Father Pius moved to approve the transmittal, as modified.  Dean Minow seconded the 

motion.   

VOTE 

The motion passed by a voice vote. 

Chairman Levi solicited public comments.   Mr. Greenfield, NLADA, asked if the SAR 

could be made available to the public, as it has been in the past.  Mr. Schanz replied that it will 

be made available after it is submitted to Congress.  Mr. Greenfield commented that it would 

252



Minutes: May 21, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

have been helpful to have a copy of the SAR and accompanying Board transmittal to Congress 

prior to the Board meeting in order to follow along and provide comments during the meeting.  

There were no other comments.   

There was no other business to consider. 

MOTION 

 Dean Minow moved to adjourn the meeting.  Father Pius seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

The motion passed by voice vote.  

The open session meeting of the Board adjourned at 2:14 p.m.  

253



Draft Strategic Plan



Legal Services Corporation
Strategic Plan 2012-2016

Draft of June 2012

254



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 1

Legal Services Corporation
Strategic Plan 2012 – 2016

Part One: Overview

Fundamental Principles

The Legal Services Corporation (LSC) was founded on a shared American ideal: access to
justice regardless of one’s economic status. Every day, people across America recite the Pledge 
of Allegiance and make a commitment to a nation: “with Liberty and Justice for All.”

In the Preamble to the United States Constitution, the Framers recognized that to “establish 
justice” was a primary goal of the new Republic. But justice is no mere abstraction; it requires 
clear laws and an impartial system of courts and judges to adjudicate disagreements and 
vindicate rights. George Washington called the true administration of justice, “the firmest pillar 
of good government.” This promise of justice for all can only be realized when all have access to 
the system that administers justice.  

Congress recognized this in its finding and declaration of purpose in the Legal Services
Corporation Act: “…for many of our citizens,” the statute emphasizes, “the availability of legal
services has reaffirmed faith in our government of laws.” As Judge Learned Hand said, “If we
are to keep our democracy, there must be one commandment: Thou shalt not ration justice.”

A Crucial Time

At the same time, LSC acknowledges that the financial resources available from the federal 
government are limited, especially given the current state of the national and global economies. 
Established to provide financial and strategic support for civil legal assistance throughout the 
United States and its territories, LSC is the largest single funder of civil legal aid programs in the
nation. Currently, LSC provides grants to 135 independent programs with more than 900 offices
serving every county in every state, the District of Columbia, and various territories of the 
United States.

Virtually all of LSC’s current revenue comes from annual congressional appropriations. Local
legal services providers depend upon a combination of these federal funds, state and local
government funding, revenue from Interest on Lawyers’ Trust Accounts (IOLTA), and private 
donations.

Following four straight years of appropriation increases, LSC has faced significant reductions in 
the last two budgetary cycles. Since April of 2011, LSC’s federal appropriation has been reduced
by 18 percent. In addition, LSC’s grantees have experienced funding reductions from other 

255



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 2

sources. Revenue from IOLTA — a source of significant support for local legal aid programs —
continues to fall as interest rates remain very low. Budget pressures have caused many state and
local governments to reduce their appropriations for civil legal services. LSC grantees reported a
two percent reduction in funding from non-LSC sources in 2011.

LSC recently surveyed the programs it supports to learn the impact of funding reductions on
their operations. The results were sobering. Including layoffs that the programs anticipate
implementing in 2012, the programs project a loss of 582 attorneys, 250 paralegals, and 394
support staff since the end of 2010 — a loss of 1,226 full-time legal services employees, a 13
percent reduction in staffing.

Twenty-four programs reported that they expect to close offices in 2012. Because many of these
closures will occur in rural areas, eligible clients will lose the ability to access lawyers within
their communities. This will mean effectively no access to legal assistance for an increasing 
number of America’s rural poor. A number of programs report that they have frozen or reduced
employee salaries and benefits, reduced intake hours, and eliminated categories of services.
Legal aid lawyers were already the lowest paid group in the legal profession before these freezes
and reductions.

The same financial challenges that lead to reduced funding also contribute to the rising need for
civil legal assistance. While capacity is falling, the population eligible for civil legal services at
LSC-funded programs continues to rise steeply. Today, LSC estimates that more than 64 million
Americans are eligible for services at the programs it funds — an all-time high, and an increase
of 26.6 percent since 2007, before the recession began.

Strategic Goals

Despite the challenges of the current state of affairs, LSC has a duty to the American people to 
pursue its fundamental mission of access to justice. With this in mind, the LSC Board of 
Directors has prepared this plan to set forth the strategic goals that will guide LSC for the next 
five years.  

LSC’s primary goal is to maximize the availability, quality, and effectiveness of the civil legal 
services that its grantees provide to eligible low-income individuals.1

To achieve this goal, LSC must work to afford its grantees the resources, tools, and management
expertise to most effectively reach and assist their clients. LSC will pursue its work in this
crucial period along three avenues:

                   
1

Throughout this document, “low-income” and “poor” refer to the definitions in LSC’s governing act and include compliance 
with the eligibility rules. See Legal Services Corporation Act As Amended, 42 U.S.C. 2996 et seq., Public Law 93-35593 
Congress, H.R. 7824, July 25, 1974; LSC Act, Public Law 95-222, 95 Congress, H.R. 6666, December 28, 1977; LSC Reauthorization 
Act, and other amendments. See also 24 C.F.R. §§ 1611 & 1611X.  

256



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 3

(1) identifying and replicating best practices associated with delivering high quality civil
legal assistance to the poor by its grantees;

(2) promoting the development and implementation of technologies that maximize the
availability of legal information and assistance; and

(3) expanding the availability of civil legal assistance beyond LSC’s grantees through the
most effective use of pro bono services and other private resources.

In order to achieve this first goal, which reflects its fundamental mission, LSC will employ
robust assessment tools to ensure that it identifies, recognizes, and replicates the best practices
among its grantees and those qualities that define its highest-performing grantees. LSC also will
provide attention and assistance to lower-performing grantees and to grantees who may request 
such assistance. Meeting this goal will be a significant challenge in the current funding
environment. LSC’s approach to improving quality must be focused on promoting innovation
that accomplishes more with fewer resources.

LSC’s second goal is to become a leading voice for civil legal services for poor Americans.

LSC will provide national leadership and opportunities for collaboration with others committed
to promoting civil legal services, including other funders of legal aid, governmental agencies, 
and judicial systems throughout the country. The primary goals of this collaboration will be: (a) 
to increase awareness of the significance and value of civil legal aid with the intention of 
increasing public and private resources devoted to this purpose; and (b) to more closely match 
resources and needs, identify innovative approaches, and coordinate LSC’s efforts to achieve 
maximum effectiveness.  

In order to become a leading voice, LSC will:

identify federal government agencies that might have additional resources available for 
LSC grantees and to expand awareness of the availability of such resources to grantees;
identify and reach out to national foundations and other sources to broaden LSC’s 
funding base, in order to:

o provide funds for research, the development of promising practices, and other 
projects with the potential to improve civil legal assistance more generally, and

o create a renewed awareness in the philanthropic community about legal services
for the poor;

work together with providers of legal services to low-income individuals to raise public 
awareness about civil legal aid and both the positive contribution it makes in the lives of 
the poor as well as the economic benefits to the government and to society as a whole;
and 
improve communication about the work that LSC and its grantees do in the cause of 
providing legal services to the poor. 

257



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 4

LSC’s third goal is to achieve the highest standards of fiscal responsibility both for itself and 
its grantees.

The United States Congress entrusts LSC with funds collected from the American taxpayer. Both
to live up to that trust and to justify further confidence, LSC will be a prudent steward of the 
resources allocated to it. LSC will comply with the parameters expressed by Congress and
conform to the highest peer-reviewed professional standards of fiscal transparency and
accountability, both within the Corporation and in its fiscal oversight of those who receive funds
from LSC.

In January 2012, the LSC Board of Directors approved the recommendations of its Financial 
Oversight Task Force. In achieving this goal, LSC will implement the recommendations of the 
Task Force.

258



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 5

Part Two: The Three Strategic Goals

1. Maximize the Availability, Quality, and Effectiveness of Legal
Services

Maintenance of the rule of law is, and always has been, a central purpose of the American 
Republic. The rule of law requires an opportunity to vindicate one’s legal rights, which often 
requires the assistance of counsel. For those unable to afford a lawyer, this lack of qualified 
legal counsel results in a rule of law eroded in meaning and effect. It is therefore critical that 
LSC continue to improve the availability, quality, and effectiveness of civil legal services for 
those qualified under federal law to receive them.

Initiative One: 
Identify, promote, and spread best practices in meeting the civil legal needs of the poor 

All civil legal services providers across the country face the challenge of limited resources while
seeking to address growing unmet needs and management challenges. Many of LSC’s grantees 
have developed effective approaches to one or more areas of civil practice affecting the poor.
Many grantees have also devised successful strategies for partnering with pro bono lawyers, law
schools, and other providers to extend their work or otherwise increase responsiveness to clients
and potential clients.

Because of its unique position as the federally-created, national organization in this field, LSC
can and must lead an initiative to identify, share, and promote best practices among its grantees
and other organizations in providing high-quality and effective legal information, advice, and
representation. Best practices include approaches to particular issues, such as assistance in the
face of mass foreclosures and in the area of family law, as well as strategies for expanding access
to legal services. Best practices also involve acknowledging differences among grantees’ client
populations that may significantly affect the manner in which legal services are provided, but 
which may be difficult to quantify. Such variables include, among other things, geographical 
isolation, regional court practices, non-English language use, and distinct cultural communities.

Best practice identification: LSC’s assessments of grantee programs will identify
promising practices and vet them among other grantees to highlight approaches that
warrant being named a “best practice.” In addition to the suggestions made by its own 
Financial Oversight and Pro Bono Task Forces, LSC will also solicit suggestions from
grantees and other providers and funders to enlarge the pool of potential best practices.
This will also include the identification of those federal agencies that are most involved 
in the types of legal issues that LSC grantees handle for their clients so as to facilitate 
coordination with these agencies to better streamline responsiveness to the needs of
clients.

259



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 6

Best practice resource: LSC will become a “go-to” place for collecting and sharing
information about best practices in the provision of civil legal assistance. This should
include enhancing web-based resources, including a user-friendly library tool that
improves the accessibility, scope, currency, and use of the library currently maintained by
LSC.
Best practice sharing: LSC will devise successful ways to share the best practices it
identifies through the potential use of web tools, social media, conferences, and other
techniques that grantees may find helpful in promoting dialogue and peer assessment.

Best practice expansion: LSC will develop benchmarks and share the best practices it
identifies.

Initiative Two:  
Implement a new performance management system 

As part of ensuring high quality legal services, LSC must be able to measure the performance of 
grantees fairly, objectively, and effectively. It is important for LSC to identify both higher- and 
lower-performing grantees so that it can recognize best practices and assist those grantees in 
need of improvement.

LSC will design a new performance management program with input from experts in non-profit
management and from grantees, which should include:

Meaningful performance standards and metrics, known to and understood by all
participants. The standards will be developed in collaboration with grantees to support
the goals of the Legal Services Corporation Act – quality, effective civil legal services for
low-income individuals, and an efficient and appropriate use of appropriated funds–and
should be designed to avoid imposing unnecessary burdens on grantees.

Quantitative metrics will be designed to measure three key areas:

Outcome metric(s): Evaluating how a grantee organization’s delivered 
legal services translate into identified benefits for individual clients, as 
well as other societal benefits and governmental savings.

Efficiency metric(s): Evaluating the cost-effectiveness of a grantee
organization’s activities by measuring how invested federal grant dollars 
translate into an amount of legal services delivered.

Needs Assessment metric(s): Ensuring that grantees effectively assess the 
needs of eligible clients in their service areas, establish priorities reflecting 
such assessment in a manner consistent with the Legal Services 
Corporation Act and LSC regulations, and evaluate their effectiveness in 
meeting those priorities.

260



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 7

A revised data-collection and analysis process. Data collection from grantees should
avoid impeding their organizational efficiency. Online data collection should be
structured to reduce reporting costs and to increase analytical effectiveness. To the extent 
practicable, the data collection required by other major funders of LSC grantees should 
be reviewed in order to minimize redundancy. 

Performance triggers. Performance measures cannot alter the legislatively-determined 
funding formula that sets the level of Basic Field grants. When clear, evidence-based 
standards of performance are established, LSC will seek to provide performance 
incentives to grantees outside these funding formulas. Following the establishment of a 
fair and objective data-collection and analysis process, LSC should be prepared to 
implement a system under which rewards or corrective actions would be triggered.

Any rewards or corrective measures will be implemented only when LSC
is confident of the quality and fairness of the performance standards.
While such rewards or corrective measures would only be introduced after 
the implementation of such standards, planning for them could be 
developed concurrently.

Rewards for grantees exceeding a standard (e.g., a high percentile ranking 
on established quantitative metrics) might include:

• LSC certification as a top-performing organization;
• Invitation to special LSC recognition programs;
• Increased access to funds or projects generated through LSC’s own 

advancement efforts; or
• Ability to compete for special grant programs that LSC may 

administer.

Corrective actions for grantees consistently falling below a minimum
standard (to be specified only after opportunity for public review and 
comment) might include:

• A special review by LSC or peers;
• Required professional development activities (such as training);
• Implementation of specific quality or efficiency processes;
• Enhanced program oversight requirements;
• Suggested changes in staffing or program focus; or
• Other actions permitted by applicable law and corresponding 

regulations.

261



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 8

Initiative Three:  
Provide legal practice and operational support to improve measurably the quality of civil legal 

services to the poor 

LSC’s congressionally mandated oversight responsibilities enable and obligate it to help grantees
maximize their performance through support for their practices and operations. Oversight should 
be coupled with assistance to achieve such performance.

Assistance to grantee programs should include the following:

Grantee training. LSC will supplement and extend training efforts to reflect the growing
expertise in best practices and to improve and increase collaboration across grantees and
other providers. LSC will aim to offer training programs using its own Management and
Grants Oversight budget, at little or no cost to its grantees. LSC will review the
possibilities of training efforts in at least the following areas:

Best Practice Training: Training programs to share information and
discussion about best practices both to deepen peer review and to promote
the adoption of best practices.

State-of-the-Art Training from Other Organizations: Timely, high-quality
training programs offered by other organizations will be identified and,
where possible, made available to grantees as cost-effectively as possible.
In addition, LSC will work to stimulate the creation of training programs
by other organizations where indicated by the expertise, capacity, and
leverage that could be achieved.

Compliance Training: Training to enable grantees to meet LSC’s financial, 
regulatory, and reporting requirements as efficiently as possible, and to 
minimize the need for enforcement actions. 

Peer support and collaboration programs. Interaction among LSC grantees is often the
result of grantees’ initiatives. The experience and advice of colleagues is a potent
resource for grantee staff and management. LSC will develop peer support and
collaboration programs, including, for example:

Online collaboration tools for LSC grantee staff to discuss relevant issues
among themselves, such as technical advice, pro bono practices,
partnerships with law schools and other organizations, identification of
other resources, management expertise, and fundraising.

National in-person conferences for leadership of grantee organizations.
These would identify prospects for collaboration and allow the sharing of
expertise. They would also permit LSC to learn from the practical 
experience of grantee leaders and to improve its support of programs as a
result.

262



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 9

Management support. Grantee organizations face many common issues, including
succession planning, fundraising, hiring and retention, financial management, practice
management, case management, and operations. LSC will develop management support 
programs, including, for example:

An Executive Director mentoring program – A “matchmaking” service
available to Executive Directors who want to tap the experience of a
longer-tenured peer at another organization.

A management tool library, including sample materials for human
resources, requests for proposals, contracting documents, and fundraising
letters and materials.

Training programs for grantee boards of directors that focus on LSC-
specific issues and avoid duplication of training programs already
available from other organizations.

Training programs to promote the participation and effectiveness of non-
attorney and client representatives who serve on grantee boards of 
directors.

Innovative technology for delivering professional development programs. Online
technology tools are increasingly effective for professional development activities, and
LSC should develop a repertoire of online, on-demand tools and make online availability 
the default method of delivery. Many of these tools are available as low- to mid- cost
open-source or software-as-a-service models. LSC will explore these alternatives.

Enhance Private Attorney Involvement (Pro Bono). In 2011, the LSC Board of 
Directors invited some of America’s best legal practitioners, judges, and public advocates 
to assist it in identifying ways in which to maximize the use of pro bono involvement in 
providing legal services to the poor. The five working groups of this Pro Bono Task force 
provided initial reports at the April 2012 meeting of the LSC Board of Directors. The 
Task Force was divided into the following working groups: Technology; Obstacles to Pro 
Bono; Rural Issues; Urban Issues; and “Big Ideas”. The LSC Board and management will 
continue to review the recommendations made by this Task Force in an effort to 
implement those practices that can best assist its grantees in providing civil legal services 
to the poor.

Accountability 

LSC must hold itself accountable for results, just as it holds its grantees so accountable. LSC’s 
efforts on these initiatives will be organization-wide, but led by a new Office of Grants
Management. For Initiative Three, LSC’s efforts will be assisted by the technical expertise of the 
Office of Information Technology. The success of LSC’s efforts will be measured by progress in 
the development of standards and strategic programs, and by increasingly objective measures of 

263



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 10

the year-over-year improvement of LSC grantees as a whole. LSC management must also 
develop procedures to provide for periodic reassessment of key metrics, both of its own 
performance and that of its grantees, to ensure that they reflect up-to-date LSC mission priorities 
and objectives. LSC will staff these initiatives and provide the necessary training as part of its 
forthcoming Strategic Human Capital plan. This will include the formation of the Office of 
Grants Management, containing the required analytical expertise and a robust training and 
technical assistance capacity.

2. Become a Leading Voice for Access to Justice and Quality Legal
Assistance in the United States

The nation needs greater and more focused leadership in addressing the civil legal needs of the
poor. As the only federally-created, national legal services organization, as the largest single
funder of civil legal services in the United States, and with its detailed knowledge of the activities
of 135 legal services programs serving every state and the territories, LSC has both the
opportunity and the obligation to play a critical leadership and organizational role in
advocating and securing access to justice for the poor in civil matters. Promoting understanding
of the role and value of civil legal services and acting in partnership with other funders and 
stakeholders in the justice system are essential to expanding the public and private support
necessary to sustain the work of LSC’s grantees.

Initiative One:  
Provide a comprehensive communications program around a compelling message 

Developing a commonly understood, consistently delivered, well-articulated, and compelling
message about access to justice is critical for maintaining and expanding both public and private
funding for civil legal services. Without expansion of resources – whether from public or private
sources – access to justice will remain limited. While LSC is a critical national funder of civil 
legal services, it is but one among many sources of assistance. As such, LSC’s message must be 
developed in conjunction with other stakeholders and actors in the justice system, including 
clients, courts, federal agencies, state-level Access to Justice Commissions, pro bono networks, 
IOLTA and other grantmakers, and the actual providers of legal services, whether or not funded 
by LSC.

The creation of a messaging framework will give grantees a narrative that they will be able to
use to recruit board members, explain their work to their communities, and cultivate other
potential funders. Components of the communications programs will include:

The establishment of a compelling narrative that is adopted by all LSC staff and board
members for communicating LSC’s mission, activities, and value.

The creation of a short message and other potential communications that could appear
in brochures, booklets, other materials, and online.

The development of supporting materials to support the common narrative.

264



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 11

Initiative Two:  
Build a business case for funding civil legal services 

In addition to a better narrative message, LSC must better explain the financial and economic 
benefits that result from funding civil legal services for the poor. Because civil legal services
programs can save government and society money, funding these services is an efficient use of 
government resources. Averted foreclosures and evictions, for example, avoid homelessness with
all its attendant costs and collateral consequences. Likewise, civil restraining orders in domestic
violence cases can avoid future hospitalizations and unemployment.

Some studies at the state level have already quantified the economic benefits of civil legal
services, but further evidence is needed. Development of this data is intrinsically linked to the 
development of valid outcome measurements as a component of the Performance Management 
Initiative (1.2), as discussed above. It will also be a prerequisite for evidence-based 
communication and advocacy, by demonstrating not only direct benefits to clients served, but 
also indirect benefits to society, the courts, and the public treasury.

There are three primary courses of action to build this case:

Gather and analyze broad, nationwide data on the results achieved in civil legal
services cases as the starting point for a strong economic analysis;

Conduct research on the best methods for quantifying the cost savings realized by the
outcomes achieved; and

Create a research-backed case for the investment in civil legal services that shows the 
value of current expenditures and reasonable estimates of the public value that would be 
created by increased funding – a projected marginal value for legal aid dollars. As data 
are gathered, this research will be incorporated into LSC’s budgeting process and 
Congressional communications.

Initiative Three:  
Recruit and enlist new messengers and sources of funds to increase private support for civil 

legal services 

The legal services community needs to enlist new messengers to make the case for legal aid to
new audiences. LSC must find those who have already embraced the case for civil legal services
and made it their own, and use these exemplars to recruit others who would approach the issue
from a different angle in order to reach different audiences. Members of the LSC Board of 
Directors can model the role of community leaders as spokespersons for civil legal assistance.
LSC must also remain active in seeking potential non-Congressional sources of funds for the 
organization, to broaden its financial base and provide funds for special initiatives, while at the 
same time integrating support for legal services within the field of national philanthropy.

265



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 12

LSC can and should ensure that individuals who are not part of the civil legal services 
community as well as the traditional advocates are equipped with relevant information and 
opportunities to speak about civil legal services for low-income individuals. LSC must expand
the base of private financial support for civil legal services. There are at least three steps LSC 
will pursue:

Use the legal services network to help identify those outside the community who are
making the case on a local, regional, and national basis;

Engage potential messengers to see how best to take advantage of their natural
inclinations on a broader or more targeted basis;

Expand the network through these messengers to see whom they know; and

Seek funding opportunities from other grant-making organizations for special projects 
and initiatives consistent with this Strategic Plan and LSC’s statutory mandate. 

 

Initiative Four:  
Institutional advancement and grantee development support 

As a creation of the federal government, LSC will remain dependent on the federal treasury for 
all of its basic field grants. Nevertheless, LSC should pursue private sources of financial support 
that will complement its Congressionally-given mandate, within the limitations imposed by
applicable law. To do this, LSC will create an internal advancement office in order to support its 
own ability to fund the following:

• Research projects;
• Fellowships created for new lawyers and senior lawyers to serve in legal services 

programs;
• Create appropriate public service announcements and public education materials;
• Launch of an honorary auxiliary board;
• Launch of a national alumni association; and
• Other pilot projects and initiatives.  

LSC will continue to pursue the possibility of creating this internal capacity through a grant (or 
grants) that could provide the necessary financial support to establish such an operation. This 
internal office would not in any way compete with fundraising efforts of LSC grantees. LSC 
management, together with oversight from the Institutional Advancement Committee of the 
Board, sensitive to this issue, will work to assure that such competition for funds does not occur.

In addition, LSC has recognized that many of its grantees need support in their own work of 
institutional advancement. With this internal advancement office, LSC will be able to provide 
such advice and assistance to grantees in this important area, as follows:

266



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 13

LSC will combine knowledge and insights from all of its communication efforts with
those from the work of LSC’s Institutional Advancement Committee to create materials
and support training for grantees in their development efforts.
LSC (including members of the LSC Board, to the extent of their availability) will work
with grantees to develop and share common communications strategies and materials.
LSC will share with its grantees strategies on how and when to deliver compelling 
messaging, on how to identify alternative sources, and on how to cultivate long-term 
relationships with donors.  

Supporting grantees in their development efforts would provide them with:

(1) An understanding that LSC is focused on their most critical issue; and
(2) New strategies for developing private-sector resources.

Providing grantees with development support should include:

Delivering the LSC narrative, the business case, and information on how best to use non-
traditional messengers so that LSC’s grantees have the tools needed to make their own
cases.

Training on the various tools, so that grantees fully understand their messages, their
potential uses, and how they should be used.

Sharing development strategies through online and in-person seminars, so that grantees
can be introduced to new concepts, ask questions, and begin to use the concepts with
local potential donors.

Assessment of efforts through the creation of appropriate performance metrics to 
evaluate the effectiveness of LSC development and development support endeavors.

Accountability 

LSC’s efforts on these initiatives will be organization-wide, but led by the President of LSC, 
supported by Government Relations and Public Affairs, the research and informational 
components of the new Office of Grants Management, and a designated Institutional 
Advancement Officer (for Initiatives Three and Four). The Office of Financial and 
Administrative Services will provide technical support as needed for grant applications and 
evidence-based budgeting (as part of Initiatives Two and Three). The LSC Board will be 
accountable for continued engagement in building the public profile of LSC and the development 
of new policies to implement this initiative. The success of LSC’s efforts will be measured by 
progress in formation of strategic partnerships, the wide adoption of its developed messaging, 
and by objective measures of the year-over-year improvement of LSC grantees in acquiring 
external sources of funding. LSC management must also develop procedures to provide for 
periodic reassessment of these key metrics to ensure that they reflect up-to-date LSC mission 

267



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 14

priorities and objectives. LSC will staff these initiatives and provide the necessary training as 
part of its forthcoming Strategic Human Capital Plan, including the acquisition of development, 
communications, and economic expertise as required.

3. Ensure Superior Fiscal Management
The American taxpayer is the ultimate source of the funds that LSC distributes to its grantees. At
a time when Americans are tightening their belts, it is incumbent upon LSC to ensure that its 
grantees are managing and spending these taxpayer funds prudently. In addition, the money 
entrusted to LSC and its grantees is meant to be used in service to the poor. Money that is better 
spent will be able to aid more of those in need. Proper financial oversight is not in competition 
with the goal to assist the poor, but enhances the ability to accomplish it.

In accordance with the recommendations of LSC’s Fiscal Oversight Task Force, LSC will
strengthen its fiscal oversight processes by conducting a thorough review of current processes,
by implementing improved and streamlined processes, and by adopting new organizational
structures to reduce redundancies and improve effectiveness. LSC will aim to give Congress and
the American people confidence that money appropriated to LSC is managed and expended
prudently and lawfully.

The recommendations of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force, adopted by LSC’s Board of Directors
in January of 2012, encompass the initiatives necessary to achieve this goal. The following is a
summary of those initiatives:

Organizational Identity and Mission

Clarify and affirm LSC’s responsibilities related to grantee fiscal oversight.
Establish a consistent “tone at the top,” define and promulgate a strong organizational
culture, and continue to keep the LSC Board active and engaged in its oversight of grant-
making operations.

Communication and Coordination among the Board, Management, and the LSC Office of 
Inspector General

Consolidate management’s oversight responsibilities, currently dispersed among the 
Office of Program Performance (OPP), the Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
(OCE), and the Office of Information Management (OIM), into one office (called the
Office of Grants Management (OGM)), instituting a “cradle-to-grave” approach to grants
management and fiscal oversight.
Appoint a Vice President-level individual to lead OGM whose background includes
grants management and internal controls.
Document and memorialize the roles, expectations, and operating practices of LSC’s
Board, management, and the LSC Office of Inspector General (OIG) in order to ensure
that all necessary fiscal oversight activities are undertaken and to enable progress to be
maintained during periods of leadership transition.

268



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 15

Formalize and maintain or increase the flow of fiscal oversight-related information and
communication to the LSC Board from management and the OIG.

Grantee Fiscal Oversight Process
Conduct a unified, comprehensive LSC risk assessment process (incorporating input from
the OIG and the grantees’ Independent Public Accountants (IPAs)) that includes
identifying financial risks and incorporating current methods and best practices for
addressing such risks through fiscal oversight.
Structure management’s grantee reviews to comprehensively address financial risks, both
prior to grant award and post-award.
Create systems to support timely and efficient sharing within LSC of appropriate
information about grantees and monitoring of the status of grantee corrective actions.
Identify, monitor, and disclose conflicts of interest related to staff and grantees.

Knowledge, Skills, and Experience
Encourage the sequencing of Board appointments so as to stagger the terms of Board
members as permitted by the LSC Act.
Continue the practice of utilizing non-Board members with experience in accounting,
finance, and internal controls to serve on key financial-related committees and urge the
Boards of grantee organizations to adopt a similar practice.
Ensure that employees filling fiscal oversight roles within the new OGM structure have
the necessary knowledge and skills.
Provide directed training to staff, grantees, grantee Board members, and IPAs.

Accountability 

LSC’s efforts on these initiatives will be organization-wide, but led by a new Vice-President for 
Grants Management, acting in coordination, where appropriate, with the Office of Inspector 
General. The LSC Board, the Office of Legal Affairs, and the President of LSC will be 
accountable for policies supporting improvements in fiscal oversight, and for rapid and 
appropriate responses to wrongdoing. The success of LSC’s efforts in this area will be measured 
by the adoption and implementation of a risk-based program of assessment, and by objective 
measures of a year-over-year reduction of risk indicators among LSC grantees as a whole, as 
well as by a decline in losses to malfeasance, due to more rapid detection of waste, fraud, and 
abuse. LSC management, in coordination with the OIG, must also develop procedures to provide 
for periodic reassessment of these key metrics to ensure that they reflect up-to-date LSC mission 
priorities and objectives. LSC will staff these initiatives and provide the necessary training as 
part of its forthcoming Strategic Human Capital plan, including the acquisition of financial, 
accounting, and auditing expertise as required.

269



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 16

Part Three: Achieving these Goals

The LSC Board, assisted by the leadership of LSC, will periodically (but at least annually) 
review the three main strategic goals listed above. This review should include the concrete steps 
that have been taken to achieve each initiative proposed for the various goals as well as 
designated metrics for determining the degree to which the initiatives taken support each goal.

Conclusion

Access to justice is a founding principle of this nation and the commitment of Congress in
creating LSC. At this challenging time, LSC commits to improving access to justice for the poor
by improving the quantity and quality of civil legal assistance, promoting innovation that
accomplishes more with fewer resources, and demonstrates the highest standards of fiscal
responsibility through its work and the work of the legal service providers it supports. The trust 
of the American people demands no less.

270



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 17

Appendix

271



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 18

Appendix: The Strategic Planning Process

The strategic plan has been informed by research, interviews, and surveys conducted over a six-
month period. It has been facilitated by a consultant, VShift.

A variety of documents were reviewed during the course of the process. They included past
Strategic Directions documents for LSC, statutes and regulations, and literature measurement
methodologies and metrics.

Additional primary research involved such sources as financial reports from LSC-funded
organizations, staffing plans, program overviews, news reports, materials from civil legal
services advocacy organizations, and best practices in similar organizations.

Most of these documents were reviewed prior to the start of the in-depth interviews, but some of
them were identified by interview subjects and were reviewed as they were suggested.

Perspectives from stakeholders were collected via a combination of in-depth interviews and
online surveys.

In-Depth Interviews
During the first three months of the project, over 75 in-depth interviews were conducted by a
combination of VShift, LSC board members, and LSC senior staff.

Discussion guides were prepared for different interview groups, and the interviews lasted an
average of 45 minutes each, with the shortest being about 30 minutes and the longest going well
over 90 minutes.

The interview subjects consisted of five primary groups:

• LSC Board of Directors
• LSC Staff
• LSC Grantee Executive Directors
• External stakeholders
• Members of Congress and congressional staff

The goal of the interviews was twofold: (1) to gain insight into the views of the different
audiences; and (2) to seek innovative ideas from members of different constituencies.

Surveys
Four different audiences were surveyed during this process:

• LSC Grantee Executive Directors

272



LSC Draft Strategic Plan 2012-2016 (June 2012) Page 19

• LSC Grantee Board Chairs
• LSC Grantee Client-Eligible Board Members
• LSC Staff

These were administered both via an online service (Survey Monkey) and through offline
methodologies for the client-eligible board members.

All grantee Executive Directors and board chairs and all LSC staff members were invited to
complete the online survey. Client-eligible board members were invited to participate by grantee
Executive Directors and Board Chairs.

The survey was designed: (1) to gather qualitative information as a baseline that can be used for
comparison in the future, (2) to ensure that current views are understood and taken into account
in the planning process, and (3) to have the widest possible participation in the planning process.

The survey questions covered three main areas: (1) basic demographic information, (2) the
respondents’ perceptions of LSC effectiveness, and (3) respondents’ reactions to potential LSC
activities going forward.

LSC’s consultant, VShift, prepared reports from these data collection activities and briefed the
Board on the findings.

Board Briefings
VShift conducted two briefings for the LSC Board of Directors. These included:

• Key insights from VShift analysis done to date;
• A range of initial hypotheses on structuring the strategic plan;
• Potential marketing and communications approaches to address funding

challenges;
• Key opportunities for achieving quick results; and
• Legislative priorities, challenges, and options.

These were primarily one-way briefings focused on providing the Board with essential
information, but they also included clarifying questions, initial reactions, and some feedback
from individual Board members.

273



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Comments 
 
 
 
 

274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442



443



444



445



Board Authority to
Appoint Non-Directors



 
 
 
 
 

Resolution #2012-0xx 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

RESOLUTION  
 

DELEGATING AUTHORITY TO APPOINT NON-DIRECTORS 
TO COMMITTEES OF THE LSC BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

WHEREAS, the Bylaws of the Legal Services Corporation (“LSC” or 
“Corporation”) provide that the Board of Directors (“Board”) “may appoint and 
designate or may delegate to the Board Chair the authority to appoint Directors or 
non-Directors, as appropriate, to serve on committees . . . [;]”  

WHEREAS, the Bylaws also provide that “[a]ny non-Director may be appointed 
to serve as a voting or non-voting member of a committee, as determined by the 
Board or, if the appointing authority has been delegated, by the Board Chair[;]” 
and  

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that having non-Directors with appropriate 
backgrounds and expertise serve on committees is prudent and that they would be 
helpful to the Board in discharging it responsibilities;   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, pursuant to the Bylaws, the 
Board hereby delegates to the Board Chair the authority to appoint non-Directors, 
as appropriate, to serve on the various committees of the Board; and 

 
BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board Chair is further delegated the 
authority and discretion to designate each such appointment as voting or non-
voting. 

 
Adopted by the Board of Directors 
on July 27, 2012 

 
______________________________ 
John G. Levi 
Chairman 

                                                                        
          ______________________________                      

  Victor M. Fortuno 
                                                          General Counsel & Corporate Secretary  

 
 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

446


	BOARD BOOK COVER & TITLE PAGE
	Schedule - Thursday, July 26, 2012
	Schedule - Friday, July 27, 2012
	02_Table_of_Contents_DRAFT_July_26_28_2012_Board_Meeting.pdf
	04a_Chief_Justice_Panel_ Bios.pdf
	04b_Domestic_Violence_Panel_Bios.pdf
	04c_Michigan_ Panel_ on_ Collaboration_Bios.pdf



	05a_Agenda_.BLUE_PAPER_of_07_27_2012_Governance_&_Performance_Comm_Meeting..pdf
	05b1_Minutes - April 15 2012 Gov  Perf Review Comm  Open Meeting.pdf
	05c1_Certification_Letter_for_07_27_2012_Governance_&_Performance_Comm_Meeting..pdf

	05d1_GAO_Recommendation_June_29_2012_Governance_&_Performance_Comm_Meeting.pdf
	06a_ Agenda_for_Institutional_Advancement_Committee.pdf
	06b1_Minutes_ April 15 2012_ Open Meeting.pdf
	07a_BLUE_PAPER_July_2012_Agenda_ audit_committee.pdf
	07b1_Minutes_June_25_2012_Audit_Comm _Open.pdf
	07c1_403(b)_Thrift Plan_2nd_Quarter_2012_Update_(7-9-12).pdf
	07d1_2008-03-24BoardAdoptedLSCAuditCommitteeCharter.pdf
	07d2a_Audit_Charter_with_DH_and_6-25 revisions (redlined).pdf
	07d3a_Clean_Copy_of_Audit_Charter_with_Hoffman_and_6-25-12_revisions.pdf


	08a_BLUE_PAPER_July_2012_Agenda_Finance_Committee.pdf
	08b1_May_2012_Financial_Memo.pdf
	08b2_May_2012_COB_8_mos._Worksheets.pdf

	08c1_Agenda_item_4a_COB_Review_Adjustments.pdf
	08c2_Agenda_Item_4b_Resolution_2012-0XX.doc.pdf
	08c3_Agenda_item_4c_Revised_COB_as_of_7_5_12.pdf
	08c4_Agenda_item_4d_Revised_COB_MGO_OIG_AS_OF_7_5_12.pdf



	08d1_FC_guidelines_as_of_July_1b.pdf
	082_FC_Budget _timetable_as_of_July_1.pdf
	08d3_FC_COB_2012_Attach_A.pdf
	08d4_FC_COB_2012_Attach_B.pdf



	09a_BLUE_PAPER_AGENDA_ Promotion_&_Provision_Committee.pdf
	09b1_Minutes_April_16_2012_Promotion_Provision_Comm_Open_Meeting.pdf
	09c1_Resource_Development_Panel_Bios.pdf
	10a_BLUE_PAPER_Draft_Ops_Regs_Agenda_ for_ July_ 27.pdf
	10b1_Minutes_-_June_18_2012_Ops__Regs_Comm _Open_Meeting.pdf
	10c1_Ops_Regs_Revisions_Charter.pdf
	10c2_Modified_Protocol_for_the_Acceptance_and_Use_of_Private_Contributions_to_LSC1-signed.pdf
	10c2a_Revised_Contributions_Protocol_(Clean).pdf
	10c3_Resolution_ 2012-0XX_Adopting_Modifications_ to_Contributions_Protocol.pdf



	10d1_LSC_COOP_Update_(7-9-12)(Redline).pdf
	10e1a_FNPRM_DRAFT_Parts_1606_1618_1623.pdf
	10e2a_1606--Markup_with_FNPRM_Revisions.pdf
	10e3a_1618_Markup_with_FNPRM_Revisions.pdf


	10f1_2013_LSC_Grant_Assurances.pdf
	10g1_Status_Memo_Third_Party_Contracting.pdf
	10g1a_01_Non-Rulemaking Options for Third-Party Contracting.pdf
	10g2_02_Management_Recommendation_TIG_Contracting.pdf
	10g2a_2_ROP_TIG_Contracting.pdf
	10g3_03_OIG TIG Subgrant Issue Executive Summary.pdf
	10g4_04_OIG TIG Subgrant Issue Memo.pdf





	11a_BLUE_PAPER_Board_meeting_agenda_for_7_27_12.pdf
	11b1_Minutes_May_21_2012_Board_Open.pdf
	11c_LSC_Strategic_ Plan_DRAFT_For_Fed_Reg_Comments_(June 2012) (2).pdf
	11c1_PINK_PAPER_Comments.pdf
	11ca_July_9_2012_Comments_Lowa_Legal_Aid.pdf
	11cb_July 9 2012(2)_Comments_American_Bar_Foundation.pdf
	11cc_July 9 2012 (3)_Comments_Midwest_Project_Directors.pdf
	11cd_July_10_ 2012_Comments_Richard_Zorza.pdf
	11ce_July 10 2012_Comments_of_L_A_of_Western_Missouri.pdf
	11cf_July 10 2012_Comments_LAS_of_Cleveland.pdf
	11cg_July_10_2012_Comments_SCLAID.pdf
	11ch_July_10_2012_Comments_James Greiner.pdf
	11ci_July_11_2012_Comments_Coalition_of_ Conn._Program.pdf
	11cj-_July_11_2012_Wayne_Moore.pdf
	11ck_July_11_2012_Comments_South_Central_ MI.pdf
	11cl_July_11_ 2012_Comments_Doug_German.pdf
	11cm_July_11_ 2012_Comments_Gerry_Singsen.pdf
	11cn_July_11_ 2012_Comments_Alan_Ellis.pdf
	11co_July_11_2012_Comments_NLADA.pdf
	11cp_July_11_ 2012_Comments_New_York_City.pdf
	11cq_July_12_ 2012_Comments_Michigan_State_Bar.pdf
	11cr_OIG_Comments_ of_LSC_ Draft_Strategic_Plan_2012 _ 2016.pdf



















	11d1_Resolution_Delegation_of_ authority_ to_ appoint_ nondirectors (2).pdf


